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ABSTRACT

The closing decades of the eighteenth century
saw a reinvigoration of both English and Irish political
1life with the government of Ireland, and the relationship
between the two countries, having to be thought out
afresh, albeit begrudgingly, by successive British
governments. As a result, British rule in Ireland,
after the comparative quiescence of the first half of
the eighteenth century, again became a matter for
controversy in England, In this development, Charles
James Fox played an important part, and became more
influential in Ireland than any other English politician.

Charles Fox participated in Irish affairs not
only whilst he was in opposition but also during his
brief tenure in government office. By so doing, he
incorporated the problems of Ireland into his own
political thinking, and ensured that the administration
of that country remained a matter of political controversy
in England throughout the period of Irish legislative
autonomy. He made various conscious attempts to become
the English leader of Irish opposition movements, and
vas determined to discuss Irish events and policies both
inside and outside parliament. His views on the

commercial relationship between England and Ireland,



although narrow, were consistent; but his views on the
constitutional relationship between the two countries
a in the heat of the

early years of the Anglo-French war.

A variety of reasons lay behind Fox's involve-
ment in affairs across the Irish Sea: familial
relationships, political expediency, a commitment to
religious toleration and a belief that English statesmen
could learn from the experiences of Britain's
administration of Ireland all played their part. However,
crucial to any of Fox's in
Irish affairs was his career in English politics., His

Whiggery was based on a fear of unchecked government: he
believed in the of the

power in both England and Ireland. The corollary was a
commitment to the indispensability of party and the
importance of the role of the legislature in the

constitution, It was in an attempt to restrain the

and to the
legislative power that Charles Fox became involved in
Irish polities.
England's government of Ireland, and the part
played by Ireland in English politics, went through a
marked transition in the late eighteenth century. Before
the American war, successive English governments were

agreed on the administration of Ireland; Irish affairs,



then, played little part in English politics and

parli life, In the ni century, on the
other hand, this situation was reversed, and if any one
man was responsible for this development, it was Charles
Fox. He is, in fact, an important link in the changing
rature of England's "Irish Question" in the closing
decades of the eighteenth century. In opposition Fox
rejected the government's Irish policies and eventually
emerged as the leader of an English political party with
a distinet Irish platform. The quiescence of the early

eighteenth century was broken, never to return,
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INTRODUCTION

The politics of Charles James Pox, 1749-1806,
have captured the attention of numerous historians; yet
only recently has Fox's career been seriously examined.
Many of Pox's earlier biographers succumbed to an
admiration for their subject which prevented impartial
historical analysis. Moreover, no work so far has
discussed in any detail Pox's involvement in Irish
affairs, and it is one aim of this thesis to rectify
this omission. In addition, this study has another
objective. Professor Beckett has recently suggested that
Anglo-Irish party connexions had an important effect on
the of the i onal relationsh:

between the two countries in the late eighteenth
century.l He emphasises that English and Irish
opposition groups started to cooperate during the
American war and thet this alliance remained throughout
the years of Irish legislative autonomy, Yet Fox's part
in this process remains obscure; and it is the contention
of this thesis that he was the most important figure in

Ljanes C. Beckett, "Anglo-Irish Oopstitutionsl

Relabions in the Laber Eighteenth Century," Iris

Histarsen Bredtee. TT. o 53 196k Booapos
ereinatter Teferted to as'Anglo-Irish Relationd).



this alliance without whom it might not have survived
until the Act of Union.

The initial proliferation of works on Fox came
in the years immediately following his death, and one of
the first was by his Irish Secretary, Bernard Trotter.

In 1811 Trotter published the Memoirs of the Latter

Years of C.J. Fox; but this is little more than a series
of personal reminiscences by one of Fox's greatest
aduirers.?

Personal memories then yielded to political
didacticism and the middle years of the nineteenth century

saw the appearance of The Life and Times of Charles James

Fox by the Whig aristocrst Tord John Russell. Although
this three volume work contains a mass of information,
‘together with some scattered correspondence, the author
provides little analysis.} Russell also edited a

selection of Fox's correspondence in the Memorials and

of Charles James Fox. This contains

extracts from Fox's Irish correspondence when in office

in 1782 and 1783; but the editor usually allows the

Bsmard J. Trotter, Memoirs of the Latter Years
of C.J. Fox (London: G. Sydney, 1811).

ZLord John Russell, The Life and Tizes of Charles
James Fox (3 vols.; London: Richard Bentley, 1



letters to speak for thenselves.a

A few decades later snother prominent Whig,
George Otto Trevelyan, published two works dealing with
the early years of Fox's career, His Early History of
Charles James Fox was published in 1880; but this only
takes the story up to 1776, It was followed in 1915 by
George III and Charles Fox, which deals with the years
of the American war. Although this is a detailed,
favourable treatment of Fox, no mention is made of his
connexion with the Irish free trade and Volunteer
movements, and his part in the establishment of the
constitution of 1782.6

In the meantime John Lawrence Le B. Hammond had
published Charles James Fox: A Political Study in 1903.
This is the only work so far which deals at some length
with Charles Fox and Ireland; yet the reader is left in
the dark about the complexities of Fox's Irish
participation and the reasons behind it whilst the

arguments are simultaneously obscured and limited by a

*Lord Jobn Russell, Memorials and Correspondence
of Charles James an (4 vols,, reprint of IEBFI%S’} ed.;
few

ork: 1970). (Fereinafter referred to as
Fox Cortespondenee)

5 George Otto Trevelyan, Early History of Charles
James Fox (London: Longmans, Green and Co., fm).
6,

George Otto Trevelyan, Ge IIT and Charles
Pox (2 vols.; London: Longmens, Green and Co., 1915).



restricted use of sources and inadequate x-ererencoa.7

In the period between the wars more biographies
appeared, 1928 saw John Drinkwater's Charles James Fox,
a readable work which provides limited analysis and steers
clear of Fox's Irish involvement;S and although careful
thought went into Christopher Hobhouse's Fox, he makes no
mention of the Irish question at 1111.9 Neither does
Lascelles's The Life of Charles James Fox fill the gap:
he includes only a few isolated and unintegrated reactions
by Pox to developments across the Irish Sea,l0

The recent studies of Charles Pox have been more
analytical. But Loren Reid's Charles James Fox: A Man for
the People, published in 1969, is essentislly concerned
with Fox the orator; his few scattered commentaries on

“Irish discontent® are of little value,l Teslie Mitchell,

730hn Lavrence Ie B. Hammond, Charles James Fox:

4 Politiosl Stuay Gondon: fiethuen, 1
chapters on Fox and Ireland, pp. 1 I&S—ZD}, Hammond relied
almost solely on 2 selection of Fox's apeeuhns, his
and ¢ debates.

hn Drizkwater, Charles James Fox (New York:
casmoponm Book CorporatTon, 3

0hristopher Hobhouse, Fox (London: Constable,
1938).

18dvard Chsrles P. Lascelles, The Tife of
Charles James Fox (Reprint of 1836 ed.; New York:
Tctagon Books, 1970).

Upiren D. Reid, Charles James Pox: A Man for the
People (London: Longmans, 1959).



on the other hand, has been responsible for one of the
best analyses to have appeared to date, His Charles
James Fox and the Disintegration of the Whig Party,
1782-179%4, published in 1971, is a perceptive and
valuable study of Fox's political career in the 1780's

and early 1790':.12 He sees Fox as the prominent
political theorist and activist behind the Whig party in
these years; yet, in a significant omission, the author
is content to make little reference to Fox's connexions
with Irish affairs, Finally, John Derry's Charles James
Fox, published in 1972, sees Fox not as the forerunner
of nineteenth century English liberalism, a vice of many
of the older biographies, but rather as the culmination
of the tradition of English Whiggery established in
1668.13 Yet the author's analysis of Pox's Irish
participation is limited to a discussion of his views on
the relationship between England and Ireland in 1782,
and the campaign against the Anglo-Irish commercial
propositions in 1785,

Bpecific aspects of Fox's many-sided career have

been the subject of articles. Herbert Butterfield's

15-]1:01::: Wesley Derry, Charles James Fox (London:

Batsford, 1972).



"Charles James Fox and the Whig Ovoosition in 1792'is 2
scholarly treatment of Pox's attempts to hold the Whig
party together under the growing threat of the Anglo-
French war; ¥ whilst Tan Christie's'Charles James Fox'is
2 derogatory commentary on Fox's political career which,
the author claims, was ruined by a reckless lack of
judgenent.l® Tast bub by no means least, I.R. Dinviddy
bas written two enlightening articles, one on Fox's own
"History of the Barly Part of the Reign of James II,"
the other on his relationship with "the people."l®
However, none of these stimulating but selective articles
has anything to say about Fox's Irish involvement.

Charles Fox's complex and influential partici-
pation in Irish affairs began with the growth of the Irish
patriot movement and the regeneration of Irish political
life during the American war. The immediate results of
the patriot demands during England's American conflict
were the commercial concessions of 1779, and the

establishment of the constitution of 1782, which gave

X =t Buttestiold, "Charles James Fox and the

#gerte
Opposition in 1792," ridge Historical Journal,
e e e

n R, Christie, "Charles James Fox," History
oday, v‘m "o, 2 (1958), 110-118. ’

1553, Dinviddy, "Charles James Pox as Historian,”

Bistorical al IHI'JM' 11'(192«)1 k: 1= s
Wit es James Fox e eop e 1tory,
I¥, Wo. 185 %{m). 342-359, ' .




legislative autonomy to the Irish and which was to remain
in force until the Act of Union in 1800.

When America declared her independence, Charles
Fox was one of the first English statesmen to accept the
inevitable and support the American claims., The right of
people to have some say on the sort of government under
which they wanted to live became part of his political
beliefs; and Irish demands for autonomy found a
sympathetic ear. On two occasions, in 1777 and 1779, he
crossed the Irish Sea, He directly emcouraged the Irish
patriot movement, not only because he believed that the
Irish should have some say in their government but also
because he understood the agitation as an attempt to
strengthen the Irish legislature against the Irish
executive. He interpreted the Irish demands in the
context of a Whig reaction against Lord North's government.
To Pox, the Irish patriots, like the American rebels,
were "Whigs" in opposition to George III and Lord North;
and as such he sympathized with many of their demands.
Yet Fox's deliberste association with the Irish patriot
movement was complicated by two factors. He was not in
favour of extensive commercial concessions for Ireland;
indeed, his views on England's commercial monopoly were
always narrow and mercantilist, betraying his traditional
Whiggery. At the same time, the rise of the armed
Volunteers put him in a dilemma, as they acted as



military associations forcing the hands of the civilian
power, which was directly contrary to his Whig belief in
‘the necessity of control of the military by the
legislative authority., However, he did question the
powers of the English parliament to legislate for Ireland;
and, by so doing, he emphasised his belief that the
Anglo-Irish constitutional relationship was the basic
issue in the Irish ion to England's

In March 1782, Lord North resigned, and Fox

became Secretary of State for Foreign Affairs until his
resignation in the following July. The next year,
bowever, he resumed his office in the Duke of Portland's
administration. As Foreign Secretary, Fox was not
officially responsible for Irish affairs; but he still
took an active part in the Irish administration and in
the establishment of a new Anglo-Irish constitutional
relationship, testifying to his own interest in Irish
developments. He sincerely wished the Irish parliament
to have the right to legislate on internal affairs without
any interference from the English executive; but, at the
same time, he wanted a reciprocal agreement drawn up to
settle permanently the disputes between the two countries,
and ensure England an Irish imperial contribution. In
spite of Fox's efforts, this agreement did not materialize
before the Irish had been given legislative sutonomy; and
this wes to influence his Irish policy in 1783, as ke



became extremely anxious over the possibility of the
ultimate separation of the two countries.

The constitutional arrangement of 1782 repealed
the Declaratory Act and established the principle that
the Irish parliament had the sole right to legislate for
Ireland; but the Irish executive remained appointed by
the English government, and was therefore not responsible
to the Irish legislature. This dichotomy in the 1782
constitution was to influence strongly Fox's Irish
involvement during his long tenure in opposition from
1784, His determination to establish the accountability
of executive power was sharpened in December, 1783 when
he was dismissed from the government after the defeat of
his India Bill in the House of Lords through the
intervention of George ITI. William Pitt became First
Lord of the Treasury although he only had a minority
support in the House of Commons; and Fox's deepest
suspicions of royal influence and executive power were
now confirmed.

From this time onwards, Fox's guiding political
principle was the necessity to restrain the executive
power; and this was applied to Pitt's executives in both
London and Dublin. With the war against France in 1793,
his fear of an unchecked executive became acute. In
Ireland he saw an unrestrained executive infringing not

only individual liberties, but also the rights of the
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legislature itself. Together with this was a nervous
apprehension that these acts of arbitrary power would be
repeated in England during Pitt's European struggles.
So, during the 1790's, Charles Fox and his small but
loyal group of followers revealed a frequent concern for
the government of Ireland. His Irish involvement was to
reach a new peak in the years immedistely precsding 1800,
culminating in the defence of a United Irishman in a
Maidstone courthouse.

It was during the American and French wars that
Fox's Irish participation was most influential, England's
troubles were frequently Ireland's opportunity, and it
was in these critical years that his anxiety over the
executive power was most acute, at a time when Irish
opposition to British rule reached overwhelming
proportions, The dangerous strength of the Irish
opposition was most apparent in the 1790's with the
emergence of the United Irish movement and the possibility
of an Irish invasion by revolutionary France. Fox's
answer to the Irish danger was parliamentary reform and
Catholic Emancipation, not an increase in arbitrary

power and
Thus, Pox's in England, perticularl

in parliament, were eagerly, anxiously and continually

by Irish and

oppositions, He was persistently accused of encouraging



Irish discontent, although he boldly told the House of
Commons in 1796 that he had never accepted the doctrine,
which had been warmly espoused by Pitt's government since
1784, of refusing to discuss Irish affairs in Westminster.
In this situation, of especial importance were Fox's
speeches in the Commons. These were reported in the
Irish press and occasionally, as in the dispute over Pitt's
free trade proposals in 1785, were reprinted and
circulated in Ireland in pampblet form., For this, Fox's
unquestioned ability as a rhetorician was particularly
suited.

The relationship between England and Ireland
involved constitutional and commercial considerationms.
Although these were really inseparable, Fox attempted to
distinguish between them. So, during the Irish agitation
for free trade in 1778 and 1779, he concentrated on
political and constitutional considerations and not the
genuine Irish commercial grievances. He opposed Lord
Tieutenant Northington's intended concessions to the
Irish economy in 1783. Two years later, when Pitt
proposed to give the Irish numerous commercial advantages
in return for an imperial contribution, he met strong
opposition from Fox, who emphasized that he had always
congidered Irish commercial grievances unwarranted.

In these ways, Fox's hostility to Irish commercial

concessions was firm and consistent; however, his
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consideration of the Anglo-Irish constitutional relation-
ship was more flexible. He supported Irish demands for
legislative autonomy in 1782; yet he was apprehensive
over the possible seperation of the two countries. By
1797, however, he had that the

of 1782, which he saw himself primerily responsible for,
had feiled. His solution was to increase Irish autonomy
by making the Irish executive more responsible to the
Irish parlisment and the Irish nation; and to achieve
this, he was prepared to accept complete Irish
independence. The government's answer, on the other
hand, was the Act of Union.



CHAPTER I

ENGLAND AND IRELAND IN THE EIGHTEERTH CENTURY
AND THE EMERGENCE OF TEE
IRISH PATRIOT MOVEMENT

The terms "Irish Question" and "Irish Problem"
have been frequently used by British historians, sometimes
rather carelessly. However, the fundamental issue demoted
by the terminology is that of England's government of
Ireland., Taken at this basic level, the "Irish Question"
of the first half of the eighteenth century was very
different from that of the nineteenth. For much of the

i century, no di policies were

formulated by English mini for the

government of Ireland, as there existed a basic agreement
on the broad temets of the administration of that country.
Irish opposition to the government was minimal, if not
completely broken. As a result, the way in which Ireland
was governed was not a political issue in England and
Irish issues made few appearances in Westminster debates.

In the nineteenth century, however, the reverse
was the case. Distinctive Irish policies were formulated
by successive Whig/Liberal and Tory/Conservative

and the 1 accord




amongst political parties over Irish administration was
broken, and a remarkable number of governments were to
fall over Irish issues. Similarly, English statesmen
and politicians were compelled to cast their eyes over
the Irish Sea because of the opposition to England's
government there. The result was that the administration
of Ireland became a political issue in England, with
Irish issues making constant appearances in Westminster.

In Charles Fox's attention to England's government
of Ireland lies an important origin of nineteenth century
"Parliamentarienism," the idea, often condemned by Irish
nationalists, of pursuing Irish grievances in the English
Parliament, which had two of its most famous represent-
atives in Daniel 0'Connell and Charles Stewart Parnell.
Moreover, Fox's involvement in the affairs of that
country, which was a continuous feature of his long and
influential political career, goes some way towards
explaining the nineteenth century dictum that it was the
Whig party who were "friendly to Ireland."

The quiescence of the "Irish Question" for much
of the eighteenth century was the result of the Glorious
Revolution of 1688-90. The victory of William III over
James II at the Battle of the Boyne in July, 1690,

the in the internal

government of Ireland and strengthened English control
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over the subject country. Each of these aspects of the
Williamite settlement was necessary to the other: it was

through the that England
Ireland, and it was with English support that the
Ascendancy maintained its position over the Catholic
Irish majority.!

The the Ascen-

dancy on a firm property basis and greatly weakened the
Catholic opposition. Approximately six million acres of
Catholic Irish property were confiscated, and by the

ing of the century, th quarte of
the land of Ireland was in the hands of Anglo-Irish
Protestants and absentee Englizhmon.z This change in
property-holding was consolidated and perpetuated by the
system of penal laws, which were imposed on Irish
Catholics in the wake of the Battle of the Boyne. The
objective of the penal system was the maintenance of the

1E44th N, Johmston, Great Britain and Ireland,
1760-1800 (Einburgh: Olivér end Boyd, I963), 0. 3.

opher Eill, Reformation to Indusmn
Hnolntinn (Iandon. Weidentle »

. 131, FHill estimates that by the mdrue or tha century,
W50.000 was 1eavin Ireland each year in the form of
rent to absentee landlords. See also Eric Strauss, Irish
Nationalism snd. Britiah Democracy (London: Methuen, 19515,
TP ng the elghteenth century that,
tern "Anglo-Irish' e i general usage to dunota
the Protestant ruling class.
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Catholies in a position of economic, and hence of social
and political subjection. Thus, by an act of 1704, the
only terms on which an Irish Catholic could acquire land
was by a lease for a maximum of thirty-one years'
duration.* Oatholics were excluded from perliament, the
law and both central and local government, while the
Protestant Church was established as the Church of
Ireland, So the ascendancy of the Protestants was
complete in Church and State, and they ruled Ireland with
little opposition for much of the eighteenth eoncury.s It
is hardly surprising that the Jacobite conspiracies of
1715 and 1745 against the Hanoverian monarchy met with
little Irish response.

The link between England and Ireland was the
Irish executive, headed by the Lord Lieutenant and the
Chief Secretary. Both were appointed by the British
government and continued to be so after the
constitutional changes of 1782, The Whig victories for

ames C. Beckett, The Haldn of Hodem Irelanﬂ,
160}~1923 (Lvndun. Faber and Fa
(Hereinafter referred to as Hakmg of Hodern Trelond.)

*Ibia.
Viz: "In the period 1714 0 1760, Trelend Bt

little or no political history." urtis, A Histos
o! Ireland (Reprint of 1936 ed.; Lonﬂon' Hethuen, 196%),



parliement in late seventeenth century England had no
counterpart in Ireland where the executive power remained
accountable to the English government and not to the
Irish legislature. Even so, steps still had to be taken
to manage the Irish House of Commons in order to maintain
the control of England over the subject country. To
ensure the passage of government business through the
Commons, the undertaker system was employed. By this
arrangement, the Lord Lieutenant gave to the principal
Irish borough owners the rights of patronage which were
at the government's disposal. By their influence over

several parli the

borough owners would use this patronage to control
members of the House of Commons, and thus ensure the

don of the s i busi

However, the undertakers gradually gained power at the
expense of the Lord Lieutenant; so Viscount Townshend,
Lord Lieutenant from 1767 to 1772, sbolished the system
and took into his own hands the disposal of patronage.
This new involved the i of

the Lord Lieutenant in Ireland and wes to remain in
force until the legislative union of 1800.°
Besides the control exercised by the executive

largely through patronage, the Irish parliament was

SJommston, op. cit., pp. 4-5.
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restricted in other ways. By Poynings Law, parliamentary
legislation had first to be submitted to the Irish and
English Privy Councils, in the form of "heads of bills."
The Councils, in their turn, could accept, amend or
reject the bills, and when returned to the legislature,
the bills could either be accepted or rejected, but not
altered. Hence the Irish parliament could not legislate
without English assent. At the same time, the English
parlisment could pass laws pertaining to Ireland: the
Declaratory Act of 1720 formalized Westminster's right
t0 pass laws binding on Ireland, and abolished the
appellate jurisdiction of the Irish House of Lords.
Although these powers over the Irish legislature
were used cautiously by eighteenth century English
ministries, they still emphasized the subjection of the
Irish parliament to the English governsent.’ At the
same tize, until the Octemnial Act of 1768, the only
legal requirement necessitating a general election was
the death of the sovereign. Moreover, two-thirds of the
Irish revenue was granted in perpetuity to the Crown,
lessening the dependence of the Irish executive upon its
parliament, in contrast to the situation in England where
parliamentary supremacy was based on the power of the

purse.®

7Beckett, "inglo-Irish Relations,” p. 21,

BJotnston, op. eit., p. 10.
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So the triumphs of the Bill of Rights and the Act
of Settlement for the legislature in England were not
carried over into Ireland; and for Charles Fox, whose
politics were very much influenced by the Whig Revolution
of 1688, the restrictions on the powers of the Irish
parliament should be removed.

England curtailed Ireland's economy during the
first half of the eighteenth century, as well as Irish
legislative life. The English parliament placed
restrictions on Irish manufactures and trade, and the
Navigation Acts and subsequent legislation severely
limited Irish trade with English colonies, foreign
countries and with England itself. The Irish were
allowed very little direct trade with the colonies and
Europe, while Irish goods entering England were subject
to high rates of duty. On the conmtrary, English goods
entering Ireland were subject to comparatively low rates
of duty.? These commercisl restrictions obviously had
2n adverse effect on Irish industrisl development, of
vhich English menufacturers were repeatedly to show 2
marked jealousy. So, by the latter half of the eighteenth

george AT, 0'Brien, The Economic History of

Irslaml in the Eij htnenth Cuntur (Tondon: May nua* and
T 0, fie Murray, A History of
£he"Comerdiaa and Financisl Relstions beswier Ertad

and Treland (Reprint of 1905 ed.; New York: Burt ﬁfauklm,
1570, 0. 7h-ok,

s PPe
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century, the Irish found themselves largely dependent on
the linen and provisions trade, neither of which were
seen as competitors to English economic development,
The Irish economy was predominantly rural,
However, because of the property settlement at the end of
the seventeenth century, giving the bulk of Irish property
to Protestant landlords who were interested largely in
rent and not agricultural improvements, the economy was
one of poverty and under-development.'l Only Ulster in
the north of Treland was comparatively prosperous in the
eighteenth century, because of the concentration there
of a Protestant population, the prevalence of the "Ulster
custom," and the growth of the linen and provisions
trade in that region.’® As a result of the restrictions
on the Irish economy, commercial and economic grievances
played 2 crucial part in Irish movements against British

rule in the closing decades of the eighteenth century.

1001Brien, ob. cit., pp. 189-222; Murray, op. cit.,
. 85-134.

ustrauss, op. cit., pp. 8-18.

Lpor Ulster see Strauss, op. m., - 1625
Beckett, Making of Modern Ireland, pp. 179-
The "Ulster custom" was re nued throughout the province
of Ulster. By this convention, if a landlord wished to
evict a tenant, he had either to allow him to sell his
tenant right, or had to purchase it himself at the current
merket value.



21

Yet support for this aspect of Irish agitation was always
difficult for Charles Fox, and he was often to demonstrate
a jealous desire to preserve England's commercial monopoly
and the Navigation Code.

This, then, was the economic and constitutionsl
situation of Ireland over which successive eighteenth
century English administrations presided. No Enmglish
statesman thought of any material alteration in the
Navigation Acts, which curtailed the Irish economy to
England's advantage; and nobody suggested changes in
Poynings Iaw or the Declaratory Act, or envisaged
alternative means of governing Ireland., Neither was it
considered necessary that the Irish Lord Lieutenancy had
to change with the advent of a new government in England,
as the broad outlines of the policy to be carried on by
the Trish executive would remsin the same.)’ The general
desire of both the Protestant Ascendancy and the English
government was to maintain the status guo; and the
administration of Ireland only sporadically entered
English political debates.

In the 1720's, Irish opposition both inside and
outside parliament was temporarily brought into English
politics when First Minister Robert Walpole granted a

Dgeckett, "Anglo-Irish Relations,” p. 25.
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patent to an English giving hinm pernission

to mint the Irish coinage. This met with Irish
resentment whilst in England Carteret, in opposition to
Walpole, attempted to encourage Irish opposition in
conjunction with discontented English Whigs. Yet
Carteret's junction with the Irish opposition proved to
be ephemeral, and the whole affair ended with his
appointment as Lord Lieubenant o quell the disturbances.l*
On the whole, there was little cooperation between
opposition movements in England and Ireland to most
eighteenth century administrations. Neither were Irish
issues the subject of much debate in Westminster, although
Edmund Burke was to distinguish himself in the parliamen-
tary session of 1766 by attempting to promote Irish

connerce.’® In generel terns, England did not have an

50t H._Plunb, England in the Eighteenth
Gentury (London: Peliceh Toska, T957), Br e2r

Lrhonas H.D. Mahoney, Eimund Burke apd Treland
(Cambridge, Nass.: Eorvard University
pp. 31-34. Edmund Burke, 1727-1797. vaate Secretary
$0'the Harquis of Rockingham in Rockingban's govermment
in 1765-1766 and Paymaster-General in Rockinghan's second
adninistration in 1782, He resigned with Fox in July,
1782, and remained a Foxite until the French Revolution,
after which he took ihe side of the Portland ihigs sud

evis B, Nanier and Jobn Brooke

3 oL saten 0%y , 11, 145-155
Hereinafter referred to as History of Parliamen
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"Irish Question" in the early decades of the eighteenth
century. As Edmund Burke himself wrote, "I have never
known any of the successive governments in my time
influenced by any passion relative to Ireland than the
wish that they should hear of it and its concerns as
little as poseible."ls

However, after the ephemeral resistance to
Walpole, a more general Irish opposition movement
gradually emerged. Although disorganized, the opposition
became known as the patriots and was made up of members
of the Protestant Ascendancy whose general aim was to
strengthen the power of the Irish parliament at the
expense of the executive and thereby of the English

B ially a parli y the
petriots made a number of attempts to achieve more

frequent elections and to restrict the pension list as
both of these measures would enhance the power of the
legislature against the executive. Similarly, patriot
demands for security of temure for judges and a Habeas
Corpus Act were also voieed.” One success of the

patriot agitation was achieved in 1753 when a surplus

appeared in the Irish revenue, The Lord Lieutenant

160uoted in Johnston, op. gib., p. 9.

17441142n E,H, Tecky, History of Ireland in the
Eighteenth Century (5 vols.; London: Longmans, Green and
Co., 1892), 11, %.



2

claimed that the surplus belonged to the Crown; but the
patriots denied this principle and it was rejected in the
House of Commons. Only by extensive bribery did the
executive manage to regain control of the lower House,
The result of the altercation was that, in the future,
any surplus was to be returned to Ireland in the form of
agricultural and industrial bounties and grants to
Trinity College, Dublin,!8

This attempt at partial parliamentary control of
finance was just one of the many demands by which the
Irish patriots aimed at securing for themselves the rights
which the Glorious Revolution had secured for the English
parliament; and it was in this fundamental Whig context
that Charles Fox was to show interest in the patriot
csuse., This interest began during the American war, when
the patriot movement became a powerful force in both English
and Irish polities.

By the time of the outbreak of war with the
rebellious American colonies in April, 1775, Fox had
become 2 leading mesber of the opposition to Lord North.d

B0urtis, op. cit., p. 302.

lglord North, 1732-1792, Ruprusentad Banbury in
the House of Commons'from 1754 to 1790, Fe vas First Lord
f the Treasury 1770-1782, and Home Seero.,u-y in coalition
with Fox in 1783. anenr, North was less nm's in Bhe
1783 roment than Fox, played nq
mulation of the India Biil Tha di.smi!sal of the waliﬁun
marked the end of his significance as a politician and most
of his followers were dolenad in the 1784 election, History
of Parliament, ITI,
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Entering parliament in 1768 as a government supporter,
Pox served in North's administration from February, 1770,
to February, 1772, as a Tord of the Admirelty.” He
resigned in February, 1772, but did not go over to the

21 By the end of the year he had resumed

opposition.
office as a member of the Treasury Boerd. Again his

tenure was short, and early in February, 1774, he was
22

dismissed for acting 1y of the
In the following March and April he gave his first vote
in conjunction with the Rockingham Whigs in favour of the
repeal of the tea duty vhich hed been levied on American
'part:ss.a5 This was significant as from this time onwards,
Fox acted with the Rockingham opposition although he did
not formally join the party until the summer of 1777;

and his association with the followers of the Marquis of
Rockingham became a leading factor in his political
development and his Irish activities.

gox Corre: ondence, I, 51-60.

21101' Fox's resignation see Crawford to Ossory,
February 21st., 1772, and Fox to Ossory, February 2lst.,
1772, Ibid., 7-73.

1pia., 95-101.

231pia., 135, The Rockinghan Whigs vere the follow-
ers of the Marquis of Rockingham First Lord of the Treasury
in 1765-66 and again in 1782. The stalwarts of this
aristocratic connexion were the Cavendish family, which
included the Duke of Devonshire, the Duke of Richmond and
the Duke of Portland.



The Rockinghan Whigs regarded themselves as the
successors of the Whig party who had mede and maintained
the Glorious Revolution of 1688, They believed in the
concept of party as a means of opposing the government;
and they saw an opposition party as a necessary political
instrusent whose task vas the pursuit of office.2*
Charles Fox and the Whigs thereby

the concept of party and developed and strengthened the
role of the opposition in the English comstitution. They
became the most doctrinaire of the groups in opposition
to Lord North, and they developed a coherent party
structurs.25 In this way, party was gradually recognized
as resting, at least partly, on principle; and a
consistency of attitude vas developed.’® The result was
that the Rockinghamite opposition to Lord North became
distinguishable from previous oppositions by its cohesion

as a party whose ultimate goal was to become the

2 ohibald 8. Foord, fiis liajes osition,
4-1830 (Oxford: Clarendon Press Q‘%ﬂ, p. 310-315.

251044, , pp. 336-345. The intellectusl theorist
ot the RocKinghan party as Bdmund Burke whm "Thoughts
on the Present Di!eoneem;u" was published in 1770.
this treatise, Burke analysed the Rockinghem concept of
varty.

Ogerbert Bubterfield, George ITT and the
Historians (lﬂndan Collins, 1 5715'_2'55:?72—



governnent. >’

Charles Fox and the Rockingham Whigs gave their
vocal support to the Americans in their struggle with the
mother-country. At the same time they incorporated the
Irish patriot agitation into the beliefs of their own
party, and no one was more involved in this process than

Charles Fox. Not only did Fox see the American colonists

as Whigs ing against the power
of Lord North and George III, but he also identified the
Irish patriots' beliefs with his own. This sympathy was
possible because of his agreement with patriotic demands
which were ially aimed at the Irish

parliament at the expense of its executive. Thus Fox

wrote to the Barl of Charlemont in 1782 emphasising that
they both acted on the "same political prinoiplea."za
In fact, Pox identified the American rebels and Irish

patriots as Whigs, all to be theoretically encompassed

Tzo0rd, op. eite, p. 39
to Charlemont, April 4th., 1782 Bistorical
Manuscripts Commission Report, Manuscripts an:
Eon%anee of James, First Barl ’ of CharTenort (2 voIs
on

erelnafter referred

s Caulfield, First Earl of Charlemont, 1728-1799.

Hambsr of the Irish House of Lords. Fe vas elected commander-

in-chief of the Irish Volunteers in the summer of 1780 and
in 1783 he became an Irish Privy Councillor under Lord
Lieutenant Northington. He supported the oppouition in the
Regency crisis of 1788-1789 and was one of the founders of
the Dublin Whig Club. Ee opposed the Union but died before
its enactment, Diction: nf llutmnal Biography, (Herein-
after referred o as
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vithin his own political framework. To him,George Ogle,
2 leading patriot, vas a "good hig";2) and he asked the
Earl of Charlemont in 1782

Why should not the Whigs (I meen in principle

not in name) unite in every part of the empire

to establish their principles so firmly that 30

no future faction shall be able to destroy them?
This was intended as more than a symbol of mutual
cooperation between Fox and his English associates and
‘the Irish patriots. It affirmed that they were all
fighting for the same Whig demands; and this helps to
explain the success felt by the Irish patriots when the
Rockingham Whigs took office in March, 1782.

Meanwhile the Irish patriots tended to see
themselves as Vhigs in opposition to Lord North's
executive, and the Volunteers, armed Protestant
organizations who demanded free trade and then changes in
the Anglo-Irish constitutional relationship, vere eager
to publicize their "Whiggish, Protestant, Glorious
Revolution" characteristics. Their jealousy of English
restrictions on their parliasment met with Fox's sincere
and generous support. Interpreting the Irish agitation

in its Whig context, Fox believed in the necessity of

9%ox to Teinster, January 4th., 1780, Cherlemont
¥ss, 1, 370. S

30%0x to Charlemont, April 4th,, 1782, Ibid., 57.



strengthening the role of the Irish parliament in the
constitution, After all, his forbears had increased the
povwers of the English parliament at the end of the
previous century; now a similar exercise was necessary
across the Irish Sea, So he objected to the extensive
use of corruption by the Irish executive in controlling
its legislature, Similarly he supported the demand for an
alteration in Poynings Lav, as he believed that in
internal matters the Irish parliament had the right to
legislate without English interference. In 1781 he
violently opposed an Irish Mutiny Act which had been made
perpetual by the English government: the Act was contrary
to the Bill of Rights and to his Whig belief in the
control of the military power by the legislative body.
Interpreting the patriot demands as being in line with
his own beliefs, then, Fox felt compelled to participste
in the Irish and in this the

"Whig" philosophy was to provide a common theoretical
basis uniting him with his Irish counterparts.

During the war against the American colonies, the
nature of the opposition to government in England changed.
Before 1775, eighteenth century oppositions had always
been eager to emphasise their patriotism; now, however,

this role was reversed as opposition supported the cause
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of the recalcitrant colonists and Irish patrioes.n Thus
the Irish agitation was incorporated into English
politics; and the principles of Fox and the Rockingham
Whigs, the association of their beliefs with the demands
of the Irish patriots and the mutual identification
through the use of the term "Whig" were enhanced by
material factors. Many of Rockingham's followers were
large absentee Irish landowners: the Marquis of
Rockingham himself and later his successor, the Earl of
Pitzwilliam, the Duke of Devonshire and the Earls of
Bessborough and Upper Ossory were sl owners of extensive
Irish property.>2 They obviously had a vested interest
in preserving the Irish status quo, and in 1773 they had
opposed the idea of an sbsentee tax on Irish landowners.’
But they were prepared to conciliate the Irish when the
opposition became dangerous during the American war, and
they took a keen interest in Irish developments.

Hpoord, 9D, ity P. 323

32m:e Duk: of Devmhim e representative
of the Cavendish family. 1762 to 1782, thl Cannchsh
family was the pillar of tha Rockingham and a
Rockingham's death in 1782, the tamlgirollwed Fox uncil
1794, when they went over 1o nppox-t tt's government.
Hist of Parliasment, II,

- Fpar1 of Mbermaste, ed.) Hengirs of the Haraui
0

Ricl ntle; 34, See also
J.E, Tyler, 'A Lettu- ftom the Hnrqnxs of Rockingham to
Sir Wllllam Mayne on the Proposed Absentee Tax," Irish
Eistorics] Studies, VIIT, No, 32 (1953), 362-369, and
Jobnston, op. cit., PP. Sou59;



Familial relationships between English Whig
aristocrats and prominent Irish political families were
also present: Charles Fox himself wes cousin to the Duke
of Leinster, and a series of marriages associated the

Cavendish and Ponsonby families.”*

Yet in Fox's case,
‘the material factor must not be over-emphasised; neither
must his involvement in Irish affairs, particularly
Irish opposition movements, be seen as a matter of simple
political expediency. To simplify Fox's Irish
participation during the American war, and see it solely
as another opportunity to oppose Lord North's government

is to obscure Pox's identification with the Irish patriot

4i111am Robert Pitzgereld, 2nd, Duke of
Teinster, 1749-1804, Nember of the'Trish House of Tords.
He becsns Colonel of the Dublin Volunteers but eventually
joined the govermnent in 1763 as Haster of the Rolls.

5 brother wes Lord Edward Fitzgerald, the United Irish
leader who died in 1798. The Duke of Léinster supported
the Union in 1800. D.

William Brabazon Ponsonby, 1744-1806, Represented County
Kilkenny from 1783 until the Union. He joined the Irish
government in 1784 but lost his place after the Regency
crisis, He was one of the original members of the Irish
iihig Club and sponsored parliamentary reform motions in
‘the Irish Commons in 1793, 179% and 1797, D.N.3B.

George Ponsonby, 1755-1817. Brother of W.B, Ponsonby,
he sat for the borough of Inistioge in Co. Kilkenny in
the Irish Commons. He became Chancellor of the
Exchequer under Lord Lieutenant Portland in 1782, but was
a leading member of the opposition after the Regency
crisis. He opposed the Union and became Lord Chancellor
of Treland in 1806 in the Fox-Grenville ministry.

D.N.B.
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movement and his support for its Whig ﬂemmﬂs.}5

It was the American war which channelled the
Irish patriot agitation into a demand for free trade.
The war severely limited the Irish staple trade in linen
and provisions in 1775 and 1776 and caused an acute
economic depression. This commercial dislocation
encouraged patriotic demands for the rights of free
‘trade, meaning permission for the Irish to trade wherever
they wanted. This reinvigorated patriot movement
flourished outside the walls of the Irish parliament in
Dublin, slthough the movement in the country looked to

its in the legislature for support. The
entry of France into the war in 1778 on the side of
America stimulated the growth of the Protestant Volunteer
movement, a number of armed associations organized to

protect Ireland in the event of a French invasion. TYet

35is: "The British opposition was certainly not
moved by any altruistic concern for Irish welfare,..But
if there is some truth in the charge that Rockingham and
Sholburn-, Richnm and Fox, acted selfishly, even

szb in bringing Ireland into British party
poli cs, it must be admitted that the circumstances

ome justification for their conduct. The great
usua vas the American war, The ministry was desperately
anxious to justify its policy in the eyes of the world,
the opposition no less anxious to show that that policy
was foolish, ar. Both sides therefore
attached gust importance to expressions of public
opinion; and even Irish opinion, usnally 111:1:19 attended
to in England, acquired a new signific
Beckett, “inglo-Tish Relations, p. 26, See also
Johnston, op. cit., pp. 285-287.



the Volunteers gave the patriot movement a forbidding
military complexion which could threaten to assert Irish
rights by force. By 1779 the situation for the English
hed rapidly i Yot only had Spain
Jjoined the war on the side of France and America but

there existed in Ireland a universal demand for free
trade with the Lord Lieutenant temporarily losing control
of the House of Commons in Dublin, By the end of the
year, the English government was forced to yield, thereby
averting en ugly i Generous

were made to Irish commerce. Then, however, the patriots
and Volunteers agitated for the legislative autonomy of
their country to ensure retention of the commercial
concessions, In 1782 the English administrstion gave the
Irish legislative sutonomy, but the Irish executive was
still appointed by the English government, and was not
therefore responsible to the Irish parliament.

The Irish demands, and the development of the
struggle with Lord North's government were influenced to
a large extent by the political situstion in England,

The confrontation between the two countries was
characterized by an interaction between English and Irish
politics with the administration of Ireland becoming a
matter of political dispute in England, In other words,
England again found herself confronted with the "Irish



Question."” The Irish patriots found supporters in
England and in this development, Charles James Fox had a
leeding part to pley. It was through Charles Fox that
the administration of Ireland was to remain a subject of
political controversy in England during the period of
Irish legislative autonomy, and it was during the Irish
free trade agitation that he first became involved in
Irish polities.



CHAPTER IT

THE BEGINNINGS: CHARLES FOX AND IRISH FREE TRADE,
1778-1782

It was during the regenerated patriot agitation
for free trade that several of the major characteristics
of Charles Fox's views on Irish politics and develop-
ments emerged. He encouraged the Irish agitation in an
indirect manner by his speeches in Westminster, and he
also di 1y iei d in the in Ireland in
1777 end again in 1779. At the same time, he made a
conscious effort to establish and maintain a good
reputation with the Irish opposition as the leading

representative of its cause in England; end he was
criticized by the English government for his Irish
activities, More important, he saw the Irish commercial

ion as a political problem the

constitutional relationship between the two countries.
Indeed, he ignored the commercial issues and concentrated
on political and constitutional considerations. Thus his
role was ambiguous as he was determined to participate in
the Irish agitation, but he was hesitant to give his
support to Irish commercial relief. Finally, he
persistently blamed Lord North's government for the strong



opposition in Ireland to the commercial restrictions,
thereby making the administration of Ireland sn issue in
English party politics.

The war with the rebellious colonies in 1775
terminated Irish trade with America, particulerly that
of linen; and early in the next year an embargo was laid
by the English government on the export of provisions
from Ireland to foreign countries. By 1777, the embargo
had raised general hostility and both of Ireland's staple
trades had been severely curtailed.l In July, 1777,
Lord Lieutenant Buckinghamshire asked Lord North's
government for some relief for Irish trade, but nothing
was done;2 and Trish economic distress increased in
March, 1778, when Ireland's large contraband trade with
France was ruined when the French entered the war on the

side of America.

oharlenont MSS, I, 41-42, The only provisions

which the Irish were loved to export under the embargo
were those intended for England e those
for the supply of the army and the navy. The én 1ish
fwemmunt refused to nlax the embargo at the ond of
777, but in the summer of 1778 it was partially umd
before its ebolition at the end of the year. Maurice
0'Connell, Irish Politics and Socizl Conflict in the
of the Anerican Phia: University o

mnsylvania S8, s DP. 44-48,

D Connell, op. eit. g 52. John Hobart, 2nd.
Earl of Buckinghanms He served as Irish
Lord Lieutenant from 177] to l’)w D.N.B.



It was under these conditions that the patriots
demanded a relaxation of the Navigation Code, reasoning
that the Irish economy would be stimulated if the country
was allowed to trede wherever she wanted. During 1778
and 1779, this demand for free trade swept across Ireland,
while at the same time, 2 number of resolutions for Irish
commercial relief were brought forward in Westminster.
Yet Charles Fox did not give his powerful support to any
of the resolutions in the House of Commons for an improve-
ment in Irish trede.

The ign for Irish ial

relief began in earnest with Lord Nugent's resolutions in
April, 1778, demanding large concessions to Irish trade.
They were accepted by the Commons, but the opposition of
English manufacturing and commercial interests led Lord
North to abandon his support for the proposals.’ The
government's change of front hampered Nugent's efforts,
and the result was two rather insignificant Acts. The
Irish were given permission to export all their products
except wool and woollen goods, cotton manufactures and
glass to the British colonies; and they were allowed to
export cotton yarn into England free of duty. However,
‘the abandonment of the resolution allowing the Irish
direct importation from the colonies meant that the

50'Connell, op. cit., pp. 58-60.



concessions granted were of little value, as Irish

export trade would be 1 without the

direct importution.‘ Although Lord Nugent's purpose was
solely to improve Irish commerce, and not to enhance the
parliamentary opposition to the ministry, a number of
Whigs supported his efforts. Edmund Burke was later to
lose his seat in mercantile Bristol for doing so. Yet
Charles Fox remained conspicuously silant.s In 1778 he
was not prepared to come forward and support the Irish
free trade agitation.

During the summer of 1778 the Irish patriot

movement was by the of the
The Irish was on the verge of
bankruptcy, American privateers were raiding the Irish

coast, and there was an overriding fear of a French
invasion, In an attempt to strengthen Ireland's defences
in the event of a possible invasion, a Militia Act was
passed; but owing to the financisl difficulties of the
Irish government, it was never implemented.® As a result,

Irish Protestants armed themselves to defend their

Pvia,

Sy 'William Cohbett und John Nz‘xgh'a ad., Cobbett's
Parliamentary Hist om n Eon uest
0 the

ax
fompany, uoo et ag. (nmmmr
referred to s Parl: Hist,)

50'Connell, op. git., p. 63
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country, Throughout the summer of 1778 and during the
following yeer, armed associations of Protestant
Volunteers sprang up all over Ireland. Within a year,
their number totalled as many as 40,000, Ieading
parliamentary patriots, including Henry Grattan, the Earl
of Charlemont and Pox's cousin, the Duke of Leinster,
became Volunteer commanders; and by 1779, the patriot

ent, backed by the had reached over-

whelming yroportians.s The armed associations took up
the demand for free trade and gave the whole patriot
movement a forbidding military complexion.

Charles Fox's attitude towards the Volunteers was
ambivalent. When France had joined the war, he had

wanted troops withdrewn from America so that vigorous

7ourtis, op. gite, p. 31l

CHenry Grattan, 1746-1820, Prominent Irish
patriot and close friend of Charles Fox. He entered the
Irish Commons in 1775 for the borough of Charlemont and
played en active part in the winning of the constitution
of 1782, However, he opposed the renunciation movement
in 1783. Two years later, he opposed the commercial
proposals, and he supported the Prince in the Regency
crisis. He was a founder member of the Dublin Whig Club
in 1789, and in the following year represented the City
of Dublin in parliament. Although he did not oppose the
war with France, he continued his efforts at reform and
rejected the Union in 1800, In 1805 he was persuaded by
Fox and Fitzwilliam to sit in the imperial parliament for
Fitzwilliam's borough of Malton; end in 1806 again became
the representative of the City of Dublin.

D.]



attacks could be made against the h-snch.9 Although he
favoured the American colonists' cause, he was strongly
opposed to the Bourbon government of France. Vhen Spain
Joined France and America in June, 1779, the anxiety of
an Irish invasion increased; and this apprehension was
strongly held by Fox..0 So he suggested that the
government should consider sending part of the English
nilitia over to Ireland to defend that country..l The
implication of Fox's proposal was a reduction of the
necessity and importance of the Irish Volunteers; as
such, his suggestion was criticized by many Irish
patriots.]2 On the one hand, then, he vas willing to
accept the necessity of the Volunteers because of the
dangers of a European invasion of Ireland, but, at the
same time, in true Whig spirit, he strongly disspproved
of military associations organized to force the hand of
the Irish parliament.

It was whilst the Irish economic situation was
rapidly deteriorating, and whilst armed associations of
Volunteers were emerging throughout Ireland that in the

%0x to Fitspatrick, Novesber 11th., 1778, Fox
Correspondence, I, 198-200." =

1024t spatrick to Ossory, June 2lst., 1779, Ibid.,

Upar1, mist., I, 916.

12preeman's Journal (Dublin), July 6-8, 1779.
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early months of 1779, four resolutions were introduced
into the English House of Commons in an attempt to obtain
Irish commercisl relief. Yet Fox, as in the previous
year, played no part in the deb-tea.u His hesitancy to
support the patriot's commercial demands is of crucial
significance. Firstly it implies that the motive behind
his Irish involvement was not merely onme of political
expediency: if his aim was simply to increase the
opposition to North's government, then undoubtedly he
would have been very active in the debates on the
commercial resolutions, as were other opposition Whigs.
Secondly, as later events were to show, he was never
prepared to accept that the conflict between England and
Ireland wes an economic and commercial one. Instead he
ignored Irish i and on

political and constitutional considerations. Thirdly,
and more immediately, his silence over the free trade
resolutions militated against the confidence expressed in
him by the Irish patriots.

Charles Fox had already shown an interest in
developments across the Irish Sea, and before the
emergence of the free trade agitation had attempted to
raise Irish issues in Westminster. In 1776 he had tried
to the Irish parli ition to the

Vparl, Rist., X¥, 288 et seq.



Lord Lieutenant's offer to replace troops who had been
withdrawn from Ireland tor service in America with
Protestant namonariea. tmd in the summer of 1777, he
had visited Ireland, met with prominent patriots,
particularly Henry Grattan, the Earl of Charlemont and
Thomas Conolly, and encouraged the Irish oppoeitian.15
Then, in 1778, he had supported two Catholic relief Bills
in Westminster. Onme of these allowed Irish Catholics to
buy forfeited Irish estates and was followed in Dublin by
the Irish Catholic relief Act of 1778.1° The Irish Act
allowed Catholics to lease land for a longer period of time
than previously, and they were permitted to inherit and

bequeath property on the same terms as Protestsnts.m

T4pia,, TVITI, 1132-1142,

153urke to Fox, October 8th., 1777, Thomas V.
Copeland, gen. ed., Corre: omience or Edm Burke (9 vols.,
Cumbridge cambridge niversity
380-388. (Hereinafter rerem'ed tu as "Burke Corred omlence )
See also Fox Gorressondence 156-157; Francis
Memoirs of the Folitical and Private Life of James
Cauﬂieﬁ Earl of Charlemont (2 vols.; London Carlell and

omas Conolly, "1737-150}. Sat
in both Hemdnxter and College Green. In Westminster he
ususlly sided with the Rockingham Whigs and was married
to the Duke of Richmond's sister and thereby related to
Fox. He supported Irish demands for legislative autonomy
and wished to maintain a close connexion between the two
countries, History of Parliament, II, 242-243,

16010onne11, op. cit., pp. 107-110,

786ckett, alking of Hodern Treland, p, 214,
See also Haureen 4aT1, ¥ihe Fise of & Catholic Middie

Class,” Irish Eistorical Studies, II, No. 42 (1958).
91-115. -
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Fox remained committed to religious toleration throughout
his life, displaying interest in a question which was of
crucial importance to the Irish Catholics, the position
of the Protestant Ascendancy and, indeed, to the whole
government of Ireland and its relationship with England.
In fact, by the time of the free trade agitation
in 1779, Fox had established himself in both English and
Irish politics as a leading supporter of Irish grievances.
Patriots recognized him as one of the leading opponents
of North's ministry and its pulieies.w More specifically,
he had received special attention from the radical
Freemen's Journal in Dublin when he had publicly regretted
the death of Irish-born General Montgomery, one of the
leading American colonists in the struggle against
England.!% In the early months of 1779, hovever, it was
the activities in Westminster for Irish commercial relief
vhich were applauded by the Irish patriot movement. Iord
Nugent was given the freedom of the city of Dublin as an

acknowledgement of his services in the cause of Irish

- 8freenan's Journal, Jamuary 21-23, April 3-5,

1pig., March 19-21, April 18-20, 1776.
Richard Montgomery, 1736-1775. Major-General. Member of
the British army and acquaintance of Fox from 1765, He
left the army in 1772 and settled in New York. He
supported the American rebellion and was killed in the
Christmas attack on Quebec City in 1775.

D.N.B.
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trade;20 and both he and Bdmund Burke, who had supported
‘the commercial agitation, were seen by the patriots as
the "firm advocates of this oppressed country.'2l The
efforts of Lord Shelburne in the House of Lords were
sinilerly appreciated.>> However, Charles Fox was not
to remain in the background of the Irish agitation for
long.

Although Fox had studiously avoided discussion
of the state of Irish commerce in Westminster in the first
half of 1779, he made a crucial speech in June in which
he questioned the powers of the English parliament to
legislate for Ireland., Before the American war had broken
out, he had denounced the claim that Westminster had the
right to tax either the Auericans or the Irish,?> and had

advanced a proposition that

25r0emen's Journal, December 31, 1778-January 2,
1779, June 1922, T7M.

21ma., Harch 25-27, 1779,

I\ud., June 8-10, 1779. William Petty, First
Narquis of Tansdoune, bebtér knovn as Lord Shelburne,
1737-1805. Joined the government with Rockingham and Fox
in 1782 as Secretary for the Colonies. In July,
became First Lord of the Treasury and Fox resigned. He

Pitt's 1785 and sided
with the government in the Regency cr151s. However, his
opposition to the war with France from 1793 led to a
reconciliation with Fox; but he supported the Union. He
was one of the most unpopular statesmen of bis time., D.N.B.

2Russell, op. git., I, 63.
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et S s

ascertain the Parlismentary right of taxation

over every part of the British dominions.2%
Now, however, in June, 1779, he told the House of Commons
that it was the "principles of Government as applied to
Ireland" which were "much the subject of discussion in
that kingdom,” and he recommended to the attention of the
ninistry, and to Tord North in particular, a "weighty and
able" pamphlet concerning the power of the English
parliament over Iroluml.25

The pemphlet was entitled "Observations

respecting the extent of the power of the British
Parlisment principally with relation to Ireland, in a
letter to Sir William Blackstone;" and it was probably
written by Charles Sheridan,?® Blackstone had asserted
that Ireland was a distinct, subordinate and dependent
kingdom of Britain, and thereby bound by laws enacted in
Westminster.?’ Sheridan's pasphlet refuted this ergument,

24par), Rist., IVIII, 6.
2une 15t., 1779, Ibid., XX, 875-876.

zaﬂnm rattan, ed., Memoirs of the Life and
Tnos of tho Honourable He; Eﬁm (5 qu.

1750-1806. Ramuenteﬂ the horongh of Bathcomsck in thl
Irish Commons. He was the brother of Richard Brinsley

Sheridan and was appointed Secretary at War in the Insh
Wa;‘nnhﬁ 11!‘762. He resigned after the Regency dispute
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claiming in particular that "every act of power exercised
by the legislature over the people of another community
is an usurpation of the fourth natural right of
nankind."?8

Fox's speech is important as it demonstrates the
way in which be saw the Irish problem in 1779. At a
time when Sheridan's pamphlet was causing a stir in
Dublin,29 when the Volunteers were increasing in numbers
and influence and vhen Irish commercial relief was still
being denied by the English government, Charles Fox
introduced into the conflict the very structure of the
Anglo-Irish constitutional relationship as enacted by
Poynings Law and the Declaratory Act. The problem posed
by Ireland in 1779 was its constitutional relationship
with England, and not the restrictions placed on the
Irish economy by England's Navigation Laws, Already,
then, Fox was thinking in terms of giving the Irish a
degree of legislative autonomy. To him, the Irish
patriot agitation was a movement for constitutional
concessions which were at the very basis of the relation-
ship between the two countries. He was hesitent to lend

oted in Herbert Buhtorrield George IIT, Lord
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his support to the demands for Irish commercial relief as
be did not see this as the basic issue at stake; instead,
be concentrated his opposition on political and
constitutional considerations. At the same time, as will
be seen, he was not prepared to allow the Irish

80, vhen he
Westminster's power to legislate for Ireland in June,
1779, he was presumably referring to Ireland's right to
legislate for herself on internal matters without any
English interference. The problem of this distinetion
between internal and externsl legislation confronted Fox
when in office in 1782,

Soon after Fox's speech, parliament adjourned
without having provided any solution to the Irish
commercial distress. Throughout the summer, Lord
Ii waited for
directions from London; but Lord North did little but

make repeated applications to retire.” A1l over
Treland, constituents were urging their parliamentary
representatives to demand the removal of the restrictions
on Irish trade; and it was becoming increasingly obvious
that the government was losing control over the Irish

House of Commons. It was in this situation, during

George IIT to John Robinson, October 6th., 1779,
Histoucai Manuscripts Comssxon prtox-':é Manuseripts “26
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October when the Dublin parlisment met, that Charles Fox
peid snother visit to Ireland. This time he went for six
weeks, and it is highly unlikely that he failed to become
involved in the reinvigorated Irish sgitetion.’’ Even
his presence in Ireland at this time was a way of
demonstrating his support for the Irish opposition, and
he presumably attempted to ascertain its demands at first
hand and probably influence it as well, Not surprisingly,
when he returned to England in November, he was to be
accused by the government of deliberately and directly
encouraging Irish hostility.

When “he Irish parliament convened, many members
deserted the government because of the overwhelming
popularity of the patriot movement outside the House, and
when Henry Grattan moved an amendment for free trade to
the Address, it was accepted.>? Three days later John
Scott, Irish Attorney-General, wrote to John Robinson,
North's influential adviser, that "it is certain that
Oppositions in both kingdoms are so connected that no men
in English Opposition should be permitted to have an ally

3lpyttertield, George TTT, Tord North and the
People, p. 169.

PBeckett, Naking of Modern Ireland, p. 216.
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in this 33 20 meke & to this
effect when Pox was in Ireland was not coincidentel. On
November 4th. the Volunteers paraded outside parliament
with their ominous placards "Free trade or =------- -

and on November 24th., Grattan's motion "that it would
be inexpedient to grant any new taxes" was passed.y‘
By this time Fox was back in England and in
Westminster on November 25th., he took special care to
blame Lord North for the Irish erisis.as By doing this,
he was turning the sdministration of Ireland into an
issue in English party politics., He accused the ministry
of neglecting Irish affairs, and blamed the American war,
for which North was completely responsible, for the Irish
agitation, Time and time again he was to accuse North of
causing the strength and popularity of the Irish
opposition, It was North's Irish policy which was
responsible for the erisis in the Anglo-Irish relationship,
not English restrictions on Irish commerce. On the

contrary, he told the House, the Irish commercial requests

Pseott to Bobinson, Octaber 15th., 1779, illien
Berestord, ed., Corre the Right Honoura!
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of the previous year were "more reasonable" than those
which would probably be demanded !m\l.56 He did not
ennounce his support for Irish commercial relief; indeed,
he did not know what steps ought to be taken in the
present crisis.

Fox also emphasised his parsdoxical attitude
towards the The at

he claimed,
ey
Soesst eat wheesvory  coepiiLion o vote a8
the people dictated,3?
He could not accept the idea of military organizations
threatening the authority and rights of the legislature
25 this vas contrary to his indispensable Whig belief
that the military power must be controlled by the
legislative body. At the same time, however, he
acknowledged the necessity of the armed associations
during the American and European conflict.

Yet the basis of Fox's argument was the
culpability of Lord North. It was Lord North's Irish
policy which was responsible for the worsening, indeed
critical, situation in Ireland; and Fox had seen this
deterioration at first hand during the previous month.

P1pia,

Mpsa.
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By affixing the blame for the Irish agitation on North's
Ministry, Fox was creating the impression that a change
of government in England would lead to a corresponding
change in England's Irish policy. Hence the excitement
of the patriots when Fox joined the government in 1782,
Charles Fox had the in

in the early months of the year br Irish commercial
relief into & political party question concerning the
edministration of Ireland. After the quiescence of the
early decades of the century, Irish government had
become a matter of dispute in England.
This became apparent a few days later when Fox
and the Whig opposition attempted to censure Lord North's
‘handling of the Irish situation. This motion was the
first of its kind to appear in Westminster for many
years. As such it was more far-reaching than the asttempts
made earlier in the year to achieve Irish commercial
relief, and it was opposed by Lord Nugent, who saw the
problem solely as a commercial one for which he would not
hold the government mswnsil:rle.BB
The debates on this occasion were "long, various

and interesting,” and Fox took a "distinguished pax't:."39

Brpsa., 1212,

” 34nnua) Register, 1780, History of Zurope,
D. .



Agein he emphasised North's total culpability for the
emergence of Irish hostility. The trade laws themselves,
he argued, were not the cause of Irish distress; rather
it was the government's policies which had ruined the
Irish linen and provisions trade. The American war had
caused the rise of the Volunteers, had ruined Irish
trade with America and had led to the embargo on the
export of Irish provisions. So,
ha"mat TeStond pout; Bet 1% ves T Tmcapectty
;:g ::ﬁiﬁ:sc;egngxamew that had rendered
Pox was still reticent, then, to blame England's
commercial monopoly and the Navigation Code for Irish
econonic distress. He went on to argue that if
Westminster revealed the responsibility of North's
ministry for the deteriorating situation across the
Irish Sea, then the Irish would realize that it was not
the English who were to blame, but England's government.
And this realization by the patriots would hopefully
bind England and Treland together.*l mhis anxiety over
the possible ultimate separation of the two countries
was to become increasingly important in Fox's Irish
activities over the next few years, as his aim was to
attach "both countries in the most indissoluble ties of

#0par, Fist., Xr, 1225,

M1pia,



friendship and affection,”

His attitude to the Volunteers remained ambivalent.
EHe was afraid of the consequences of the armed
associations, and accused them of dictating to the
"acquiescing British Psrliamt';“ but he qualified
this by declaring that

T SRR Sventon soscre. Fhiss 1o sfae.in oolor”
Bt s e
seek in themselves the means of redress.

It was during this debate that Fox met with the
first of what proved to be a frequent accusation, that of
encouraging Irish discontent against England. He
fervently denied this, although he "seems to have winced
at the charge of the English and Irish Oppositions being
in ::or-relpmrlmc:c."4"Ij Presumably he was worried over
the charge because of his presence in Ireland during the
previous October. Still, in refuting the assertion, he
publicly declared thet Henry Grattan's activities "did
honour to humen nature," a compliment immediately

%1bia,
®1bia,, 1128,
Hrpia,, 1126-1127.
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repeated by the Dublin Volunteers.*® Charles Fox wes,
in fact, deliberately encouraging the Irish patriot
movement and channelling it into an attack on the Irish
policy of Lord North. The ministry was certainly in a
difficult position. There were dissensions within the
government and the Whigs were optimistic of coming into
office and scornfully rejected overtures for a coalition
in December.*” In this situstion, the ministry had to
give way to the Irish demands. On December 13th., North
announced liberal free trade concessions to the Irish.

By these measures, which became law early in
1780, the Irish were allowed to export wool, woollen
goods and glass, and to import foreign hops., They were
also allowed to trade directly with English colonies in
Africa and America, on condition thet they established
the same duties and regulations as English trade with
the colonies was subject to. Similarly, the Turkey
Company, and thereby the Levant, was opened to Irish
merchants.

Although Lord North really had little alternative
in granting these i the measures

were generous. Yet although Fox expressed a sincere

46preenan's Journel, December 11-14, December
AT
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desire that the Irish would now be satisfied, he did not
support the resolutions.*® Tnstead, he would wait until
Irish opinion was known before declaring his own feelings
on the matter, Yet his failure to support the concessions
vas criticized in Trelsnd; 7 and he wes so concerned
with his standing in that country that he wrote to the
Duke of Leinster to explain his behaviour.

Pox took great care to inform his cousin of the
ambiguities and difficulties in forwarding the Irish
cause in England. He that if he had
the resolutions in Westminster, only to find them

unacceptable to the patriots, then he, personally, would
bave lost support in Ireland. This loss of support, he
argued, could prove dangerous to the Anglo-Irish connexion
by encouraging those Irishmen who wanted a total
separation of the two countries. On the other hand, if
be had opposed the resolutions on the ground that they
were inadequate, then he would have encouraged the Irish
to reject them, If this happened, he would lose support
in England as he would be openly accused of inducing the

#8per), Eist., XX, 1285.
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Irish to ask for more.”® Such vere the difficulties of
Fox's position as the English representative of Irish
patriotism.

He also made a conscious attempt to retain the
confidence of the Irish movement by asking Leinster to
show the written explanation of his conduct to the Earl
of Charlemont, Henry Grattan and other influential
patriots, while reminding the Duke that
1f, after all, we are suspected of not being
rlendly to Ireland, it is very hard, and upon

me in particular, certainly never missed any
opportunity of declaring in public, as well as
in private, how much I wished you success in all
the points you were likely to push.

Fox's susceptibility to the charge that he was
deliberately encoursging Irish agitation had been made
apparent 3 few weeks before, and he wished to aveid this
sort of criticism. Indeed, even though his comments on
North's concessions had been deliberately cautious,
Thomas Townshend informed Charlemont that Fox's speech

wes called in England "an encouragement to the Irish to

Fpox to_Leinster, January 4th., 1780,
Charlemont BSS, 1, 369-575. e
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ask for more."2 However, Fox's argument that his silence
over the resolutions was determined by the fact that they
might not be approved by the Irish does not tell the whole
truth. It disguises Fox's own hesitancy to allow the

Irish extensive commercizl relief. There could have been
little doubt in his mind that the patriots would approve of
North's measures. Yet even more significant then this was
his conscious attempt to explain his conduct to leading
Irish patriots in order to retain their confidence: Charles
Fox vas determined to maintain his Irish reputation and
remain a leading supporter of the patriot movement.

If Fox's popularity amongst the Irish opposition
suffered because of his actions over the free trade
concessions, it received a fillip from his activities in
London in 1780. It was at this stage in his career that
be joined the Westminster Association movement for
parliamentary reform. He was chosen by the Association
as a cendidate for Westminster, England's most popular
constituency, at the next genersl election; and when this
was held, towards the end of 1780, he was successfully
elected. Except for one short break, he sat for

sz'l‘wnshnnd to Charlemont, December 3lst., 1779,
Ibid., 368. Thomas Townshend, 1733-1800. Follover of
Tockinghan and a leading opponent of North's ministry from
1775. In 1762 he became Secretary at War, and then joined
Shelburne's ministry as Secretax-y for Home Affairs and chief
governnent spokesman in the Commons. He resigne

Shelburne in 1783, but returned to office under Pitt “unti1
1789. History of Parliament, III, 554-556.



Westminster for the rest of his political career, and
his activities in the Association movement led to his
emergence as the "Man of the People,"” which added a
radical dimension to his 1m!.il:i.<m.55 The Freeman's
Journsl reported his Westminster activities;”' so the
criticism of his refusal to publiely support North's
resolutions proved to be ephemeral.

Yet Fox vas not happy with the Irish free trade
agitation vhich explains why he had attempted to ignore
the commercial restrictions at steke and concentrate his
own opposition on political and constitutional
considerations. Thus his conduct was ambiguous.
Interpreting the Irish opposition in its Whig context,
he was willing to make changes in the Anglo-Irish
constitutional relationship to give more power to the
Dublin parlisment in the Irish constitution. At the
same time, he was determined to mske 2 political issue of
the Irish administration and succeeded in this by
concentrating his eriticisms on Lord North's Irish policy.

S3Butterield, George III, Lord North and the
People, pp. 594-225; Bugene STackThs Issocistion:
w_%a%,wy-ﬁm%g%@m
, Wassachusetts: Harva Iversity Press, 1963),
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But his eighteenth century Whig prejudices in favour of
England's commercial monopoly and the Navigatiu: Code were
too strong for him to accept extensive commercial relief
being given to the Irish,

Meanwhile the free trade resolutions were well
received in Ireland; but they also encouraged the patriots
and the Volunteers to demand legislative autonomy for
their country to maintein the concessions which had been
gained. In April, 1780, Grattan's declaratory resolution,
asserting the right of the Irish parliament to legislate
for itself, and Yelverton's motion for en alteration in
Poynings Law, were both rejected by the House of Commons,
even though numerous county meetings declared in favour
of the measures.’” Indeed, although Lord Lieutenant
Buckinghamshire had managed to regain control of the
Commons, opinion outside parlisment continued to move

against the Thus an

informed North from Ireland in January, 1780, that
"everything disagreeable, everything dangerous may be

apprehended here";7° vhile the English Tord Chancellor

%1Gonne11, op. cit., po. 226-234, Barry
TYelverton, First Viscount Avonmore, 1736-1805,
Represented Carrickfergus in the Irish Commons from 1776
and joined the Volunteers in 1778-1779. In December,
1783, he became Chief Baron of the Court of Exchequer.
He supported the opposition in the Regency dispute, but
was in favour of the Union in 1800. D.N.B.

5 pbergavenny MSS, p. 27.



commented that "whoever can advise about Ireland and
finds the means to be listened to might do his country
good servi.co."”

The patriots succeeded, however, in passing an
Irish Mutiny Bill in May, 1780, which was to give Fox the
opportunity to emphasise again his support for the Irish
movement, redeem himself for his behaviour in December,
1779, and censure the workings of Poynings ILawv.

Until 1780, the army in Ireland had been subject
to the English Mutiny Acts; now, however, patriotic
magistrates were refusing to act according to the English
legislation, and there was a danger that Ireland would
soon have no army at all under any sort of diseipline.sa
To remedy this, an annuel Irish Mutiny Bill was proposed
by the Irish parliament in 1780; but North's ministry,
through the use of Poynings Lav, changed the proposal
into a perpetusl Bill, thereby giving the King power to
maintain a standing army in Ireland for all time.
Gratten and his followers criticized the amendment, but
%0 no avail,’® The Irish perpetual Mutiny Bill became

- 57thurlow to Robinson, Narch 28th., 1780, Ibid.,
D .
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law. BSo Grattan called on the English Whigs to oppose
the Act, ing that the of both
vere at stake.” For heeded the call in Februsry, 1781,

thereby emphasising his determination to discuss Irish
issues in Westminster.

In the Commons in February, 1781, Pox moved for
the re-commitment of the British Mutiny Bill as the word
"Ireland" had been omitted.’l This vas an attempt to
replace the perpetual Irish Mutiny Act and restore the
control of the army in Ireland to the British annual
Mutiny Acts. Although Fox was generally in favour of a
greater amount of control over internal affairs on the
part of the Irish parliament, he was not prepared to
support any measure which would enable the Crown to
maintain a standing army for 211 time. Annual legislative
supervision of military forces was one of his fundamental
principles. Yet he was very cautious in explaining his
doubts over the Irish Act because, despite patriotic
opposition, the ACt stood, even in its perpetusl form, as

a syabol of Irish

autonomy. So,
to his experience during the free trade agitation, he
announced that

Orpia,
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S To eecerrobent voeh o should say i
toﬁ-;' 53121:?1}:: :-x;.gzlight unfavourable to

He attributed this falsification to the "basest of
purposes,” as the Irish "had not a friend in that House
nore varnly attached to their interests then hiself,"®
a clain which reveals his deliberate attempt to maintain
bis Irish reputation.

Without much trouble, Pox censured the perpetual
Irish Mutiny Act in a manmer which would be acceptable
to both English and Irish Whigs. An ACt which enabled
the Crown to maintain a perpetual army vas unvarranted
by the constitution end contrary to the Bill of Rights.*
This arbitrary power threatened both Englishmen and
Irishmen, and both countries should therefore unite
sgainst it, In fact, he vehemently declared, the ministers
who were responsible for the amendment of the annual
Irish Bill vere guilty of high treason.®®

Here is a classic example of the way in which
Fox's Irish participation was determined by his Yhig
beliefs. In his opposition to the Irish Mutiny Act, an

%21bi4., 129,
Prpia,

S41bid., 1296-1297.
S1bid., 1299,
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anathema to a believer in the 1688 Revolution, Fox
emphasised the dangerous powers that the Act had given to
the Crown and the executive, at the expense of parliament.
He had been provided with a perfect opportunity to
demonstrate the incorporation of the beliefs of the Irish
movement into his own political principles, voiced and
practised in Epgland.

Moreover, he now announced that Lord North had
acted wisely in granting the free trade concessions in
1779, but he was still perturbed as

Concessions made when Ireland was armed could
have neither grace mor dignity.66

Yet as an to the be claimed that

"the associations should always have his admiration and
applause."67
Fox's efforts to 2lter the Irish Mutiny Act
failed; but he re-asserted his claim to the leadership of
the Irish patriot movement in England, when the Irish
situstion was playing little part in the debates in
Westminster after the hectic year of 1779 and before the
change of government in 1782. By so doing, he kept both
countries fully aware of his support for the Irish
opposition; and his exertions led immediately to a

S61bia., 1301,

71pia.



pamphlet warfare in Ireland over the perpetual Irish
Mutiny Act, which testified to his significance in that
cmmtry.68 Yet to oppose a measure which could be

as an acknowled of Ireland's right to
legislate for herself could be a dangerous manoeuvre.
Certainly his Irish opponents were willing to seize on
his criticisms of the Irish legislation:
Opposition ... has taken advantage of all
occasions to make Ireland their tool. The
ruin of the Minister being their only object,
with this view and for this purpose when Irish
trade was to be made free they desert our cause,
when Irish privilege is to be established, they
become our enemies.59
And it was noted that Fox had "emphasised the supremacy
of the British legislature” by seeking the replacement of
the Irish Mutiny Act.7° However, as a number of patriots
had opposed the Irish Act, Fox's Irish reputation seems to
bave withstood the criticiszs,’t
In November, 1781, Grattan's motion for the repeal

of the Hutiny Act was defeated, and his declaratory

SCpreenan's Journal, March 3-6, March 6-8, April
21-24, May 10-12, 17B1.
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lution was shelved by adj on Pebruary 22nd.,

1782, But outside parlisment, the Volunteers, especially
those of Ulster, pressed on with their demands, and held
a convention at Dungannon on February 15th., 1782. The
convention resolved in favour of Irish legislative

the ionality of Poynings Law,
condemnation of the Mutiny Act and security of tenure

for judges. Most of the Protestants were behind the
and the of Grattan's

resolution seemed merely a temporary expedient. Lord
Lieutenant Carlisle, who had replaced Buckinghamshire at the
end of 1780, warned the ministry in London that Ireland
would soon be impossible to govern;/? but on Harch 18th.,
the Irish parliament was sdjourned. A week later, Lord
North hed resigned.

By September, 1781, Fox's opposition to North's
government had become more pronounced than evar;73 and

by the end of the year, English attempts to subdue the

7Beckett, Making of Modern Ireland, p. 222,
Frederick Howard, 5th, Farl of Carlisle, IVAB 825, He
was & schoolboy unociate of Fox at Eton and later acted
as surety for Fox's gambling debts. He was a member of
the Tords from 1770 and served as Irish Iord Lieutenant
from 1780 to 1782, EHe boeme Lonl Privy Seal in the
Fox-North coalition and opposed government until
;h; gtanch war, He supported the Iriah Union in 1800.

7%ox to Fitspatrick, September Sth., 1781,
Fox Correspondence, I, 267.
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American colonists had suffered a tremendous setback with
Cornwallis's surrender at Yorktown. The parliamentary
opposition prepared for the final attack, and on February
22nd., 1782, a motion declaring the purpose of subduing
the revolted colonies by force as impractical was
paseed.ml The Rockingham Whigs hed achieved their aim:
Lord North and his ministry had been defeated in the
House of Commons, and on March 20th., North resigned.

It was during the free trade agitation thet
several importent features of Fox's connexions with Irish
politics emerged. He had, directly and indirectly,
encouraged the Irish agitation, made a conscious and
continuing effort to establish a good reputation with the
Irish opposition, and had been criticized by the English
government for so doing. At the same time, Irish
administration had become a matter of altercation in
English party politics; end Charles Pox was ultimately
responsible for this,

Yet the difficulties of his position es s sup-
porter of the Irish movement were also made apparent.
Seeing the patriot sgitation as essentially a Whig
movement against Lord North's executive, to secure
certain rights for the Irish parliament, he had given it
his support; and in the House of Commons in 1779, he had

Tvia,, 280,



67

questioned English legislative powers over Ireland, the
basis of the Anglo-Irish relstionship. But be still bad
%o work out the degree of Irish legislative autonomy which
he was prepared to accept. Ee certainly had no desire for
England to forgo sll her rights over the Irish, believing
‘that the of the two were 1y
the same; and he had already shown apprehension over the
possibility of Ireland's total separation from England.

Moreover, on the discussions on the Mutiny Act in 1781

he had declared that

In better times than these, he should hlv! ‘talked
of the superintending power of the Britis!
Parliesment over Ireland and over every p: m of
the British monarchy; but such was the niurablu
situation to which the King's servants had
reduced this country that the question was of a
very delicate nature indeed, and it was by n
means a matter easy to be handled without

sturbing what ought not to be ﬁilhu‘bed, and
without producing consequences which eves 75
who wished well to his country must \d:h to ﬂol.d.

Charles Fox now had to ascertain what degree of Irish
legislative autonomy could be granted and still maintain
some degree of "superintending pover" by the English
parliement, the power which Lord Horth had so discredited.
He attempted to distinguish between external and internal

legislation during the i of the
of 1782, a differentiation vhich was especially necessary
for the maintenance of the Navigation Code in Ireland.

Pparl, Hist., XI, 1295.




CHAPTER IIT
FOX AND IRISH AUTONOMY, 1782: AN INCOMFLETE SUCCESS

Charles Fox played an important part in the
formulation of a new Anglo-Irish relationship in 1782,
The Protestant Irish nation demanded the repeal of the
Declaratory Act and the establishment of Irish
legislative autonomy; but the Whig government, and
Charles Pox in particular, did not wish to relinquish
English control over Irish external affairs, especially
1 Fox was prepered to
grant the Irish legislative autonomy for internal affairs,
but before this was conceded, he wanted the negotiation
of an Anglo-Irish treaty which would specify Westminster's

Irish trade with the colonies,

powers of external legislation over Ireland. This
arrangement, however, had not msterialized before he was
compelled to move the repeal of the Declaratory Act in
the House of Commons on May 17th., and in this respect,
bis Irish policy in 1782 failed. More importent than
this, however, was his introduction into the debates over
the repeal of an implied distinction between internal and

m trade concessions of 1779-1780 had
allowed the Irish to trade with the colonies, but only
subject to the eontrol of the English parliament.
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external legislati a i which a
number of Irish patriots. Although the ministry assumed
with Pox that the English parliament still possessed
legislative authority over Irish external affairs, it was
Pox who made this distinction public, and whose Irish
suffered i His second
of May 17th., that = future Anglo-Irish treaty would be
formulated, created patriotic suspicions not only about

Irish legislative autonomy but also of Pox's own
intentions towards that country.

During these hectic months, Charles Fox
corresponded with the Irish executive and leading Irish
patriots, and continued to identify his beliefs with
those of the Irish leaders, attempting to persuade Henry
Grattan and the Earl of Charlemont to join the Irish
government. He also suggested measures to the Irish

which would the Irish

at the expense of its executive. In addition, several

of his Irish during his years
in opposition were repeated. He still eriticized Lord
North's Irish policy, even after North's resignation,
thereby ensuring that Irish government remained an issue
in English party politics, his speeches in Vestminster
continued to influence events across the Irish Sea, and
he was again censured for his Irish involvement even

though he was now a member of the government.



The new was a i of
and Shelburne Whigs. The Marquis of Rockingham became
Pirst Lord of the Treasury, with Lord Shelburne as

Becretary of State for the Colonies and Charles Fox as
Secretary of State for Foreign Affsirs and Leader of the
House of Commons. Other offices were distributed between
the respective groups of Whigs, and overall, the changes
made were numerous. Kot surprisingly, the Whigs were
optimistic and saw the change of ministry as a victory
over the executive power of George III and Lord North.
Pox himself triumphantly claimed that "this revolution
which he had brought sbout was the greatest for England
that ever was; that excepting in the person of a King, it
was a complete change of the Constitution, and an era
ever glorious to England." Contemporeries saw the

changes as a " luti ,“}mdusu

2Selwyn to Oarlisle, March 23nd., 1782,
Historical Manuscripts Comsission Report, Hanuseripts of
the Earl of Carlisle (London: E.H.5.0., 18977, . S0%.
THereinafter referred to as Carlisle Hﬁs.)

JHalone to Charlemont, 1782, Charlemont MSS,
11, 401. e



"general weep."4 Yet the Whig elation was not to last
for long.

The Whig coalition soon proved to be mainly
nominal, Pox saw it as consisting of two parts, "onme
belonging to the King and the other to the pnhlio";5 and
George IIT, in his ion sgainst the
Whigs, established a chamnnel of communication with Iord

Shelburne at the expense of the Rockinshams.s Divisions
soon arose, particularly over the proposed American
negotiations, which involved a direct conflict between
Shelburne and Fox, and also over measures of economic
reforn and the proposed Irish settlement. In fact,
Charles Fox soon became convinced that the coalition
would not work, and he wrote on April 12th,:

*Lucan to Pery, March 21st., 1782, Historical
Manuseripts Gomuseion Report, Manuseri: ts of Lord Eml;
(London: H.| H S 0. 1895), pp. 163-: IB& (Hereinafter
Teferred to 5 The Rockinghas ihigs vere
represented et by Lord John Cavendish as
Chancellor of the Exchsqncr Admiral Keppel as First Lord
of the Admiralty, the Duke 02 Richmond 2s Master-General
of the Ordnance and General Convay as commander-in-chief,
Edmund Burke became Pamascar-ﬁomml of the forcu, and

was
Tha shelhuma in the cabinet was repmsmm by
Lord Thurlow as Lozd Chencellor, the Duke of Grafton as
éﬂﬁ P{ivy Seal and Lord Camden as President of the
ouncil,

5%ox Corres ondence, I, 292..

®mia., 321
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We had a Cabinet this morning in which, in my
opinion, there were more symptoms of what we had
always epprehended than had ever hitherto appeared...
If they [the Shelburme group] do nat [yield], we
g0 to war again, that is all.
By July, Pox had resigned, but not before Irish demsnds
for legislative and judicial autonomy had been met.
Indeed, although Rockingham informed the King that the
important measures which he expected to see adopted were
those of economic reform and peace with America, the
Irish problem was the most urgent which confronted the
Whigs.®

In Ireland, Lord Lieutenant Carlisle and his
Secretary, William Eden, were replaced by the Duke of

Portland and Richard Pit:pntﬂ.ck.e Even though Carlisle

- 7Rox to Pitzpatrick, April 12th., 1782, Ibid.,

BIbid., 286n; Russell, op. sit., I, 286.

%Bentinck, Willisa Henry Cavendish, 3nd. Duke of
Portland, 1736-1809. He became the leader of the Rocking-
hap ¥higs after Rockingham's death in 1782, although he
was often overshadowed by Fox., He was First Lord of the
Treasury in 1785 during the Fox-North coalition, and
remained in ap‘wsiﬂon from 1784 to 1794, when he
supported Pitt's rnment and became Home Secretary.
D.N.B. Richard Fitzpatrick, 1748-1813, Member of the
English House of Commons for Okehampton, 1770-1774,
Tavistock, 1774-1807, Bedfordshire, 1807-1812 and Tavistock,
18121613, fe cane trom an encient Irish family with
property in Queen's County, Fox brought him into the
ranks of the opposition during the early months of the
American warj and Fitzpatrick remained a loyal Foxite for
ghe rest of his life, History of Parliament, II, 433-

35,
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and Eden had decided to leave office on North's resig-
nation, this change in the Irish executive was significant
as it implied a change in the Irish policy of the new
n!.nistry.m In previous years it had not been customary
for the Irish Tord Lieutenancy to change hends with the
accession of a new administration in England, Other
changes in the Irish government followed. Attorney-
General John SCott and the Irish Prime Serjeant were
replaced by patriots Barry Yelverton and Hussey Burgh.u
George Ponsonby joined the government whilst Charles
Sheridan, whose pamphlet questioning Westminster's right
to legislate for Ireland had been brought before the House

105“ Eden's speech in the English House of

Commons, April 8th., 1782, Parl, Hist,, XXII, 1254; Eden
to Shelburne, A oy T 1285-1356;

Robert J. Elden, ed.,

William, Tord Auckland

on. (Hgnmnn- referred to as

Auckland comgm
John Scott, E&!‘l of Clonull 1759-1795
1777 but dismisse

ttorney- ral d by

Portland m 1782. In the Pox-North eo&hﬁun he became
Prime Serjeant and the following year was created Chief
Justice. D.N.B. Walter Hmuev Burgh, 1742-1783.
Representei orough of Athy in tbe Irish Commons from
1769 and Dublin University from 1776. He was very active
in the patriot agitation and was a close friend of Henry
Grattan. Soon after his appointment as Prime Serjeant,
he vas made Chief Baron of the Exchequer. D.N.B. R B.

nce of
ntley,
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of Commons by Fox in 1779, became military under-secretary.
Throughout the changes, the theme was the same: the
promotion of the supporters of the Irish patriot
novenent.'? Indeed, so extensive were the changes that
Jobn Fitzgibbon declared: "It would seem that the present
system is totally to unhinge Government in Ireland, and
to erect a kind of mobocracy, by which they hope to rule
the Parlianent,"?
Certainly, Irish patriots were optimistic that

‘their demands for legislative and judicial autonomy would
be accepted now that Fox and the Whigs were in power.
This enthusiasm was justified because of the Whig
sympathy for the patriot cause during North's government;
and Pox's accession to office caused excitement among
leading patriots, testifying to the special interest
which he had already shown in Irish affairs, So, on
March 21st., Lord Lucan wrote to Pery:

Fo one has more libersl sentiments as to Ireland

than Charles Pox, and he at present is eve:

everything o,
here, the momentum of the great party he conducts.

12narlenont 1SS, T, 64

53t agibbon to Carlisle, May 27th,

Genliste 15, 5. 699, Jomm Titepivoun. Besd. of clare,

epresented Dublin Uniyerslty and then
Kilwalleck in the Irish Commons. He supported the
government in the Regency crisis and was rewarded with
the Irish Lord Chancellorship. He was a fervent opponent
of popular and Catholic on and was one
of the architects of the Union. D.N.B.

W5yean to Pery, March 21st., 1762, Buly HSS, p. 164,
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The interests of both countries were at stake; and the
Earl of Charlemont informed Fox that "the people at large
must indeed entertain a partiality for the present
Ministers. True Whigs must rejoice at the prevalence of
Whiggish principles."s The appointments of Portland and
Fitzpatrick were a "good presage."ls
Charlemont was a great admirer of the Marquis of
Rockinghan; 7 but many of the Trish patriots sew the
establishment of the Whig Ministry as a vietory for their
ovn political principles.)® The Freemsn's Journal, hovever,
was not so easily convinced. It warned its readers that
the "liberties of these kingdoms have ever suffered most
in popular administrations," and suggested that the Whig
coalition was "fully resolved to maintain the parliamentary
supremacy of England” over the Irish.!? This scepticisn

increased in the ensuing weeks.

L0harlenont to Pox, April 1lth., 1782, Fox
Correspondence, I, 390.

o144, 389,
17chmemm uss, I, 22.

for example, Hutchinson to Burke, April
6tha, 1’752, Burks Correspondence, IV, 434-435,

Dpreenan's Journel, tpril 4-6, April 6-9,
April 9-117 1782,



Tord Shelburne, as Colonial Secretary, had
official responsibility for Irish affairs; but this does
not seem to have impeded Cherles Fox's Irish participation.
During his three months in office, Fox was continually
involved in Irish politics and he was to take a similar
interest in Portland's ministry in the following year.
This demonstrates his concern for the Anglo-Irish

i and his i to achieve some sort

of settlement.

Indeed, before the Whigs had received the seals
of office, Fox was enquiring about the replacement of
Gerlisle and sbout changes in the Trish episcopacy.”
Within a few weeks of the accession of the ministry, his
associate, Dr. Newcome, was appointed to an Irish
bishoprie.?l So he used Irish government as a source of
political patronage; but he was sincere when he told the
Earl of Charlemont that he felt "on every private as well
as public account most peculiarly interested in the

s B Bl et
an el . arlisle .

e Geonister tot CeTastaneR’ 1S fovasbas. " 1978"
that "he entertained a very great lpoc': for that young
nobleman's private chnructer though he considered his
public abilities much too high]: rated for his years and
experience.” See Parl, Hist,, XX, 1127-1128,

lpysgen, o @, gifey Ty 6. Villian ovooas
1729-1800, He vas Fox's erstwhils tutor at Hertford
College, Oxford, d 1764-1765. During Fitzwillism's
Lond Lisutensncy in 1735, he was appointed Primste of all
Ireland. D.N.E.




success" of Portland's adminis'cration.ez Not only did
Fox establish channels of communication with Gratten and

Charl t; be also a

with Richard Fi ick, the Chief o It vas
through the Secretary that Fox was able to participate
directly in Irish developments, as it gave him a direct
though unofficial channel of communication with the Irish

executive. Fitzpatrick himself was one of Pox's most
ardent followers, and before his appointment, George
Selwyn had written: "I do not yet hear what will be
Richard's reward for attachment to Charles and his
prineiples."a According to Lord Russell, Fitzpatrick
was Fox's "chief adviser and dearest friend" until Fox's
death in 1806.°% Charles Fox's comexion with the Irish
Secretary, his dominant influence within the Rockinghsm
party and his position as spokesman for the government's
business in the House of Commons resulted in his playing
a prominent role in the Irish administration during the
Whig coalition. He revealed the depth of his concern to
Fitzpatrick on April 15th.:

" i;l'ox +o Charlemont, April 4th., 1782, Charlemont

Bgeluyn to o Canlisle, Harch 26th., 1722,
Carlisle MSS, pp. 60!

2‘I“ox Correspondence, I, 171.
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I am really so anxious for the success of your

Administration and have such a dread of being

upon ill-terns with persons so like ourselves

in their ways of thinking, as Lord Charlemont

and Grattan, that I cannot forbear thinking and

writing about it constantly.2>
This anxiety was caused partly by the important pert
which he had played in the Irish movement during the
American war, and his belief in his own responsibility for
the formulation of an Irish solution., Simulteneously he
realized that the Anglo-Irish relationship was at stake
and had to be worked out afresh.

Charles Fox was a firm advocate of making
extensive changes in the personnel of the Irish
administration in favour of the patriots. He agreed with
Fitzpatrick that "obnoxious persons” ought to be removed
and he thought it would be of "infinite utility" if
Grattan could be persuaded to join the government.2® The
same went for the Earl of Charlemont. But both refused
Fox's request: they would support the ministry, but would
not; take office.?’

Fox's attempt to persuade the two prominent
patriots to join Portland's government wes more than

simple pragmatism, It arose directly from his concept of

250x to Pibapatrick, April 15¢h., 1782, Ibid., 3%
%pox to Fitzpatrick, April 28th., 1782, Ibid., 3.

270narlenont o Fox, kpril 1l¢h., 1782, Ibid., 3%0.



the Rockingham Whig party which he had been developing
since 1774, Excited over the fall of North's government,
he saw the change of ministry as the harbinger of 2 new
era, Thus he put the crucial guestion to Charlemont:

Why should not the complete change of systn

vhich has happened in this country have

same effect there (Iroland) that it has hlre?

and why should not _these who used to compose

the opposition h Irelmd become thc ‘principal
0] n there upon

Ernunu upon which they moued the

nld nnes?
Rightly or wrongly, Charles Fox saw North's defeat as a
victory for both English and Irish Whigs as he continued
his attempts to incorporate patriot beliefs into the
principles of his own party. He was very concerned to
emphasise that his accession to office did not imply any
change in his principles. On the contrary, he told
Charlemont,

I wish to talk with yon and consult with you

in the ssme frank manner in which I should have

o -bgm I was in this situation so very new
In fact, Fox's purpose vas to establish a Whig perty in
both England and Ireland.

ZBP to_Charlemont, April 4th., 1782,
Charlemont MSS, I, 57.

1pia,
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Professor Ginter has stressed the orgenizational,
at the expense of the ideologicai, factor in the develop-
ment of the English Whig party after 1752.’0 Yet in
Pox's concept of party, the ideological factor was
uppermost; and besides, until the 1790's, his abilities
of organization were rather limited. Instead, it was in
the realm of ideas that he wished to esteblish an Irish
Whig party. By identifying his own beliefs with those of
the Irish patriots in bonds of common sympathy and mutuel
aspirations, Fox was, at least ideologically, trying to
set up a Whig party in both countries.

However, although Fox had known and respected
Gherlemont for a long time prior to 1782,7) end although
Charlemont was later to express admirestion of Fox's

talents and i i

exertions,"> Fox's desire for a positive allisnce with
the Irish leader was unsuccessful. Charlemont did not
agree with Fox's concept of the Whig party as the
Englishman sav it pertaining to Ireland. On the contrary,

Pponald E, Ginter, ibij tion in the
General Election of (ﬁer 6y: University o
813l a S, s Introduction, pp. xi-lvii.

Mfiardy, op. git., I, 368.

32onarlenont MSS, T, 56.
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«s. with every daF'ee of affection for our
sister-kingdom, every rop!d for 1:
interests ot the empire at 1: , I am

Irishman, I pride myself in ehe !weu“m:'th

and will in particular act as such;
same time dee th.t I -m sincerely and
that the

‘;uver:gl of England and Irclund cannot be
Erliman, T aay"c1veye hong 2o perfo e past
of a true hman also.
Moreover, he later declered a firm belief that Irish
interests could not be served in England, and that all
English political parties were hostile to Irish vcll-baing.y‘
This vas directly comtrary to Fox's attempts in 1782 to
encompass Irish politics into English party politics amd
his efforts to establish an Irish Whig party.
However, the fundamental problem facing Fox and
the Whigs in 1782 was that of the Anglo-Irish constitutional
relationship, The Whig coalition was only willing to accept
the Irish demands for legislative and judicial autonomy in
return for a treaty vhich would secure the future relation-
ship between the two countries on a permament basis. Of
particular concern was the Anglo-Irish commercial relation-
ship and an Irish contribution to the cost of imperial
def\mca.35 It was with this permenent arrangement in mind

- Scharlenont to Fox, April 1lth., 1762, Ibid., I,

P1bid., 18-15.

%0z a treatment of the Irish question from 1782
to 1800 as an imperial problem s incent T. Harlow, The
Founding of the Second British 1763-1793 (2 vols.;
gaans, 3 I, 395 et seq.
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that the ministry saw that its first objective was to
secure the postponement of Grattan's declaratory
resolution which had been promised in the Irish Commons
for April 16th. So Shelburne wrote anxiously to Secretary
Fitzpatrick, and Rockingham did the same to the Earl of
Charlemont with this intention in m!.ud.}6 Over in

Ireland both Portlend and Pitzpatrick tried to persuade
Grattan to agree to this request. Ome of the first
letters from London to the Irish leaders asking for a
postponement of their proceedings was from Fox. Charles
Pox wrote to Charlemont as early as April 4th., thereby
emphasising his concern for Irish developments immediately
after the coalition had assumed ofﬁco.” Perhaps he
‘thought that the patriots would listen to him because of
the confidence which they had begun to place in him in

the previous years. However, neither Charlemont nor
Grettan would agree to the request because "the eyes of
all the nation are eagerly fixed on the meeting of the
16t0."7® Indeed, Charlemont vas afraid of the possible

gnelburne to Pitzpatrick, April 19th 1782,
Pox Corre: mce, I, 401; Rockin, 0 Charlen
pri A &harlnont s, I, 53-5%.

37%0x to Charlemont, April 4th., 1782, Charlemont
1SS, T, 56-58.

3B0narlenont to Fox, April 1lth., 1782, Fox
Correspondence, I, 3£9.
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consequences in Ireland if the intended resolution was
pvstpmed;” but Grattan decided to chenge his resolution
to a simple address, thus msking it less overtly hostile
to British rule.*

Thus, on April 16th., when the Irish parliament
met, Grattan moved his address; which was unenimously
accepted, ing Irish legislative i The
sddress, later transmitted to England, declared that the
only constitutionel power which could make laws binding

on Ireland was the Irish perliament.

In England, however, Fox's policy of temporization
was suceeas‘ful, although the situation was complicated by
the sudden arrival of Carlisle's Secretary, William Eden,
with the Lord Lieutenant's resignation. On learning that
Carlisle had already been replaced, Eden refused to
communicate with the ministry on the state of Irish
affairs; and on April 8th., in the House of Commons, he
moved for the immediate repeal of the Declaratory Aut.“

Fox reacted vehemently to Eden's presumptuous
move: "The motion,” he claized, "was in substance and
effect nothing less than a declaration of unconditional
submission on the part of Great Britain, and a direct

P1bia., 39.
40pussell, op. eit., I, 290.
Mpar1, mist., XTI, 1205
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relinquishnent of her dearest and most valuable rights,"

The Whigs, he stressed, needed time to produce a permanent
solution. At this juncture, Eden's motion was "ome of the
most alarming extent that could possibly be conceived;"
and he accused him of yielding to the power of the
Volunteers .%
Fox then went out of his way to blame Lord North's
ministry for the Irish crisis, in the same way as he had
done when in opposition. In 1778, North had rejected
moderate Irish demands for commercial concessions, while
in the following year he had been forced to yield "more
then was compatible with the honour of the country."**
Realizing the implications of his accusations,
Fox felt obliged to emphasise that he was alluding to the
manner in which Eden's motion had been brought forward;
rather than passing an opinion on repeal itself. Indeed,
"Ireland had a just right to expect ample redress from

this country for the suppressive treatment she had long

groaned under;" but the subject still required the
"deepest consideration." He hoped his speech would not
be misrepresented in Ireland, as Irish demands ought to

be accepted as far as possible. Finally, he asked Eden

%1psq., 1087,
#bia,, 1269,

Hrbia,
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to withdrav his motion, and the latter eventually
complied.*” The next dsy Fox inforned the House that
they would soon be considering Irish affairs; so the
ministry had acquired a breathing-space.

Fox's reprimand was hardly likely to conciliate
Irish patriots. Indeed, one member in Westminster
expressed surprise at the claim that Eden's proposal was
equivalent to unconditional English submission.*® Malone,
an Irish Whig who was over in London at this time, sent
Charlemont a copy of Fox's speech with certain passages
underlined. He thought that the government intended to
propose something less than the repeal of the Declaratory
Act, end only do that when an srrangement had been made
to ensure that the Irish would meke no more demsnds.
This, he suspected, would not be done until peace had
been made with America, when the ministry would be in a
much stronger position to negotiate with the Irish
patriots. To make matters worse, he thought that "there
are two or three ... in the cabinet by no means friendly
%o the emancipation of Ireland, Lord Shelburne and, of
course, Dunning and Barre."™*7

451bia., 1264,
461hid., 1259,

47}‘!51\:1:« to Charlemont, April 9th., 1782,
Charlemont MSS, I, 400.




Over in Ireland, however, it was Charles Fox's
intentions which were now suspected. Fitzpatrick told him
of Irish suspicions of his speech, which had
contained some exceptionable expressions, for the
very mention of the words supremacy of England is
enough to inflame this country in its present
ferment.’

In the Irish press, there was some confusion over Fox's

of Eden and mi ion of what he had

said, which caused the Freeman's Journal to publish the
whole of the Westminster dsbate.?

Yet Malone's estimate of the ministry's
intentions was not quite accurate. Both Shelburne and
Fox were willing to grant Irish legislative autonomy in
internal affairs provided that some permenent arrangement
for the future Anglo-Irish relationship, and English
control over Irish external effairs, could be formulated.
Here, however, their accord terminated. Whilst Shelburne
wanted the Irish demands met first, with the negotiation
of a treaty to follow, Fox wanted the treaty negotiated
by parliamentary commissioners simultaneously with the
Trish requests being granted. These opposing views of
‘the manner in which the Irish were to be given legislative

autonony led to a struggle within the cabinet which lasted

48pitopatrick to Pox, April 17th., 1752 Fox
Correspondence, I, 3%.

*95reeman's Journal, April 13-16, 1782,
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until May, when Shelburne's policy was finally accepted.
Fox's desire not to accept the Irish demands until
arrangenents had been made for a permanent settlement
between the two countries explains his strong denunciation
of Eden's proposal for the repeal of the Declaratory Act.
His assessment of the situation was realistic as a
settlement to preclude all future disputes was a more
feasible proposition before the Irish had been given the
right of local self-government., The future was to prove
bim right: the permenent settlement was never made.
Instead, in 1800, the Act of Union destroyed Irish self-
government. Fox's intention to maintain English supremacy
over Irish external legislation explains his caution in
the House of Commons. As a contrast, Shelburne's speeches
in the Upper House were more conciliatory towards the
Irish, demending that their requests for independence be
acctptsd.so

Fox made his position clear to Fitzpatrick a week
after he had secured the withdrawal of Eden's motion.
Neither the repeal of the Declaratory Act nor the

in the i by Poynings Law
were to be admitted immediately as it would be

POpitspatrick to Fox, April 19th., 1782, Lord
Fitzmaurice, The Life of William, Earl of Shelbuma @
vols.; London: Macaillam, 1912), I, 94-95.
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pertuotly i.neonuiutont with the intention of
ntering into a treaty to settle finally the
mtm connection between the two countries to
take any negluz a1l previous to the opening of
that treaty.
To achieve this treaty, Fox was prepared to weit; and
until negotiations had begun, he was determined not to
yield to the Irish request for legislative autonomy.
In the interim, Fox suggested two measures to
strengthen the power of the Irish parliament at the expense
of its Both the way
he applied his Whig beliefs to the Irish situation.

Firstly, he wanted a measure adopted in Ireland similar

to Crewe's Bill in England which prevented government
revenue officers from voting at clactirms.52 This would
reduce government influence at elections. EHe also
proposed the institution of an Irish cabinet council,
presumsbly on the lines of the English cabinet. Without
such an institution, Fox argued, the power of the Irish
executive was concentrated in the hands of officials who
could not be held responsible to the legislature. Such a
state of affairs, present in England during North's

with the ", i and the " led

5lpox to Figgpatrick, April 15th., 1762, Fox
Correspondence, I, 393-39%.

502 5%pox to Fitopatrick, April 13th., 1762, Ibid.,
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o 2 ministry without responsibility to the legislative
pover.” Both of Fox's proposals reflect i\is concern for
the Irish sdministration and his desire to increase the
Irish parlisment's nfluence at the expense of the
executive; but neither were enacted.

The day after Grattan's declaratory address, the
Chief Becretary informed Fox of the state of Irish affairs
and the problems which the Irish government wes encounter-
ing. Fitzpatrick thought that there was now no
alternative to granting the repeal of the Declaratory
Act, whether "right or wrong." All Irishmen considered
+the "whole matter as concluded," in spite of the fact that
Portland had not pledged himself to Irish legislative
autonony.”® However, the Secretary was convinced that the
Irish did not want a complete separation from England;
and he believed that Henry Grattan, whose popularity was
reaching new heights, was probably willing to negotiate
on some parts of the proposed settlement, but not the
repeal of the Declaratory Act. Grattan's willingness to

3Gharles Jenkinson, 1729-1808, Fe vas Secretary
at War in the eloui.ug years of lmh's linish‘y
bolimd !:o hm an influence at Court and with the

ar beyond that to meh his office entitled

him. S!.milar suspicions were directed towards John
Robinson, 1727-1802, who was Juint Secretary to the
Treasury from 1770 to 1782, Both resigned with North in
1782, History of Parlianent s II, 674-678, III, 364-366.

“mupa;rsglgzs to Pox, April 17¢h., 1762, Rox
Correspondence,



negotiate would no doubt encourage Fox; and his
confidence in Grattan was one feature of his comnexion
vith Irish politics throughout these difficult months.’
However, the Secretary warned Fox that decisions

must be mede quickly, as "long debates in your Cabinet
upon these matters will be very dangerous."”® And by
this time, another problem had arisen, concerning Fox's
Irish correspondence:

Respecting the confidential letters you write

me, which you had better never trust to the pa!e,

as we have the misfortune of being here in t

hands of the tools of the last Governme:

there is every reason to suspect that our 1mau

may be opened before they reach us. I wish you

therefore to trust them only in the hands of

messengers.57
Such was one problem encountered by conducting an
unofficial correspondence with the Irish Secretary. And
to make matters worse, Fitzpatrick found Shelburme's
Irish policy ambiguous, when he compared his parliamentary
speeches, conciliatory in nature, to the instructions he
sent to the Irish executive, urging it to maintain English

less the result of the confidence which the c

honour and genius of two great pen, H'z-. Pox mi Hr.

Grattan, inspired in each other, ti

xmmsz;ncls and the skill of numiaclon. l.orﬂ R\unll,
.

pitzpatrick to Fox, April 17th., 1762, Ibid.,

55Yiz: "The adjustmert in Ireland of 1782 was mot
congenial

T1bia., 3%.
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authority in the formulation of a new Anglo-Irish
relationship,”"
The relationship between Henry Grattan and Charles

Pox, and their mutual respect for one another, was soon
confirmed when the Irishmen told Fox of the prineipal
Irish demands. The repeel of the Declaratory Act, the
amendment of Poynings Law and the alteration of the
perpetusl Mutiny Act were essential; and, Grattan continued,

We have defined our desires and limited them, and

committed ourselves to what is indispensable to

our freedom; and have this further argument, that

you have thought it indispensasble to yom.%
In this way, Grattan carefully stressed the common
identity of the principles held by the Irish patriots and
Charles Fox. Simultaneously he reminded Fox that the
Volunteers had not appeared armed outside the Irish
parliament when the declaratory address was presented on
April 16th., in contrast to the free trade amendment in
October, 1779, when the streets of Dublin had been lined
with Volunt;eora.eo This would no doubt encourage Fox, as
the threat of the armed associations remained an important
factor in his desire for a permanent settlement of the

Anglo-Irish dispute. Indeed, the longer the Volunteers

rbid., 3%9.
5%rattan to Pox, April 18th., 1782, Ibid., 403.

S0rpig,, 407.



continued, the more anxious Fox became.

Charles Fox had to remind the Irishman that he
was not personally responsible for the ministry's Irish
policy; hence "it would be very imprudent in me ... to
give any direct opinion upon the various points which

w61

make the subject of your letter. In general terms,

however, he urged the necessity of a final settlement:
Whatever settlement is made may be so mde as
to preclude all future occasions of
between two nations upon whose mutual mufm tg5
of both so depends.

Although he did not make any concrete proposals, the

broad outlines of his solution to the problem of the
Anglo-Irish relationship were clear. Believing the
interests of the two countries to be the same, and
refusing to accept any idea of separation, he wanted a
settlement to solve the problem once and for all, and not
be merely a prelude to further conflict. As an English-
man, he vanted a close connexion between England and
TIrelend; but,

That this connexion may be such as mey consist

with the liberty and happiness of Ireland, I

must wish as a Whig. and as one who prorasses

to hold the natural rights of menkind far more
sa than any local prejudices whatever.63

Slpox to Grattan, April 27th., 1782, Ibid., 409,
rpia,
S31pia., 410,
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So, Fox was prepared to be generous and libersl to the
Irish in his pursuit of a settlement; and he was prepared
to vait until this arrangement had been formulated before
he acceded to Irish demands for autonomy.

By the end of April, however, Fox's Irish
participation had angered Shelburne and had intensified
the divisions in the coalition. Not only was Fox
clashing with the Colonial Secretary over the negotiation
of a treaty with France and America, but Shelburne also
objected to Pox's Irish involvement. As Pox told the
Irish Ssmtu‘y;

Shelburne shows himself more and more every dny;

is ridiculously jealous of my encroaching on his

department, and wishes very much to emcroach on

mine, He ﬁaz-dl,y liked my having a letter from

Grattan, or my having written one to Lord

Charlenont .64
Dispute over the responsibility for the formulation of
the Irish arrengement wes one of a number of issues which
were destroying the Whig coalition; and Fox now
prophesied an early departure of the Rockinghams from
office.% Yet before this happened, he vas determined
to do his utmost to influence Irish developments in order
to achieve some sort of agreement between the two
countries. He believed that no peaceful Anglo-Irish

ouoted in Lescelles, op. eit., p. 9.

S1bia,



relationship could ensue without this arrangement, end

to otiate it he the of
perlismentary commissioners. The purpose of the
reciprocal agreement was twofold:
My opinion is clear for pvins them all that

they ask, but for giving it them so as to _secure

us from further demands and uc the same time to

have some clear understanding with respect to

what we are to expect from Ireland in return for

the protection and assistance which she receives

from those fleets m& cost us such encrmous

sums and ber nothing.
Any more disputes, Fox thought, would end in the ultimate
separation of England and Ireland which he was determined
to avoid. More specifically, he wanted an Irish
imperial contribution, a measure which Pitt tried to
establish in 1785 with his commercial propositions. In
Fox's thinking, then, Ireland was to continue as part of
the Empire, subject to the Navigation Code. At the same
time, he was optimistic that the arrangement could be made
without too much difficulty.

This was not to be the case, and his policy of

deliberation worried some of the Irish patriots. This
concern was echoed by the Freeman's Journal towards the

end of April:

S8z0x to, Figapatrick, April 26th., 1782, Pox
Correspondence, I, 412,
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The affairs of Ireland have for the last week

produced very serious debates in the new

Cabinet... Temerity and delay, though opposite

causes in politics, generally produce similar

effects.67
Yet the Duke of Portland shared Fox's optimism: he
thought that a reciprocal agreement between the two
countries could be made so long as the government
promised the settlement of the Irish demands rirst.ss
However, as this was not Fox's intention, Portland, like
Fitzpatrick, warned him not to deliberate for too long.
Unless decisions were made quickly, Irish government would
become impossible.

Yet Fox became even more resolved to wait for

further Irish information on the possibilities of a

1 when the Lord Lieut 1t
the Irish parliament early in Mey. On May llth. he wrote:

I really begin to have hopes that this business

will terminate better than I had expected; and

that with a concession of internal legislation

as a prelininary accompanied with a modification

of Poynings Law and of a temporary Mutiny Bill,

we may be able to treat of other matters so
amicably as to produce an errengement that vill o
preserve the connection between the two countries.

7preenan's Journal, April 27-30, 1762,

©8py, riland o Tox, April 26th., 1762, Fos
Correspondence, I,

9ox o Pitzpatrick, Mey 11th., 1782, Ibid.,
417-418,
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By "internal legislation" Fox meant essentially local

Irish self-g ; s the of

"other matters" would include the question of an Irish
imperial contribution and the negotiation of a settlement
between the two countries to guarantee English rights of
external legislation, especially in regard to commerce.

Three days later the cabinet metto consider the
Irish business;’" and the conflict between Fox end

Shelburne over the question of granting Irish legislative

autonony before or i to a
vas decided in fsvour of Shelburme's policy.”> This
decision came just in time as Fox's position on the Irish
demands vas already in dispute in the Dublin press.

In Westminster, Fox had complimented the
Volunteers and the Irish opposition, and this had met with
a favourable response in Ireland, convincing many that he
intended to accede to all the Irish demands. The
Freeman's Journal, however, remained sceptical of Fox's
policy of deliberation, and warned the patriots against
putting too such faith in his manceuvres. As thab paper

rather amusingly put it,

T%ox to Carlisle, May 14th., 1782, Oarlisle
HSS, p. 629. —

n,
Tucan to Pery, May 15th., 1782, Ealy MSS
©. 168; Harlow, opcit.s I, 536, & "



When the fox in the fable saw a raven with a loaf

of the loaf was the consequence of the compliment
It will be your case if you be too uudnlonu.
you change your plan until it be crowned with
success, may the fate of fools be your lot and may
a Fox outwit a simpleton.

So Fox's intentions were not to be trusted; and it was
argued that he had changed his beliefs when he joined the
government from those which he had held in opposition.
Edmund Burke was similarly criticized. Indeed,
Edmund and Charles blustered for Ireland when
the North wind blew in their teeth., Now that
they rule the weather, the one is silent, the
nthor pays compliments, whilst Ireland's barque
is sinking, They formerly looked one way; now
they steer another.7>
Yet there was no agreement; and Fox's Irish supporters
argued that his praise of the Volunteers proved that he
intended to grant the Irish demsnds.’®
Once the cabinet had decided to accept Irish
legislative autonomy, Fox was compelled to recommend the
repeal of the Declaratory Act in the House of Commons.

As with all his speeches on the Irish question over the

7Freeman's Journal, May 18-21, 1782,

73Tpid, Bamund Burke, who had been particularly
active in the Irish Catholic Telief movement of 1778 an

the free trade agitation of 1779 seems to have played
little part in the Irish affairs of the governments in
1762 and 1783. See Mahoney, ob. cit., pp. 131, 138

P reenan's Journal, Mey 18-21, 1782,



past few years, he severely criticized North's Irish
policies. More important, he introduced into public
debate the concept of internal and external legislation.
The Declaratory Act "would never have given umbrage to
eny part of the British Empire if it had been used
solely for the good of the Empire, But in America and
Ireland this power of external legislation had been
hitherto employed for the purpose only of oppressing and
distressing.”’” Charles Fox bad not opposed the
Declaratory Act as relating to the American colonies; but
he had alvays made a distinction between external and
internal legislation. The Declaratory Act, as Fox saw
it, only gave England the right of external legislation
over America and Ireland. The Irish, he claimed, had
not complained of the theoretical basis of English
supremacy, only of its practical application. This had
been demonstrated in 1778, when Lord Forth had changed
his mind over the proposed resolutions for giving Ireland
free trade, resulting in insignificant measures being
granted to the Irish in that year. Twelve months later,
however, North had been threatened by the force of the
Volunteers, and was compelled to give Ireland much more
than she had previously desirsd.76 This was an example to

75par1. Eist., TIII, 21-22,
Pmbia,
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Fox of the way in which Lord Forth had wrongly exercised
England's right of external legislation over Ireland.
All the same, Pox said that he would accept the
repeal of the Declaratory Act as relating to Ireland as
it was 2 just and reasonable request; and "for his part,
he had rather see Ireland totally separated from the
Crown of England than kept in obedience only by lox‘ca."w
As his greatest snxiety was over the possibility of a
total separation of the two countries, a fear which was
to become even more acute in the following year, it can
be assumed here that he was trying to forestall possible
Irish suspicions of his speech. It is not an accurate
representation of his Irish poliey in 1782.7%
As with the Declaratory Act, so with Poynings Law,

Fox argued that the Irish would never have complained of
it if it had not been "abused”; but on the demand for
the amendment of the perpetual Mutiny Act, he was
uncompromising, He honestly declared that

if the Irish had never mentioned this law among

iy, 5o.an Bpghishoany S0 havo Tecommerged the-

repeal of it..
This he had done in 1781.

7'7mc1., 23,
Rei cit., p. 142, and Lsacolles .
cit., p. mo, uolel'eggh!s qnatgtion.'vhich is o
‘misleading.

7par), Hist., IXIII, 25.
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To establish the Anglo-Irish connexion on 2 firm
basis, Fox announced that in the future a treaty might be
mede which would, hopefully, forestall further Irish
demands; and he moved 2 resolution to that effect,
‘together with one for the repeal of the Declaratory Act.m
The nature of the treaty, however, was not specified.

Both of these resolutions were accepted

1y, and Burke's was that "Fox

handled the delicate business imecomparably wall."sl The
repeal of the Declaratory Act was held to establish the
sole right of the Irish parliament to legislate for
Ireland and also gave the powers of final jurisdiction to
the Irish House of Lords. However, it was tacitly
understood by Fox and the government that Westminster
still hed the right of external legislation over
Trelend,® On May 27%h., vhen the Trish parliament
assembled, it was informed by the Lord Lieutenant that
the demands for legislative independence were to be met.
Subsequently, in the Irish legislature, Poynings Law was
modified: the Irish executive and Privy Council lost 21l

8034, , 34,

Blpynke to Portland, May 25th., 1782, Burke
Correspondence, IV, 454-455.

azPeter Jupp, "Earl Temple's Viceroyalty and the
Question of Renunciation 1;52-1785-" Irish Historical
Studies, ZVIT, No. €8 (1371), 503. @ — —
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power to originste or alter Bills. In future, only the
legislature was to draw up the Bills and transmit them
to England. Once in England, the English executive could
only aceept or reject the Bills; it thereby lost the
pover to alter them, although the King retained the power
of veto.

As Professor Beckett has shown, this modification
of Poynings Law was, in practice, equivalent to a repeal,
as British ministers proved reluctant to use their power
of veto.? Hovever, the Irish erecutive was still
responsible to the executive in England. It was this
shortcoming in the comstitution of 1782, the
responsibility of the Irish executive to the English
executive and not to the Irish legislature, which was to
be of crucial importance in Fox's Irish partiecipation in
the future, as he formulated his political beliefs and

ideas around the 1 of the

of the executive power. An Irish executive responsible
to the English ministry, however, was acceptable to Fox
in 1782, He could not foresee the workings of the new
constitutionsl arrengement in Ireland whilst in England
bis political views were not that crystallized or
definite., Host important of all was his fear of a

Zeckett, "Anglo-Trish Relations,” pp. 23-25.
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separation of the two countries: this was obviously made
less likely by the 1782 constitution.

In the mesntime, in Ireland, Pox's speech on the
repeal of the Act, and i 8 right of
external legislation, led to his violent denunciation by

the more radical patriots. Fear of his intentions was
enhanced by his second resolution for an Anglo-Irish
treaty, the precise implications of vhich vere obscure.’*
His policy of deliberation had already engendered
suspicions that England did not intend to grant Ireland
her rights;) now, these doubts seem to have been
confirmed by his reference to the doctrine of external
legislation. Thus, in the Irish House of Commons, his
distinction between externsl and internsl legislation was
seen as a "most absund position.”® Presuming thet the
rights of externsl legislation mesnt Westminster's right
to legislate on Irish commercial matters, it was remarked
that

Ireland is said to have a free trade, but the
key of it is in Mr. Fox's pocket.87

- pery to Shelburne, ¥ay 23nd., 1782, Ealy MSS,
Pe .

8 Breenan's Journal, May 14-16, 1782,
861pia., Nay 28-30, 1782.
871bia,
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Sir Henry Cavendish, relative of the Duke of Devonshire,
immediately leapt to Fox's defence: Fox's intentions
"were to make Ireland flourish and then England must
flourish a1s0."®® This assessment vas correct; but it
remained true that Fox had not defined Westminster's
powers of external legislation. As Henry Flood pointed
out, Fox had not given up the "assumption of power" by
Englend over Ireland.’? The result of this Irish

was the movement, an
explicit denunciation by Westminster of all rights over
Irish legislation. This demand had very adverse effects
on Fox's Irish utation and the in

hin by the patriots, which he had consciously tried to

establish during the preceding years.

Fox himself was unhappy with the situation as
the Declaratory Act had been repealed without the opening
of negotistions for a permanent settlement; and Richard

Sherid: his und y Wrote to

echoing Fox's own sentiments and anxieties:

rvia,

e, 1732-1791. Entered the Irish
Comons in 175¢ und sat for the borough of Enniskillen
om 1776, Ee became a Volunteer colonel and was_the
laading protagonist of renunciation in 1782, In 1783-
1784 be sat in Westminster for Winchester and later, from
1786 to 1790, he represented Seaford. D.N.B.




tho' things are pretty quiet now, (thoy) \nll I
doudbt, overturn ell and in the worst

This was & reflection on the defeat of FPox's policy. How
was the second resolution to be implemented now that the
Irish had been given legislative autonomy?

In actual fact, the second resulution never
materialized. Although the Duke of Portland was not
averse to Fox's idea of parliamentary commissioners to
negotiate an Anglo-Irish treaty, Grattan was strongly
opposed to it.91 Consequently, even though in June the
Lord Li was still of ing an Act

which would acknowledge British supremacy in matters of
"state and general emeree,"gg and despite Rockingham's
communication to the Earl of Charlemont that some matters

between England and Ireland would now want

Psheriden to Fitspatrick, Kay 20th., 1782, Ol

§55; Zricey od., mhe Tetsers of Rlohard Brinsle

vols
Richard Brinulay Sherid-n, 1751 1516. Born'in Ireland, he
represented the borough of Stafford in Westminster from
1780 to He was a cloge friend and follower of Fox.
In 1780 he joined the Westminster Association and in 1782
ho became Under-Secretary of State for Foreign Affairs.

He resigned with Fox but joined the coalition in 1783 as
S«cretar: to the Treas\n'y From 1784 he was a leading
opponent William Pi He supported Fox in the
ngmcy crisin and velcoud the French Revolution. He

mained with the Foxites after the outbresk of war in

1795 and opposed the Act of Union, History of Parliament,
III, 431-434,

Ngnelvurne to Portland, April 29th., 1782, and
ortland 5o Sualburms, fey Gih.) 12, Fitzsurice) op. cit.,

%port1and to Shelburne, Juze Gth., 1782, and
Shelburne to Portland, June Oth., 1762, Ibid., 101-103.



105

adjustment,? the idea had to be shelved ss Grattan and
his enthusiastic supporters would not obu.ge.%

Meanwhile among the more radical patriots,
England's right of external legislation was represented
as Fox's doctrine, Henry Grattan was warned by the
Freeman's Journal to take care that "Mr, Fox's doctrine
of external legislation doesn't damn the future commerce
of Ireland." Charles Pox was represented as having
asserted Westminster's right of external legislation in
the "most deliberate mnnar.“% He was also accused by
the of
‘teken advantage of the popularity of the Whig administration
in Dublin to persuade the Irish to be content with the

of having

repeal of the Declaratory Act.w Thus, not only had the

93& m to Char!.emont June 17th., 1782,
Oharlenont 558, 1, 309 ) R

%Pox bad little to do with Portland's attempts in
June and later denounced them as "adopted without
communication or cnnuult, und as suﬂdenly dropt." See
Grattan to Pi ﬂu ruary 14th., 1800, and Fox to
S imatrick, Sebreny doth.. 7%, Box Correspondence, I,
426-434,

%rreesan's Journal, June 4-6, 1782,

%Ibid., June 11-13, 1782,

9Ibid., June 25-27, 1782,
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resolutions for Irish legislative autonomy been passed
in Westminster in the manner which Pox had worked to
avoid, but also his Irish reputation had suffered a
severe setback.

Pox's failure to clarify English rights over
Irish external legislation influenced his Irish policies
in 1783 in his coalition with Lord North. Also, his
attempts to reach an Irish settlement contrasted with his
efforts to reach an agreement with America, over which
issue he resigned at the beginning of July., Fox wished
to agree unconditionally to American independence and
then whilst wished to first
and then grant independence if necessary. So Pox's policy
was the reverse towards America of that towards Ireland;

and the explanation for this seems .0 lie in his concern

for the of a strong Anglo-Irish
This concern had been continually revealed long before he
had joined the government in Harch, 1782, and was to be
strongly emphasised in the following year.

Fox had already been outvoted in the cabinet on
the question of American independence before Rockinghsm's
death on July 1st.%® Tvo days later he sau the King and
proposed Portland as First Lord of the Treasury. ihen

9pox Correspondence, I, 435.
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the King appointed Shelburne as First Minister, Fox
resigned, claiming that Shelburne's appointment was &
departure from the principles on which he had himself
entered ofrice.’? Fe sincerely believed that Shelburne
was pledged to maintain the influence of the Crown.
However, he had also become convinced that the coalition
would not work. The disagreements between him and
Shelburne over proposals for economic reform and the
policies to be adopted towards America and Ireland were
complicated by a mutual distrust which they had for each
other.mo
However, the constitutional importance of Fox's

demand that the Duke of Portland be made First Lord of
the Treasury can scarcely be over-emphasised: it was a
direct and forceful challenge to the royal prerogative
of the choice of ministers, and as such, it did not
pass unnoticed by Shelburne who remarked that

In truth it is taking the executive altogether

out of the King's hands, and placing it in the

hands of a party which, however respectable,
must prove a complete tyranny to everybody else.

P1bia,, 437.

1%ystohell, op. eit., pp. 17-34; Russell, op.
cit., I, 325; Fox torRessonitnee, 1, 43k, v

1005y o1 burne to Harlborough, July th., 1782,
Auckland Correspondence, II, 3-4.
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Unfortunately for Fox, the only other Rockingham
Whig who resigned from the cabinet was Sir John Cavendish,
the Chancellor of the Exchequer, who was replaced by
William Pitt. This lessened the impact of Fox's
docision.mz However, numerous minor office-holders
followed Fox, including Burke and Sheridan. In Ireland,
Portland and Fitzpatrick both resigned, although they
remained in Dublin until the end of the Irish parliamentary

session; and Fi i hesied violent ion to

the "new systn.'m} He found that Shelburne was very
unpopular in Ireland, particularly in the north, which
was still in the forefront of the Volunteer agitation,
because of his insistence that negotiations had to be
undertaken with America before her independence was
recognized. Fox, on the other hand, had wanted American
independence recognized immediately and, according to
Fitzpatrick, was "held in a degree of the highest

estimation from his step on this occasion" by the Irish.m‘

102,

North to Robinson, July 6th., 1782, Abergavenny
M8, p. 53.

ms?itzpatrick to Ossory, July 15th., 1782, Fox
Correspondence, I, 455.

1041p44,, 466,
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Yet Irish suspicions of Fox's intentions had
slready been voiced; and by the time he had become a
member of the government again in 1783, his Irish popular-
ity had suffered a severe blow because of the renunciation
movement. He was unhappy with the granting of Irish
legislative autonomy as no permenent settlement had been
established. The Declaratory Act had been repealed
without reserving England's control over Irish external
legislation. Eis Irish poliey in Rockingham's ministry
had failed, In addition, the Volunteers continued and
increased in influence and to make matters worse, he was
confronted with a renewed series of Irish demands for
economic relief. All these factors combined to make
Charles Fox's Irish policy in 1783 more positive than
at any time hitherto.



CHAPTER IV

A DECLINE IN POPULARITY: THE RENUNCIATION MOVEMENT
AND FOX'S IRISH POLICY IN 1783

While Charles Fox was in opposition to Shelburne's
ministry, from July 1782 to March, 1783, the renunciation
movement swept across Ireland, eventually forcing the
government to yield, In fact, Pox had unwittingly helped
to polarize Irish politics round Gratts: and the "simple
repeal" advocates, who claimed, with Fox, that the repeal
of the Declaratory Act was sufficient to guarantee Irish
legislative autonomy, and the advocates of remuncistion,
led by Henry Flood, who wanted Westminster to make a
formal disavowal of its right to legislate for the Irish.

In the Irish House of Commons, Henry Grattan
attempted to defend Fox's conduct. He argued that Fox
had claimed that England's right of external legislation
was "useful,” but that he had now given up that right

@ . So Irish critici of Fox were x

Many remeined unconvinced, however, and when a motion was
offered to give "the thanks of the House to Hr, Fox for
his late conduct in Parlisment and sacrificing every

¢reensn's Journal, July 20-23, 1782.
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interest for the liberty of the constitution,” it was lost
a5 nobody would second it,2 Instesd, Fox's critics were
eager to emphasise his support for Engleand's power of
external legislation in the American Declaratory Act,
and argued that he understood the Irish Declaratory Act
in the same way.> Fox's supporters in Dublin used a
speech of his at a Middlesex meeting to demonstrate that
he was a supporter of Irish liberties; but this portrayal
was immediately rejected by the Freeman's Journal:

B S e s e e

short niﬁmas Minister of Staceﬁmroduea

into Parliament the doctrine of England's
right to extemal 1 tion and reason on and
support .the said

By August the paper was claiming that Fox believed that

Westminster had the power to make commercial regulations

for Ireland; and the Belfast Volunteers attempted to
Fox's exact i i and his i

between internal and external 1egislation.5

It wvas in this situation that Fox peid his third
visit to Ireland in four years; and as with his previous
visits, it seems probable that his sojourn had a

2mvia.
31bdd., July 25-27, 1782,
*Ibid., dugust 1-3, 1782,

S1bid., August 3-6, 17-20, 1782,
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political as well as a social 1:||x—pt'»u.6 It is likely
that he went to explain his position on the "simple
repeal” and remunciation conflict. Yet the criticisms
continued, and throughout, the theme was the same:
Charles Fox cleimed that Westminster had the power of
Irish external 1ezislatien.7
Thus, Pox's Irish reputation was heevily tarnished

when he joined the government again in 1783, as it was
unclear where he stood on the question of external
legislation. As the remunciation movement gained in
strength and popularity, his attempts to identify his

inei with Irish floundered. Simultaneously,

bis Irish reputation suffered from the failure of many
Irish Whigs to the and of i
side of his resignation in July, and his belief that
Shelburne was intending to increase the influence of the
Crown, The Earl of Charlemont saw the English Whigs

simply in a process of "schism and separation" with the
8
"

onal

party "broken to pieces.' He became even more sceptical

sni torical Manuscripts Commission Re
Manuseripts of the Merquis of Lensdowne (Mnn. BM.5.0.,
s Pe

- 7freenan's Journal, August 27-29, August 29-31,

Ccharlenont ¥SS, I, &1
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of a party alliance between English and Irish Whigs which
Fox had been attempting to forge:

Ireland, I ehougbt ought to be kept as clear

as pos sib from the baneful influence of

English hcﬂon lnd as for parties at hm I

was deternined to be no further connected s

‘them than the service of my country required.
His confidence in Fox and the Whigs, never very strong,
hed been severely shaken. To Charlemont's disapproval,
Grattan, Pox's chief Irish ally, had become a "party men."
Indeed, Grattan

tbou t hinnlf plodgod to the s m ef che

not only
m of tho same ummuiﬂn in England ello.
whether in or out of power; and thus his private
credit and his private sniuosities uniting them-
sulns with party principle he ue, in etlast,
ips even unknown to hiaaolf a party man
As had now become the custom, then, politics and

events in London were profoundly influencing developments
in Dublin; and Earl Temple, Irish Lord ILieutenant under
Shelburne, whose appointment Fox had not approved of,

found hinself overwhelmed by the demand for remunciation.l

Smbia.

‘°md., 80.

1124y Sareh Napier to Lady Susan O'Brien, August
Bth., 1‘752 co\meass of Ilchester and Lord Stavurdsle,
o, The Tse and Lstters of lagy Sarab Lemmor, 1745-1526

@ Tein-
after rofen-ed to u Lennox Correspondence.)
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Shelburne decided to give way and early in 1783 a
Bill was i into . This
secured the popularity of Temple's government; but it

made Fox's Irish reputation even more dubious. Charles
Pox was still seen as the sponsor of the doctrime of -
external legislation, and in October it had been claimed
thet his wish to establish the Anglo-Irish connexion on
a "solid and permanent basis" was proof that further
neasures vere intended by the British government.® So,
by the beginning of 1783, once the intentions of
Shelburne's ministry were known, it was Temple, Shelburne
and Flood who received the admiration of the Irish
patriots, whilst Fox and his adherents were criticized
beyond mnre.n
On the introduction of the Renunciation Bill in
January, 1783, Fox immediately declared that the repeal
of the Declaratory Act was a sufficient safeguard of
Irish autonomy, Repeal, he said, was all "he had ever
conceived as incusbent on this country to Ireland."

prcoman's Journal, October 8-10, October 31-
November 2, 1782,

VUrbid., January 21-23, 1783

Wpary, Hist., OIII, 340
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ion was And he also had
some ominous advice to offer the government:
This business must have an end some time or other;
and the question now was, how should they draw the
line, and where would it be possible for them to
Stop? ... He only wished that Ministers would
come to the resolution of making a stand somewhere,
that they would take the most permenent station.l>
Hoping, as usual, that his speech would not be
misunderstood in Ireland, he accused Shelburne's Irish
administration of courting popularity at the expense of
its predecessor; and he hoped that Ministers "would not,
in any other part of their conduct, render themselves
nove reprehensible than they had done in this,"'S
Pox's rejection of renunciation was the result of
the failure of his own Irish policy in the previous year.
Having been unsuccessful in his efforts to establish an
Anglo-Irish treaty before the granting of Irish
legislative autonomy, he was now extremely anxious over
the ultinate seperation of the two countries.? This
fear had alvays been present in his Irish participation;
now it was preponderant. There was another reason,

however, why he vas unhappy with renunciation: the

1bid., 339.
rpia., 1.

175ee Fox to Northington, November 1st., 1783,
Fox Correspondencs, 11, 163-171.



16

measure implied a criticism of the Rockinghem ministry's
Irish policy. The Rockingham Whigs had merely repealed
the Declarstory Act, and this was now assessed as
inadequate. No one was more susceptible to this
criticism than Charles Fox, in his attempts to incorporate
the Irish movement into his own party and remain in the

of Irish agi Hence his that
Temple's i was buying at the
expense of its predecessor.

Fox's reaction to the Remunciation Bill was
denounced in Ireland. The Patriots accused him of
political expediency:

Tho very mode that will now give complete harmony

0 both ions is condemned by Charles, because

pluu and harmony suit not with his absence from
office. If a bustle is not kept up while he is
out of the Ministry, he will soon sink into
ineffable contempt.l8
In the same vein, he was accused of publicly supporting
the Volunteers purely for his own selfish political
advancement.’® Obviously, then, Cherles Fox was not a
"great friend to Ireland."

Yet the Renunciation Bill did not become law

before the fall of Shelburne's Ministry and the advent of

the Fox-North coalition in March, 1783. So in February,

m?tnm's Journal, January 30-February 1, 1783.

191444, Pebruary 1-8, 1783.
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Henry Gratten wrote anxiously to Pitzpatrick: "It is
reported here that the Opposition in England are become
strong, and that Mr. Fox will come into power. If so,
it is not too late; amend the Irish Bill according to
your own un."m
The prospect of a change of government and Fox's
return to office led to Irish fears that the Renunciation
Bill might be shelved. Lord Lieutenant Temple objected
to Fox's implied criticism of his Irish policy end was
anxious for the success of the Bill.?l Fox himself vas
busy writing to Grattan to see if the Bill could be
cnended.?? Now end ogain patriots argued that as Fox
believed the welfare of the two countries to be closely
connected, then he would let the measure pass to gain
Irish confidence on any terms vhatuoﬂer.zy Usually,
however, scepticism was expressed over the final success
of the measure, coupled with the fear that Fox, who was
not willing to declare Irish legislative independence in

20,
Gmtta.n to Pihpan-ick hmary 1Bth.
fox Commegpondence, Iy k25, ’ Leapeelte,
anuary 1 Huusemvtn Co-nssnm
Manuscripts of JB !ortnene Bsq, (8 wh.,
London lereinaft
urarx-ed to'as Fortesoue I53.)

2 1ng m'ple o0 Grenville, January 27th,, 1783,
February 2nd., 1783, Februm 16th. 785. and March 7th.,
1783, ?mnseue MsS, I, 186, 188, 195,

2neaple to Grenville, March 1st., 1783, Ibid., 198,
preensn's Journal, Pebrusry 6-8, 1783
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the "full and equivocal semse," would reassert Westminster's
pover of external legislation in any government of which
he vas a mesber,”’ In fact,

A

Justly be said that in mo rms instance did he

aminar‘;‘u;:gsgoﬂ?ﬂxs own to znzm.sgm

The story of the coalition between Charles Fox

and Tond North needs no detailed velating here,’® Sutfice
it to say that the Peace Preliminaries with America in
Hovember, 1782, and with France and Spein in January,
1783, were opposed by Fox and North in the Commons on
February 17¢h., 1783.27 A censure of the Prelimineries
ves cerried, and on February 24th., Shelburne resigmed.’®
After six weeks a government was eventually formed under
the Duke of Portland with Charles Fox as Secretary of
State for Poreign Affairs and Ieader of the House of
Commons, and Lord North as Colonial Secretary.

281144, , Pebruary 25-27, 1783.
2mbia,

particularly John Cannon, The Fox-North
Goa}:ltion (Oambﬂdge. Cembridge University Press, 1969),

27Fox Correspondence, II, 13.

®mig., 15.
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Primarily the coslition between Fox and North was
to their i For

North, the coalition forestalled all possibility of
impeachment for the American war, and allowed him to
keep his followers together, as they were very dependent
on Treasury end Mniralty boroughs.? The prospect of

was equally to Fox; but, of
course, he had the sdded inducement that be would again
be in a position to reduce the influence of the Crown.
It must also be remembered that he dominated the politics
of the coalition, more so than he had done in
Rockinghen's ministry.’0

By the end of Pebruery, whilst negotiations to

form a were Tumours were

in Dublin that the Remunciation Bill had been thrown out
of Westminster.’s After all, Fox was not a "sincere
friend to full Trish independence.">> However, on teking
office, Fox found that the Bill had gone 500 far to be
curtailed. It had already been introduced into parliament,

mitenell, op. cit., p. 46.

PRussell, op. git., II, 4

31Frumun‘s Journal, February 27-March 1, 1783,

321hi4,, Hereh 11-13, 1783,



120

end 80, to his disapprobation, it became lav.>> Yet more
Irish criticisms of Pox followed. As he had denounced
the Peace Preliminaries, it was suspected that he intended
to renew the war with France and America; and this could
be of no possible benefit to Irishme'n.” More important,
the popular Loxd L Earl Temple, resi and
Fox was blamed for Temple's depumn.”

Fox's opposition to remmeiation, together with
doubts of his intentions towards England's power of
external legislation, meant that the coalition between
the two former antagonists was more heavily criticized in
Ireland than in England., Professor Mitchell has pointed
out that the public furore against the coalition in
England must not be pre-dated and was largely a product
of the propsgands campaign surrounding the 1784 gemeral
elections. Yet in Ireland this was not the case, and Fox
was exposed to charges of inconsistency in both his English
and his Irish politics. Derogatory comments were published
on his character and his political conduct, whilst his

38ox to Northington, November lst,, 1783, Fox
Correspondence, IT, 164,

gpeenan's Journal, March 20-22, 1783.
351b1a. , March 25-27, April 1-3, 1783,
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Janus distinction between external and internal

legislation demonstrates him to have been an

enemy to the fame and welfare of Ireland.36
He was represented as the "betrayer of the public cause,"
and the "symbol of the political faith of many of our
pseuﬂo-p&tn‘o‘:s“;” end in July, the Freemen's Journal
published the cynicel "Creed of the Man of the People,”
which had previously appeared in the London Evening Post. >
Charles Fox's Irish reputation sank to its lowest point
since his entrance into the ranks of the Opposition in
1774, with criticisms of his juncture with Lord North
stimulated by doubts of his intentions concerning British
supremacy. It was in this antagonistic atmosphere that
he turned his attention to Irish administration.

The Irish situation in 1783 was fraught with
possible danger to the English government. There was an
outery for tariff protection against English imports,
while the Volunteers, still the dominant force in Irish
politics, demanded an extension of the Protestant
franchise and 2 reduction in the power of borough-owners,
now that their parliament had become largely independent
of the English government. With the emergence of both
these demands, Fox's fear of an Anglo-Irish separation

%Ibid., April 1-3, June 19-20, 1763,
31b4., July 19-22, 1783

Pbia,
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reached its climax.

The new Irish Lord Lieutenant was the Earl of
Northington. Although he had little experience of public
affairs, he was a follower of Fox, and the latter seems
$0 have been ible for bis »

Another of Fox's associates, William Windham, a men of
"genuine Whig principles” became Chief Secretary; but he
was soon replaced by Thomas Pelhu.w The Rev, William
Dickson, still another of Fox's close friends, was
eppointed as First Chaplain to Northington, and by the
end of the year he had become bishop of Down.*l Fox
placed a lot of confidence in Grattan, who, together with
the Duke of Leinster, supported the new administration.’?

3Igharlemont ¥SS, I, 100; Hardy,
Yorthington o Yo, Novesber 17th., 1753,
II, 173. Robert Fénley, 2od. Earl of Northington,
178, Entered the Commons for Eampshire in 1768 and
joined the Tods in 1772, D.Ai.B.

*Oharlenont ¥SS, I, 101; ¥rs. H, Bering, ed.,
Tmti_ﬁ'iém 1784-1810 (London: Longuna,
Represe:

Sussex m the Connnu tz'o- 17&) %o 1801, He becme
Surveyor-General of the Ordnance in 1782 under Rockingham
end then Shelburne. He resigned on the neeuaion of the
Pox-North coalition and it was m:ly after

representations from Portland that he scuvttd the Irish
Secretaryship, From 1784 he was in ggpoaition and was to
return to Ireland as Secreb: in 1789 if the xagancy had
neterialized, History of Parlisment, IIT, 2

*lpurke Gorrespondence, V, 91-92.

*Haray ., 1T, 87; Charlemont MSS, I, 110
J,H, Hutchinson tﬂ!us 11 l‘lgy é’iﬂi 1783, HIac r{
Manuscripts Commission Rapurb, Manuscn S ot the Earl cf
nomm chnore (London: H.M.S.0.,

s as Donoughuore M33.) See nlso Burke t:o \ﬂ_ndhsm,
nu Sth., 1763, Burke Gorsaspondence, 7, 91-92.
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Yet Fox's Irish reputation suffered enother severe setback
when Scott and Fitzgibbon, who had never been in the
forefront of the patriot asgitation, were appointed to the

Prime- and the y-Gi 1ship. These
particular appointments made the Earl of Charlemont very
suspicious of the coalition's Irish intentions.

As with Pox's resignation in the previous year,
Charlemont was very scepbical of the "strange and certainly
unnatural” coalition of 1783.“3 He assumed that North
vas controlling Irish patronage, not Fox or Portland,
when Scott and Fitzgibbon took office; and he had little
communication with the Irish administration during 1’785.“
Indeed, Edmund Burke felt obliged to warn Charlemont that
2 guarrel with the government would be very embarrassing,

probably to Fox's to i his
beliefs with those of the patriots.’> However, Fox's
efforts of the previous year to persuade Grattan and
Charlemont to take office achieved a partial success by
their appointment as Irish Privy Councillors. But Fox
was not against the appointments of Scott and Fitazgibbon,

as he was "no enemy to coalitions"; in fact, his only

43oharlenont 1SS, I, 100

W oharlenont MSS, I, 100, 101, 103, 105; Hardy,
2138, Shéstield to Eden, August
7t‘h., 1783. ucklend Corre ondence, I, 57.

“5Burke to Charlemont (1783), Hardy, op. cit., II, 10L.
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proviso with the appointments was that the Lord Lieutenant
was to ensure that they both supported the govex:-nmem;.q6
In 1783, Charles Fox played a prominent pert in the
Irish administration; indeed, Lord John Russell goes as
far as to claim that he vas; in realit;y; the Minister of
Ireland.w He established a regular channel of
communication with the Irish executive and told

the to i from

TLondon:

+s. When you write for instructions on material
points that you or Pelhem would write a private
letter to the Duke of Portland or me, letting us
know how far you consider each Rgint as important
to your plans and arrangements.

Fox was determined to advise the Irish Lord I.,iom;eusm:.“9

Simultaneously, Northington was always anxious to get Fox's
instructions:

I ... most earnestly entreat you, whenever you
think matters are not going in the manner you
would wish, that you would send me an early
notice of I\:, ‘that I may have opportunity of
changing my measures in time, or of satisfying

q'sl‘ox to_Northington, November lst., 1783, Fox
Correspondence, II, 170.

HTrussell, op. cit., II, 4.

%830 to Northington, November 1st., 1783, Fox
Correspondence, II, 167.

AgRussan, op. cit., II, 4.
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you and the Duke of Portlmﬂ, by my reasons, for-
my udhomnce to my own plan ... [But] Government,
vvnld ".lgﬂsgng, cannot do always here as it
Throughout 1783, Fox's Irish policy was positive:
no more Irish concessions were to be allowed. He meintained
this firm stand against both commercial and political
demands.
The free trade concessions of 1779-1780 had done
nothing for Irish trede with Englend, and demands were
now made by the Irish for tariff protection agsinst English
imports. with the ioni
movement: to stremgthen the Irish economy, and thereby

increase government revenue, he suggested to Fox the levy
of additional duties on goods imported into Ireland,
particularly beer and sugar. He also proposed a reduction
of the duty levied in England on Irish woollens to the
same rate as that levied in Ireland on English woollens,
emphasising that the Irish could never compete with the
English woollen manufacture. Similarly he suggested that
the duty on Irish imported bar-iron ought to be the same
as that paid on imported bar-iron in England, again
stressing that this would be no great concession to the
Irish, 5

Ohiorthington to Fox, Noveaber 17%h., 1783, Jox
Correspondence, II, 173-174,

5’1muinmn to Fox, November 18th., 1783, Ibid.,
180-181, o
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Fox rejected these suggestions. He had already
warned Northington to do nothing which might be criticized
by English brewers, thereby revealing the hostile attitude
of English manufacturing interests towards the Irish
econony. And his strong opposition to the more
extensive proposals led to a rebuke from the Lord
Lieutenant:

I must revert to my. old idea. thab u, that the

trade to Ireland being open
regulation bemnnd terpedhnttoukenut
interfere with English trade, and I cannot help
observing that the old notions seem to govern
evm now the King's councils, and that a strong
s about any t advantage
lihly to be gained by Ireland.>’

So Charles Fox rejected the levying of protective
duties for the Irish economy, and revealed his determination
to preserve English advantages in the Irish market. He
was not being inconsistent as he had been unhappy with
the Irish free trade agitation in 1778 and 1779 and had

not the 1 relief in

His the narrow,
prejudiced side of his Whiggery: his forbears had built
up England's commercial monopoly, andte was not prepared
to see the structure dismantled for Ireland's benefit.

- Fox to Nortbington, November 1st., 1763, Ibid.,
5

5llm-r:hi.ng!:m: to Fox, Hovember 18th., 1783, Ibid.,
181-182.
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At the same time, English control of the Irish economy
gave the government s strong weapon if Irish requests
became too demanding, and Fox reminded Northington that
the Irish bad more to fear from the English then the
latter hed from the Irish. He referred specifically to
English protection of the Irish linen trade, as only low
duties were levied on Irish linen imported into England.
The duties could easily be raised by the English

end Fox that England need
not pay Ireland "too much cm.'“

So when Fox thought that the Lord Lieutenant was
meking slight concessions to Ireland, possibly to increase
bis support, he reprimsnded hia for doing so end added
that

This count: glanﬂ] is reduced low enough, God

knows, but depend upon it we shall be tired lt

year after year, we are to hear of granting

something new, or acquies Ln uouthing new,

for the seke of pleasing Ireland.55
Northington denied that he was yielding to Irish demands,
either through negligence or through a desire to gain
popularity, which, he claimed, echoing Fox, had been Earl
Temple's policy. His position, however, was difficult,
particularly because of a "notion of the instability of

- 580x to Northington, November lst., 1783, Ibid.,

Pria,
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Governnent ot hone."”® So Whig fortunes in England
reverberated across the Irish Sea, and the interaction of
the politics of the two countries, which Charles Fox had
done so much to engender, was still ever-present. Yet
the Lord Lieutenant thought that there was amother more
sinister reason for the unstable Irish situation: the
"influence of a secret hand, attempting to undermine
Government here; I mean a secret hand from & high
querter,”” Evidently the opponents of the coalition in
both countries were working together, a junction which
Fox had deliberately fostered during his opposition to
North a few years before. Thus when the Lord Lieutenant
opened the Irish parlisment in October, some of his
political opponents claimed that they supported William
Pitt in Englend.’®

However, Fox's Irish policy in 1783 did include
constructive proposals, He wanted annual instead of
biennial parlismentary sessions to ensure more frequent
meetings of the legislature;sg and he agreed with

- SNorthington to Pox, November 18th., 1783, Ibid.,

71via,
5gardy, op. cit., II, 140.

5%0x o Northington, November 1st., 1783, Pox
Correspondence, II, 166.
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Northington's proposals for the creation of an Irish
Admiralty Court and Post Office, two of the many new
by Irish aut 60 He also

urged an increase in the Regium Donum, thereby revealing
the practical side of his belief in religious tolerstion.’
The government gave this financial subsidy to Protestant
Dissenting ministers as a compensation for their religious
disabilities. Another question which arose in 1783 was
whether treaties and peace preliminaries made by the
English government were to be laid before the Dublin
parliament. Fox thought not, as the result could be the
public expression of differences of opinion between the
two countries; besides, English ministers could only be
responsible to Westminster,®

As the opening of the Irish parliament approached
in the autumn of 1783, Fox intended "to leave the government
of Ireland to its Parliament, exercising the King's
negative only in extraordinary cases, but then with
decision."® England's pover of veto in the 1762
constitution was to be used only with extreme caution.

Oorthington to Fox, November 18th., 1783, Ibid.,

180,
S1¥ox to Northington, November 7th., 1783, Ibid.,

7. ==

- 5280z to Northington, Novesber 1st., 1783, Ibid.,

% Sgnox to Pery, September 12th., 1783, Ealy MSS,
. 178,



Yet his designs were still doubted in Dublin: 2
fepmasicn s el o,
:;JE:.M:(:;W‘ if nct ni{.unished by him,

The continual patriotic suggestion was for Fox to define

what he meant by England's power of external legislation

a8
m. ;wunt i:y s.; vilggogd?:u:m grl appears
interests but also_to her constitutional
interests as well.

Usually it was presumed that Fox's doctrine would be

detrimental to Irish commerce as, if it was applied, "the

trade of Ireland will be as completely shackled as
before;"® and Fox would introduce his doctrine if Irish
opposition increau&.w It was true that the constitution-
el changes cf 1782 had not explicitly reserved England's
powers of external legislation.

Over in England, Pox was not at all sstisfied with
the Irish situation. No reference was made to Ireland in
the King's Speech at the opening of the English

perliament, and Fox confessed:

reenan's Journal, September 4-6, 1763.

5Ibid., September 11-13, 1783,
661bid., September 18-20, 1783,

71bi4., September 11-13, 1783,
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I am really at present so much in doubt whether

it will be wise or not to touch upon a string so

delicate, and have not settled my mind upon t'nesB

proper menner of doing it, if it is to be done.
In fact, he thought that the Irish situation was rapidly
becoming critical.

An assembly of delegates from forty-five Volunteer
corps had met at Lisburne in Ulster at the beginning of
July, and had appointed a committee to contact leading
reformers in both countries to ascertain their views on
parliamentary reform. Fox was not approached because of
his poor reputation among the patriots.se In September,
another meeting had been held at Dungannon, and it was
decided to hold a convention at Dublin on November 10th.,
when the Irish parliament would be in session, to consider
parliamentary reform and draw the government's attention
to it.7°

Bpox 1o Oxsory. November 5th., 1783, Fox
m«nee, II, 2

II, 9%; Mrs, HcTier to Dr. ¥.
Dremen, 1 1785 ié« ammr ) David A, Ghest, ed., The
rnan Letters (Belfast: 0.y 1 ), e i
ex-e after referred to as Drennan Mters.) The
committee wrote to the Duke of Richmond, William Pitt
Dr, Franklin, Dr. Price, Christopher Wyvul, thc Earl of
Charlemont, ﬁenry Grattan and Henry Flood, among others.

s Ptiardy, op. eit., II, 99; Cherlenont MSS, T,
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Charles Pox was not against a discussion of Irish
parlismentary reform; but he would not have it considered
by an armed A The were no
longer necessary now the American war had termineted.

His smbivalence towards the armed organizations, revealed
many times prior to 1783, was now finally dispelled:
‘they must be ﬂnfnhﬂ.‘n

Fox emphatically stated his opinions to Northington
a week before the Dublin convention. The situation was
extremely dangerous:
I want words to express to_you how critical in the
genuine sense of the word I conceive the present
moment to be... Unless they [the Volunteers]
dissolve in a reasonable time, Government, and
even the name of it, must be at an end.72
He had never fully approved of the armed Volunteers
forcing the Irish civil government, and now he demandsd
a determined effort from the Irish executive to defeat
then, The was not to the
and no petition which they might present to perliament
was to be accepted. If they were allowed to continue,

then "all is gone, and our connexion with Ireland is
worse than none at sll."7>

71Fux Correspondence, IT, %, 162,

- 7¥ox to Northington, November lst., 1783, Ibid.,

P1bia, , 165,



133

The Volunteers heightened Fox's fear of the
ultimate separation of England and Ireland; and in this
dangerous state of affairs, he looked to Henry Grattan
for support. Fortunately, Grattan agreed with Fox, and
strongly objected to the Volunteers forcing the Irish
legislature on the question of parliamentary reform; and
as with the renunciation movement of the previous year,
he was opposed by Flood, who was leading the reform
agitation. Fox supported Grattan, reassuring himself
that the Irishman could not see "the present situation
in any other light than that in which I do.” Grattan, he
thought, was bound to the coalition because of his
support for the Rockingham Whigs in 1782 and his
opposition to ten\mciatinn.ﬂ

Fox believed, then, that the Volunteers could be
defeated if the Irish government was resolute and had
the support of Grattan and his followers. His first
reaction to the convention was to prohibit it altogether;
certainly, the Irish parliament was to disown its pro-
ceedings. But the Irish government disagreed.

On the last day of October, General Burgoyne,
commander-in-chief in Ireland, informed Fox that he did
not envisage any "serious commotion" with the proposed

convention, although as a precaution, he had strengthened

P1bia,



the Dublin garrisen.”” Burgoyne did not share Pox's
apprehension over the Volunteer assembly, and he wrote
again, a week later, assuring Fox that no trouble was
upoched.%

On November 10th., the Volunteers met at Dublin
and began what turned out to be a three week convention.
Fox was so afraid of the outcome that he decided not to
recall General Burgoyne, who was a member at Westminster,
to support the India Bill for which he was mustering as
meny votes as possible.”’ And even though the Earl of
Cherlemont had been elected president of the convention,
where he acted as a moderating innuancn,7s Pox urged the
Irish government to pursue the matter in parliament and
disown the i end
Burgoyne, however, still disagreed: it wes not mecessary,
they argued, as by the second week, the convention seemed
t0 be di amidst a of »

75Burgoyne to Fox, October 3lst., 1783, Ibid., 189.
7eBurgoyne to Fox, November Bth., 1783, Ibid., 191. !

- 7780x to Northington, November l4th., 1783, Ibid.,
173.

78Gharlenont 1SS, T, 123-126.

7Burgoyne to Fox, November 17th., 1783, and
Northington to Fox, November 17th., 1783, Fox Correspondence,
II, 193, 174,
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One of the primary reasons for the conflict within
the tion was the stion of a Catholic

vhich vas opposed by Charlemont and numerous other

550 but tne vas also

partly the result of the efforts of the Irish government.
The Irish executive had found little support for Fox's
suggested prohibition of the assembly; so it had
deliberately attempted to confuse the Volunteers'
proceedings, a policy which Northington claimed had been
very arncﬁw.m

However, by the end of the month, Flood had got his
own way at the convention and presented a plan of

refora to The proposal wes
moderate: its purpose was to reduce the power of the
borough-ovners by extending constituency boundaries and
repealing bye-laws which limited the number of vutu‘t;.a2
A1 Protestant L10 freeholders were to have the franchise
in the boroughs, and parlisment was to be elected every

three years. The moderation of the plan would be

Bomrgo e to Fox, November 17th., 1783, Ibid.,
194; Russell, op. cit., ﬁ. 15.

Blyorthington to  Box, Novesber 17th., 1763, oz
um. 11, 175-1

820tConnell, op. cit., p. 386.
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sufficient to quell Fox's suspicions at the beginning of
November when he claimed that "Volunteers, and soon
possibly Volunteers without property will be the only
governzent in Irelend..."®> But in the Irish parliement
the proposal was dealt with in the way Fox had
mmmded.a“ It was opposed on the grounds that it had
originated from an unconstitutional and illegal assembly,
and was u!eated.as Northington wrote to Fox the
following day:

If in conseguence of the wishes on your sid. of

the water I had opposed this meeting by &

measures at an earlier period, I should han had

the prejudices, the opinions and the affections

of a1l men to have combated against.86

The Earl of Charlemont later reflected that the

Volunteers came to be "hated" by the government during

1783;%7 2nd certainly Fox had lost his asbivalence tovards

8%ox to Northington, November 1st., 1783, Fox
Correspondence, II, 165.
1% Msae Burgoyne to Fox, November 17th., 1783, Ibid.,

Brorthington to Fox, Nogeaber 30th.., 1783, Tbid.
185-186; mselm. cit., 11, 2 Ll .

851! hington to Fox, November 30th., 1783, Fox
Corres ondance, II, 186-187.

87harlenont MSS, I, 109.
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them. Yet the distinction between parliamentary reforn
and the manner in which it was discussed and proposed to
parliament helped to prevent a direct conflict between
the Volunteers and the government. There were many
property-holding petriots who objected, with Fox, to the
armed threst to civil gmm-nm-m;.e8 But Fox's foremost
concern was that if the Irish demands and the Volunteers
were not restrained, the result would be the complete
separation of England and Ireland. The necessity to avoid
separation had always been 2 hallmark of Fox's Irish

He had 1y it during the
American war, and whilst in office in 1782, he had

to achieve a 1 to
prevent future Irish demands which, he presumed, would
weaken the Anglo-Irish conmexion. Yet his policy in 1782
had failed, and his lution to defeat the

in 1783 was a reflection of this. His worst fears were
materializing, snd Irish demands were continuing, This
would lead to the ultimate separation of the two
countries, and therefore had to be defeated at all costs.
As one Irish Whig put it, Fox would
lumsnt: ib as the deepest misfortune:of his life
steps then tshn, and whilst he-

vua linutar the two kingdoms should be slganted,
or run the slishcast risque of separation.®

88pia., 1, 135.
a‘)h'ancu Hardy, Hardy, op. cit., II, 136.
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Yet this poliey put Fox in a very difficult position in
Ireland, as noticed by Charlemont:
Singular, indeed, it would have been if under
the administrltim of the ﬂnh of Portland, any
ttempt the Volunteers, or
ﬂ vhen Mr. Pox, the great alnttar of refora in
Bngl d, was secretary of state, an endeavour at
reform should have been deemed so criminal in
Ireland that civil comluiun should have been
hazarded for its punishment.%0
Such were the difficulties encountered by an English Whig
pursuing an Irish policy.

Obviously the English government was relieved with
whe defeat of the convention's proposals; it seemed as if
the Volunteers had at last been cheom.ql But the
coalition's satisfaction was ephemeral. By the end of
December, Charles Fox and Lord Forth had been dismissed
from office and Willism Pitt was First Lord of the
Treasury.

Much has been written about Fox's India Bill,
which transferred the control of the affairs of the East

India Company to by the
and its defeat in the House of Lords through George III's
unscrupulous intervention on December 15th., 1763.%2 4

few days later Fox and North were forced to resign; but

Ogharlenont #S, I, 135.

%L24en to Morton Eden, December Sth., 1783,
Auckland Correspondence, II, élt

. Psee particularly Mitchell, op. cit., p. 64
et sea.
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they still hed a majority in the Commons, which produced
a political and constitutional crisis.

It was now axiomatic that a change of English
governzent would be reflected in the Irish executive
because of the acute interplay of English and Irish
politics over the past few yaus.% Howovur; as Fox
thought Pitt would be forced to relinquish his office
because he did not have the support of the House of
Commons, he urged Northington not to resign before
Westainster re-assembled in Jamiary, 1764.%* But
Northington refused Fox's request, and resigned on January
3rd., although he remained in Dublin until his succe!sor;
the Duke of Rutland, arrived in Flbrusry.95

The Lord Lieutenant claimed that anxiety over
Fox's dismissal was already spreading in Ireland before

n to Morton Eden, December 16th., 1783,
Aucklend Correspondence, I, 6h.

Pox to Northington, December 26th., 1783, Fox
Corre: d.anca, 11, 224; Eden to Morton Eden, December
oy Tuckland Corres dence, I, 70.

Piorthington to Pery, Jam B, 1754, By
B, 1ok T Tomene et hs ot 4
IT,'143, Charles ers, Bth, Duks f.Ruﬁand Tg
Representad Cambridge Um.versity in the House ut Gmons
in 1774 and joined the Lords in 1779. He was one of
Pitt's intimate friends, and served as Lord Privy Seal in
]P;igt;is government before his appointment to Dublin,
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the defeat of the India Bi11;% but Fox's Irish policy
bad lost him a lot of support in thet country in 1782 end
1783. His Irish reputation was never to sink so low
again, He was accused of political inconsistency and
corruption. Charles Fox, the advocate of English reform,
bad opposed the Volunteers' Irish propossls.” The
radical Irish press found his conduct in office very
aifferent from his activities in opposition.’® e vas,
unjustly, blamed for the defeat of Pitt's parliamentary
reforn proposal in Westminster in May, 1783, If he had
persuaded his party to support Pitt, then the proposal
would have been accepted; but his assistance had been
"lukewarm, insincere and nugstory." So,

t}: is veﬁmviﬂonc that Fox regarded the measure

o rvedpeﬁs L p\on-'p = form no longer than it
Hore msmgly, but with some ;]msu, Fox was accused of

the art of "ambi 4" and of "

reasoning--there is no handle to it, neither beginning nor
end, 1% Tt was difficult for Irishmen to ascertain Fox's

to Fox, Noveaber 30th., 1
enehiﬁtnno , Hovesber 30th., 1783, Fox

Tpreenan's Journal, December 27-30, 1783.
%1b14,, Pebruary 26-28, 1784,

91bid., Jenuery 8-10, 1784,

1001434, , Pebruary 17-19, 1784,
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true feelings about parliamentary reform and external
legislation.

Even in England, Fox's politics in 1782 and 1783
were difficult to comprehend. Many people were surprised
by his coalition with North, whom he had viciously
attacked for seven years over the American war. Some
failed to grasp the full implications of his resignation
in July, 1782, dismissing it as an exercise in bitterness
on the spur of the moment, Simultaneously he had en
uneasy relationship with the Association movement for
parliamentary reform. Thus it is hardly surprising that
few Irishmen could understand his manoeuvres in London.
This mede it increasingly difficult for him to maintain
the reputation and association with Irish patriots which
he had established during the Americen war.

After 1783, however, Fox's politics became more
comprehensible. George III's defeat of the India Bill,
and Pitt's accession to power without a majority in the
House of Commons, was the determining factor behind Fox's
later political Eis deepest i of
royal influence had been confirmed, and he repeatedly

attacked the new First Lord of the Treasury before the
dissolution of parliament in March, 1784, Fox's opposition
to Pitt involved two fundamental but related temets:
legislative control of the King and the executive power,
and a belief in the ultimate authority of the House of
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Commons. Both tenets were inherent in the Rockinghem
Whigs' position before the debacle over the India Bill:
they had triumphed in 1782 with the defeat of Lord Forth
in the Commons, and in 1783, Pox, in coslition with

Forth, hed unseated the First Lord of the Treasury and
nominated his successor on the basis of a majority support
in the House of Commons. In the end, Fox's justification
for these executive changes was the authority of the
House of Commons; and the claims he made on behalf of
that body, particularly from January to March, 1784, were
novel and, in 1 terms, 201
Although the ility of the to
parliement had been recognized from the time of Walpole,
it hed never been claimed that the King's ministers were
chosen for him by the party with a parliamentary majority.
Royal selection of ministers had remained intact until
Fox's demand for Pitt's removal because he did not have

‘the support of the lower House.

Pox's clainm for the ultimate authority of the
House of Commons was inseparable from his concept of party:
once the royal choice of ministers was nnnckeﬂ; party
became the only alternative ratification of the claims to

powsr.mz The i of the King's role

10Ly34chell, op. git., Dp. 56-57.

1921454, po. 58, 8.
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in the constitution left a void which could only be
filled by the majority in the Commons.

From January to March, however, Pitt refused to
resign, in spite of Fox's repeated attacks on his
minority government. And in retaliation for Pitt's
obstinacy, Pox made more and more innovatory claims on

behalf of the House of Commons., 0> Contemporaries well

the volatile ituti and political
upheuval;lm but in the end, Fox failed. The coalition
gradually lost votes in the lower House, and parliament
was dissolved in March. In the ensuing election Pitt's
supporters, and Fox's enemies, were returned with a
resounding m;]ority.los Yet Fox had polarized loyalties
round the Crown and the House of Commons in both parliament
and the country, and by holding the Whigs together under

his he his to a reliance

on the final authority of the House of Commons against

the encroaching execm;ive.m6

1031344, , po. 82-85.
10“See, for axumpl;a Earl ot Besshorough,
C

Extracts from the m-re?g e_rguns! Duchess of
evons! ol Ty s DP. .

1°5Histeg of Parliament, I, 87-96.

1083tcne1n, 2,2 Sty - 8691, Mitohell
emphasises that it rthite votes for the coalition
which were steadily deteriorating from January to

1784, suggesting that North's followers succumbed to royal
offers and threats because of their fear that the coalition
might upset the smooth running of government.
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Charles Fox's dominant political principles from
1784 were based on a belief in the development of a party
whose aim was to achieve power and become the government,
the ultimate authority of the House of Commons, and the
fundamental necessity to restrain the executive power.
These principles became the basis of his Irish involvement
until his death in 1806. The Irish executive was not
responsible to the Irish parliament: by the constitution
of 1782, it was still appointed by the English government.
Pox acknowledged the results of this arrangement in
January, 1784, Which of the recent Irish Lord
Lieutenants, he asked the House, "had not found it
impossible to act under ministers on whom they had not
the completest confidence?" %7 The Irish executive vas
appointed by and responsible to the English executive,
not the Irish parliament; and Fox's future Irish
participstion was an attempt to remedy this shortcoming
of the constitution of 1782,

10%par1, Hist., XAIV, 3%.



CHAPTER V

SUCCESS: THE CAMPAIGN AGAINST
THE COMMERCIAL PROPOSITIONS

The experiences of 1782-1783 were decisive for
Fox's future politics. The King's association with
Shelburne in Rockingham's ministry, the coalition's
unscrupulous and arbitrery dismissal by the Crown in
1783, and the continuance of Pitt's executive in power
until April, 178%, with only a minority support in the
House of Commons, made Charles Fox and his followers
angrily determined to consolidate their party in order
%0 restrain and, if possible, defeat the executive power
of George III and William Pitt. The polarization around
support for the King and Pitt's executive, and support
for Fox, the coalition and the Commons, had been bitter,
and the institutionalization of the Whig party in the
later 1780's was primarily motivated by the events of

1 Charles Fox was insistent in his belief

these years.
that Pitt's executive had to be checked and, of fundamental
importance, this included both Pitt's English and Irish

governments. Irish administration became an imtegral part

Leitchell, op. cit., pp. 98-103.
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of Fox's conception of the relationship between the
executive and legislative powers in the constitution. The
accountability of the Irish executive to the legislature
was just as essential as the accountability of the English
executive; and Fox's concern over the activities of the
Irish government was revesled during his successful but
bitter Westminster campaign in the 1784 election.?

Early in 1784, another commercial depression had
struck :[l‘lland.3 The cry for protection, which Fox had
resisted in the previous year, increased, and the Irish
parliament's rejection of a protectionist proposal in
ipril only served to emhance the dissatisfaction,
especially amongst the Dublin pnpulace.“ Rutland's
administration was heavily criticized, particularly in
the press; and Poster's Press Bill was an attempt to
curtail this public hostility, The Bill provided for
the registration of newspaper proprietors, made it a

2ntortunately for Pox, an enquiry was held imto
his Westminster victory which lasted for almost a year;
whilst this was procmung, he m for the Scottish
constituency of Kirkwall. rch, 1785, however, !ns
election for Westminster was accepted and he resumed hi:
representation of England's most popular nmstituaney.
Reid, op. git., p. 205.

%0'Brien, op. cit., p. 245.

“Rutland ¥SS, TII, 86; Hardy, op. cit., II, 146;
0'Brien, o _g.‘ STt vy, 20209, B S
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criminal offence to receive or offer money to print
libels, and prohibited the sale of unstamped newapapera.5
The Irish opposition immediately represented the Bill as
an attack on the freedom of the mas;e and the criticisms
were taken up by the Foxites in their Westminster campaign.
Perhaps this was the first time in English
electoral history that an Irish issue was brought before
the voters. During the Westminster battle, handbills were
circulated against the Irish Press Bill, and fears were
spread that the English press was to be similarly
renricteﬂ.7 A meeting at the Crown and Anchor tavern in
the Strand heard Richard Sheridan denounce the threat to
press freedom by Pitt's Irish executive; eand Charles Fox
was represented throughout the campaign as the "Champion
of the People” of both England and Irelsnd.® Fox nad
been responaible for the commercial concessions of 1779;
and Pitt's government had to be "well-watched and opposed"

in both countries as

5ueky. op. cit., II, 3%.

SMornington to Temple, April 10th., 1784
Fortescue MSS, g‘:228. e b b

Anon,, History of the Westminster Election (London:
Debrett, 1785), D, U% 137, 323-325.,

Srbia., pp. 42-43, 338,



party are now beginning to overwhelm
the peopla A confu!iona and distractions of 11
50

roum: as may esaily be seen by the preaent
state of Dul

In fact, with these iati of the Irish
together with the activities of Pox's Irish Chairmen, his

rather uncouth "campaign managers," Irish politics became
an issue in the Westminster election, adding another
dizension to Fox's activities outside the House.®
Serutiny of the Irish executive's proceedings wes
gradually becoming an integral part of Fox's political
beliefs and conduct. The Westminster election marks
another stage in this process and, as in 1780, it was
covered by the Irish press.’!

Fox's attempts to strengthen the Whig party, then,
incorporated Irish developments. EHe saw both Pitt's
English and Irish executives in the same context after
178%; and when the predominantly Pittite parliament
assembled after the election, he tried to discuss

9Ibid., pp. 42-43, 179,

or the Irish Ghumn see Ibid., pp. 93, 96,
100, 123, 2)1 242, 251; and even poems about Henry Fiood
verz circulated during ch: election campaign, see Ibid.,
. 455,

Upreenan's Journsl, May 22-25, 1784,
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Rutland's activities. The attempt was rebuffed; but

it signified the on of the Irish 's

policies into Fox's concern for the accountability of the
executive puwe.r.

The susceptibility of the Irish government to
English politics was largely the result of Fox's
sctivities since 1775. In 1784, some English statesmen
thought that "it is from Ireland that the minority have
any hopes of some new confusions,” because of Pitt's
strength in Westminster and the relative stability of
English politics compared to the previous yurs.u Others
saw the process in the reverse: as the English political
sitvation was quiescent, then that of Ireland would be
too.* et s11 the
between English and Irish polities.

Because of this delicate situation, Pitt wished
to prevent "all party jealousies and distinctions in
Irelend;"'% and one of his first occupations was to

Lpylteney to Rutland, May 24th., 1784, Rutlend
uss, 11, 97.

- Dpulteney to Rutland, August 20th., 1784, Ibid.,

shelburne to Rutlend, April 3rd., 1784; and Orde
to Rutland, June 3nd., 1784, Ibid., 85, 101.

- 5pe1han to Pery, January 8th., 1784, Enly MSS,
». 181,
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ascertain Rutland's support in the Irish Commons.'® Tord
Sydney, Pitt's Home Secretary, hoped that Irish opposition
would not be influenced by a "fancied comnexion with
English politics.”;17 end in Dublin, Rutland sdopted a
conciliatory policy towards the Irish Whigs., Many
remained in office, in spite of the bitter criticisms of
the Foxite Whigs in England. This indicated that the
changes in Irish administration did not eutomatically
follow the changes in the English government, Charles
Fox in particular wanted the Irish Whigs to oppose Pitt's
Irish executive; but this was difficult to achieve in

face of the conciliatory policy of Pitt and Rutlend.'®
Yet the influential Duke of Leinster would "do whatever
Mr, Fox will desire him at any minute" because he was
"totally attached® to him. The Ponsonby family,

16 7enkinson to Robinson, February l4th,, 1784
Abergavenny MSS, oP. 66-67, 1In May, 1784, the Irish Commons
o5 ST3eaTHIeT ae

For government 184
Agu 15t.. 74
oubt:
with 1 abscnt ,
Historical Hamnscxiptu Co-u!ien Raport s of

Pnilip Vernon Smith Esq. (London: H.M.. s sy s p. 3.
lﬂan&mu‘ Teferred %o as Smith ¥ss.)

175yiney to Rutland, March 9th., 1784, Rutlend
s, 11T, 79,

18,0, Temedy, "Tte. Imh nigs, 1789 5o 175"
'oronto,
1971), 0. 25-35. '
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meanvhile, "waited for orders from the Duke of Portland."'%
In this situation, Pitt had to ensure that he did not
arouse Irish opposition as the consequences could be
disastrous to both his English and Irish govarnuentuao
and this danger lay beneath the surface of Fox's campaign
against the commercial propositions in 1785.

Charles Fox, more than any other English
politician, realized the importance of the new comnexion
between English and Irish politics; indeed, he was
largely responsible for it, The Earl of Mornington warned
the Lord Lieutenant that "Fox hes said that he expects his
harvest from Ireland.” The noble Earl found this a
"most disbolical expression," and hoped that "Fox's
expectations from that quarter® would be defested.2l

Rutland, however, doubted Fox's optimism.zz

A11 the same,
Fox's popular opposition to Pitt, his Westminster
campaign and his censure of Rutland's executive had

increased his Irish popularity. The fall of his

Lserestord to Robinson, April 11th., 1784,
Beresford, op. cit., IT, 253-254

2gyt)and WSS, 11, 125.

- Lyornington to Rutland, May 3lst., 1784, Ibid.,

0 Pitt, J:ne 16th., 178, Lord Mahon,

Zrutiand
ed., Correspondence between the Ri ononrahle William
11’ and Eg Duke of Rutland, 1781-1787 (London: Blackwood,
’
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reputation in the previous year was slowly being reversed,
even though more radical patriots, such as Sir Edward
Newenhan, still refused to give hin their confidence.’>

The two most pressing Irish problems in 1784 were
the continuing demands for parliamentary reform and for
protective duties against English imports, the latter of
which was to lead to Pitt's commercial propositions.

Flood's representative reform Bill was rejected
in 1784;2% but slthough the Irish government opposed the
demand, Pitt was more tolerant and saw it as a possible
corollary to his commercial proposels.’” Heanvhile, the
demand for veforn continued in the country at large.’®
Meetings were held in Dublin, a committee was established,
and local county sheriffs were invited to arrange the

election of delegates to a convention to be held in Dublin

Ziiles to Newenham, June 16th., 1784; snd
Iﬁgeg!ﬁm to Miles, July 3rd., 1784, Rutiand WSS, I1T, 108,

Mgardy op. sit., 11, 145; Syliey to Rutland,
Yangh i, 1784, RatTand 58, T1f, 79; Johmston, op. cit.,
p. 271,

Stecky, op. cit., II, 134153 Jokm Shwwan, ke
founger Pitt (London: Gonstable, 19699, 200,

6Gampbell to Charlenont, December 25th., 1784,
Cherlenont ¥SS, 11, 16,
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in 0ctober.27 Fox was to be invited to the convention,
showing perhaps an increase in his Irish popularity; but
this never matsrialized.ze However, some Irish radicals
objected to Fox's participation, reminding the public
that he had only used the reform issue to attain office,
and bad then relinquished his support for it.29

With or without Charles Fox, the assembly met at
Dublin in October and sgain in January, 1785, when
Christopher Wyvill, the English reformer, attended.’® In
the interim, however, the Irish Attorney-General had
proceeded against the high sheriff of the county of Dublin
for summoning a meeting to elect convention delegates.
The sheriff was fined through the judicial procedure of

"attachment" without the intervention of a jury.}l

2Thecky, op. cit., II, 399-200.
28preenan's Journal, October 5-7, 1784,
1bia,

”The Tiges (London), February 9, e, Uil
January e Tines was known as The D ily
Universal Re%ster, But_for reasons of consis ency, it

as been refe: to solely as The Times.

31T!le case aEsinst the sheriff was undertaken
before the Court of King's Bench and the legality of the

proceeding was questioned by a number of lawyers on both
sides of the Irish Sea. Lecky, op. cit., II, 400.
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The rights of juries was one of Fox's favourite
principles, demonstrated in 1792 with his Libel Act. He
was alvays for the of 1
liberties, particularly in the courts; and he denounced
the proceedings against the sheriff of Dublin as a

violation of the rights of juries, The proceedings were
simultaneously criticized in College Green by his cousin
Lord Bdvard Fitsgerald end Henry Flood.>> Thus, both
London and Dublin parlisments were attempting to cemsure
the Irish government's judicial proceedings; and in the
process, the familial relationship between English and
Trish politicians was revealed. As The Times put it:

Femilial connections seem to be rent asunder in
‘the present whirlwind of political disputes.

nephews, ¥r. Fox, the Duke of Leinster
Tord Edvard Fitzgerald are in opposition.>3

Fox was blamed for Leinster's opposition in Dublin, and
the cousins' mutual opposition to Pitt's commercial
resolutions was a characteristic feature of Anglo-Irish

polities in 1785.“

32phe Tines, Jamuery 26, January 28, 1765.

P1bid., Pebruary 1, 1785,

April 7-9, 1785. In the of 1784,
Journal cl sides and beea- a smmle wspaper.

Brian Inglis, The Freedom of the Press in Ireland, 1784
1841 (London! Faber, s Do 30

Mprooman's Journal, al, Jomazy 25-27, azsh 10:12,
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The concessions of 1779-1780 had opened colonial
trade to the Irish and had removed the prohibitions on
the export of Irish glass and woollens. Two years later,
the constitutional changes gave the Irish executive the
freedon to regulate her trade with foreign countries by
treaty. However, the East India Company's monopoly
remained intact and the Irish were not allowed to re-
export colonial products to Britain. Most important, the
old difficulties of Anglo-Irish trade remained: heavy
duties restricted Irish exports to England, except linen
and provisions, while most English products entered Ireland
at a low rate of duty. In 1784, the Irish perliament
rejected a proposal for protective Irish tariffs as many
members were afraid to offend the English government, with
the possible consequences of an Anglo-Irish tariff war in
which Irish linen particularly would suffer.’’ However,
in May, 1784, the Dublin parlisment unanimously voted an
address for a more liberal arrangement of Anglo-Irish
conmerce.

William Pitt's commercial propositions were
intsnded to allay this clamour for protection in one of
England's best markets.’® Simultaneously he vas given

5Rut1and WSS, III, 79; O'Brien, op. cit.,

. 248,

55trauss, op. cit., v. 56.
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an to settle, y the Anglo-Irish
relationship, which the Whigs, and Fox in particular, had

intended in 1782, The fundamental question was: how were
the Irish, with their measure of independence which had
been acknowledged in 1782, to remain loyally and
permenently attached to England if they were dissatisfied
with Anglo-Irish commercial intercourse?

The Irish government's proposals, drawn up largely
by Secretary Orde and Chancellor of the Exchequer John
Foster were presented to Pitt in the sutumn of 1784, They
consisted essentially of a revision of the Navigation Acts
and the institution of protective measures for the Irish
home merket,’ Pitt, however, intendsd a more grandiose
scheme, He would give numerous commercial advantages to
the Irish in return for an imperial contribution to naval
defence. The Irish hereditary revenue fund, which
consisted largely of customs and excise duties, would
provide the contribution; so, as Irish commerce increased,

the naval contribution would correspondingly increase.

These principles were embodied in ten commercial propositions

presented to the Irish Commons in February, 1785.3°

37Shrman, op. eit., p. 199.

8 with
are in 0'Brien, op. it., pp. 250-252.
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The A amended the i Code and

gave a number of advantages to the Irish in their
commercial intercourse with England. After North's
concessions, the Irish were still prohibited from sending
colonial products from Ireland to England and had to take
them directly to England. Now it was proposed that all
foreign and colonial products could pass between England
and Ireland without eny increase in duty. No prohibitions
were to exist against the importation of products of the
respective countries. If import duties were levied, they
were to be reduced in the country in which they were
highest, usually England, to that in which they were the
lowest. Similarly, no prohibition or additional duties
were to be imposed by either country on the products of
the other; and export bounties were prohibited, except
on corn, meal, flour, malt and biscuits. To encourage
English and Irish products, foreign imgorts were to be
controlled from time to time, Finally, it was provided
that whenever the Irish revenue exceeded a certain sum,
not initially specified, then the surplus would
automatically be applied to the maintenance of the imperial
navy, in a manner directed by the Irish parliament.

Irish opposition to the imperial contribution led
the government to make a tacticel amendment. An additional

vas i the principle of
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a balanced budget and the original proposition for the
naval contribution was emended. In its final form, it
was stipulated that when the hereditary revenue exceeded
1656,000, the surplus was to be given to naval defence;
but in wartime, a contribution was to be submitted even
if there was a deficit.

Therefore, although the Lord Lieutenant and others
bed continually warned Pi’+ of the danger of the
imposition of en Irish imperial contribution, it wes
accepted, albeit in an amended form; and all in all, Pitt
offered liberal concessions to Irish emreo.” id
these original propositions had been accepted in England,
then both countries would have been unified in commercial
matters, there would have been a great reduction in the
protective level in each country, and the English
government would, it was hoped, have been guaranteed an
enmual Trish imperial contribution.*

However, the parliamentary opposition led by
Charles Pox,and numerous English manufacturers and mer-
chants outside the House, were not prepared to accept
Pitt's proposals. Fox refused to allow greater Irish
participation in imperial trade, and although many

Pput1end M3, III, 147-155.,

®strauss, op. eit., p. 58.
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manufacturers were prepared to forgo restrictive duties
sgainst Trish imports, they insisted on Irish conformity
t0 English trade and navigation lews.*! This coubined
opposition forced a modification of the proposels; but
even then they were rejected by Fox. Pitt's majority
ensured their passage; and in the summer they were sent
to the Irish parliament for its consent. In August,

hovever, Irish ion to the amended led to
their withdrawal by the government, snd despite rumours
to the contrary, they were never subsequently revived.
Charles Fox dominated the discussions on the
arrangement during 1785; in fact, many Whigs had already
left London before the end of the parliamentary nessiun.ae

Fox's i i with 1

ability, also had a vital effect on the Irish reception
of the revised propositions in July and August.

the ign, leading in London and
Dublin saw Charles Fox as the prominent opponent of
Pitt's arrangement; and his hostility was denounced

*lgarlow, op. git., I, 593-597.

*purteney to Butlaod, May 2cth., 1785, Butlend
III, 208. Richard &an 1 opponent
F!'& 5 scheme. For his pu-ticxpatwn see 'l'hmua Hoore,
Memoirs of the Life ot the Right Honoux-uble Biehard

To., I&), 1, 275. (Bcreuan:or reformd 1o as Shariﬂm )
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first by contemporaries and later by historians.’
Edmund Burke has suffered a similar fate at the hands of
his biographers. He voted with Fox against the
propositions although he played little part in the
debates; moreover, he was particularly vulnerable to
criticism because of his support for Irish free trade in
1778 end 1779.%*

Yet Fox's case was different. During North's
ministry he had avoided teking up Irish commercial
grievances. When this was impossible, he had blamed the
government for Irish commercial distress, not the
commercial restrictions embodied in the Navigation Code.
In 1782 he had worked hard for an Anglo-Irish agreement
to ensure an Irish imperisl contribution, Pitt's proposals
guaranteed this; but Pox's proposed exchange was the
constitution of 1782, not increased Irish participation
in imperial trade. In the following year he had
rejected Northington's proposals for Irish protective
duties and had stressed English control of the Irish

r example see Lascelles, op. cit., p. 176.
Harlow, op. eit., I, 591, sees Fox s tactics pematod
vith "malice ud miscl el-uﬁn . cit. p. 23,
Ciakus oot Ton "ratulessly s irzesporsloly esptolt
anti-Irish projudieu in England an in stead of oxmising
0ld hatreds he made volitic!l G!pital out of them.,"

Corre: ence, V, 221. Mahoney, . cit.
». 31 e AR "ehooking s it

315,
was inexcusable,"



161

economy through the importation of Irish linen. So, by
1785, Fox had already taken a strong stand against Irish
conmercial demands.

Similarly, to dismiss Pox's opposition as
"jrresponsible” fails to grasp Fox's determination to
oppose Pitt, particularly on issues on which the government
vas vulnerable.> One such issue was the proposed Anglo-
Irish errengement. Neither must it be forgotten that Fox
had been involved in all the major Irish discussions in
Westminster in the past ten years except the free trade
concessions in 1778, In office he had played & dominant
part in the Irish administration; and he was nmever to
forget that it was the Rockingham Whigs who gave the
Irish legislative autonomy in 1782, Indeed, during the
Anglo-French war he was to acknovledge proudly his
personel responsibility for Irish sutonomy.

Pitt i the i in
after they had been accepted by the Trish perlisment.’®

Pox did not approve of this manner of proceeding, and
thought it "highly indecent and disrespectful."*’ FHe
vas not merely quibbling: he was determined to assert

Siitchell, op. cit., pp. 101-102,
6par1, Rist., XIV, 1414-1415.

*71bia., xxv, 332,
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Westminster's superiority in commercial matters, and felt

that Pitt had undermined this. The Times agreed and

accused Pitt of sacrificing "the honour and precedence of
England to :Ereland."“B But this was only the beginning.
Fox found that

The whole tendency of the propositions appeared

to him to go to the length of appointing Ireland

the sole guardian of the laws of navigetion and

grand arbitress of all the commercial interests

of the empire; a trust which he felt no sort of

inclination to part with out of our own hands;

not even to delegate to Ireland, of whose

generosity, loyalty and grahﬁg e no men

encertame& a higher opinion.'
This was Fox's initial summary of Pitt's arrangement
which, he found, went to an "extravagant length of
concession” to the Irish,”®

Pox rejected further Irish participation in

imperial trade, assuming, under the proposals, that
Ireland would probably become the commercial centre of
the empire, He emphasised particularly the danger of
smuggling: foreign and colonial products would be
smuggled into Ireland and then re-exported into England
in Irish or British ships. In this way the Irish would

avoid paying duty on the initial direct importation, but

“80me Times, Pebruary 21, 1785.

49par1, Hist., XXV, 333.

Orvid., 334



163

would receive a drawback on the actual rate of duty when
the products were re-exported to England. To strengthen
his arguments, Pox referred to North's concessions of
1779. These measures, he pointed out, had been supported
by Camden, Richmond and Sydney, who were all now members
of Pitt's ministry; yet none of them had intended to
concede in 1779 as nuch as Pitt now mpoued.51
Fox took the of a discus-

sion on Irish affeirs to criticize Rutland's executive,
He had 1y this in in
the previous year; and now he accused the Irish government
of acting unconstitutionally in trying to prevent the

meetings to elect delegates for the parliamentary reform
wnvsntion.sz He hoped that Pitt was not trying to
pacify the Irish opposition at the expense of English
conmerce and navigetion by far-reaching Irish commercial
concessions.”

However, Fox's opposition was not immediately
successful. At the beginning of the year, Pitt had
appointed a committee of the Privy Council to canvass the
opinions of British manufacturers and merchants on his
proposals for reciprocal duties between England and

1bia.
1bia., 335,

SBrpia,
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Ireland; and the committee's reports were favm.\ral:ls.54

S0, at the beginning of March, Pitt that he
would have the resolutions put to the vote within a week,
unless fresh evidence contrary to his proposels appeared.
Unfortunately for the government, however, the

committee had omitted reference to the Navigation Acts;
and it was the fundamental alteration to these Acts,
embodied in the arrangement, which was causing concern
and scepticism among many English manufacturers and
merchants. Fox, aware of this groving anxiety, objected
to voting on the resolutions. Instead, he asked for
more information on Irish opinion, claiming that there
was a great difference between the Irish declaring
voluntarily, on their own initiative, what they wanted,
and that of their accepting propositions introduced into
their parliament by the English execubive.” He blamed
the governments of both countries for the situation which
had now been reached:

<o« ministers at home and the ministers in

Ireland had led the parliaments of the two

countries into the strange situation of

holding a_gifferent language on the same
business.. 5%1

Sentmen, op. cit., p. 206,

Sperl. Hist., XV, 344-346.

FIbia., 346-347.
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His suggested proceeding was for the "two Parliaments to
have separately resolved what each was disposed to give."57

Meanwhile manufacturing and commercial opposition
to the proposals was increasing; and Fox encouraged it.
He supported a petition from Liverpool merchants, the
egsence of which was to restrict British markets to
British merchants and thereby limit Irish part:ic:hzat:im;.58
Petitions were filtering into Westminster from all over
the country, West Indian merchants were particularly
worried and the "Great Chamber of Manufacturers” was
organized in London to oppose Pitt's srrangemont.59

The threat to the Navigation Code was causing the
most concern. In February, Lord Sheffield had published
a pamphlet which illuminated the threat to the Code if
the propositions were accepted; and on Harch 10th., Fox
announced that

T et £ e

permitted to be gsonght into Great Britain
through Ireland.

The of the on this. He
vanted the menufacturers and merchants who had been

71bia,

Prvia., #9.
593hmn, op. cit., p. 207.
0par1, Hist., XAV, 351.
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called before the Privy Council to be brought before the
House, as there seemed to be discrepancies between the
inferences which the committee had drawn and the

decl of the and at their
ovn neetings.5! Under this pressure, Pitt vas forced to
assure the West Indian merchants and the East India

Company of the protection of their interests; and the
propositions as a whole had %o be amended.®

Undoubtedly Fox hed encouraged this hostility.
Tord Sydney accused the Foxites of "revenge and avarice...
ready to propagate every opinion that may tend to inflame
the minds of the people and to take advantage of every
locsl prejudice;®? end Deniel Pulteney wrote of Fox's
“peevishness."™ The Times thought that Pox's
opposition was determined by "necessity and umbit!.nn."ss
Obviously, Pox's hostility was determined partly by his

Slmbia,, 357-358.
62‘Ehrmen, D+ git., P 210,

S35yiney to Rutland, April 15th., 1785, Rutland
s, 111, 200, e

Srpa,, 208,

one nines, April 5, 1785,
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resolution to oppose Willism Pitt; but equally important
was the Anglo-Irish relstionship, in particular, English
control of Irish commerce. His suggestion that each
parlisment should have separately decided what each
country was disposed to yield heavily underlined his

on the role of the legislature in

the constitution. Pitt alloved Westminster to discuss
the propositions after they had been accepted in Dublin.
This implied that they were not to be altered by the
English parliament, which thereby had no part in their
formuletion, %

Eerly in April, The Times ran a series entitled
"Opinions of living legislators respecting the independency
and commerce of Ireland,” consisting of extracts from the
speeches of leading Whigs in 1782 and 1783 on the Anglo-
Irish relationship. The paper drew attemtion to Fox's
resolution in May, 1782, stating that a future settlement

would be made between the two oountriss.67 Pitt was now
attempting to establish this, However, Fox had worked
hard to ensure that the reciprocal arrangement would
materialize before legislative autonomy. His attempt had
failed, and his rejection of Pitt's settlement three years

61h34., April 4, 1785.

7144, , pril 2, 1785,



168

later was a reflection of this failure. Paradoxically,
it was also argued that Pitt's concessions were the result
of Pox's encouragement of Irish sgitetion in 1779 and
1782. Fox had repealed the Declaratory Act, giving the
Irish a degree of independence and had thereby encouraged
them to demand further commercial concessions from the
English government.%® But Fox's conduct since 1778 shows
that he had never been prepared to concede numerous
advantages to Irish trade, He had never emphasised his
hostility as it could have had dangerous repercussions
in Treland, possibly resulting in the complete separation
of the two countries. This approach made him appear
inconsistent. When he argued in 1785 that Irish and
English commercial interests could be directly opposed to
one another, he seemed to be contradicting his claim in
1782 that the interests of the two countries were the
same.%? But this confusion arose over his refusel to
declare his views on the Anglo-Irish commercial
relstionship. Until 1785, few people were aware of
Fox's views on Irish commerce as he had never publicized

‘them.

81pia,, Maroh 5, April 15, May 7, 1785.

Mornington to Grenville, Narch 2nd., 1785,
Fortescue MSS, I, 247.
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Pox's campaign against the original propositions
did have repercussions in Irish politics; but they were
not as pronounced as those which resulted from his
opposition to the revised arrangement. Even so, the Irish
government was furious and saw him obstructing the
permanent settlement of the Anglo-Irish relati.onshiv.’m
At the same time, rumours were spreading in Dublin that
Fox and the Whigs would defeat Pitt and form a government,
the advent of which would be extremely advantageous to
the Trish.”} By the end of April, observers were noticing
the "violence of party’ in Ireland.” On the vhole,
however, it was not until the propositions were revised
that Fox's campaign drastically influenced the course of
the Irish opposition.

In their revised form, some of the propositions
were amended, and some new ones were added. Irish trade
was now forbidden in the areas of the East India Company's
monopoly, and only colonial, not foreign products could
be re-exported from Ireland to England. Moreover, French
and Spanish colonial products could not be carried to
England in Irish ships; and Irish importation of rum and
other spirits was prohibited. At the same time

Mrbia,
Tpreensn's Journsl, March 4, 1785.
que Tines, My 4, 1785
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compensating duties were to be levied on Irish products
which might undercut their British counterparts. But
most important of all was the new fourth resolution: the
Irish parliament had to re-enact all present and future
British Acts regulating imperial trade and shipping.’>
Even though Irish commerce still received numerous
advantages from the revised propositions, the fourth

resolution could be as a

on the Irish comstitution of 1782, The repeal of the
Declaratory Act had not preserved Britain's control over
Irish trade; but it was tacitly understood by Fox and
most English that still

legislative authority over Irish external affairs., So
the Renunciation Act had not explicitly renounced
Britain's siperintending povers.’" In sum, then, the
question of English powers of external legislation had
been avoided. Thus the new fourth proposition could be
interpreted as an attack on the constitution of 1782.
The revised propositions were introduced into
Westminster on May 12th.; and Charles Fox was still not
satisfied, He did not see any need for further Irish
concessions, and he decided to oppose the arrangement

73?0: the twenty revised propositions see O'Brien,
op. cit., pp. 256-263.

P upp, 0. gite, v, 516.
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again, and "fight the whole of it inch by inch," as it
was still destructive of British commercial strength. At
the same time, by representing Pitt es hostile to
English manufacturers and merchants, he might increase his
popularity with those ineez-est-.75
Fox now emphasised that the originel basis of

reciprocity had been abandoned, and stressed that the
government had virtually acknowledged that if the original
propositions had been carried, then England would have
forsaken the East Indian monopoly and sacrificed the
Navigetion Code, "the great source of our commercial
opulence.””® In fact, under the original agreement,
England would have been

+oo delivered up in trust to Ireland, leaving

us_for ever after totally dependent on her

Boartlanship of our decksst Intereste.T)
So, he concluded, the revised propositions were "far more
palatable to Englishmen than previously"; and this
demonstrated the advantages of careful deliberation,
which Pitt had tried to avoid.”

75Burke to Tydd, Mey 13th., 1785, Gratt: 3
eit., TIT, 251.255.1"“‘ y » 1785, an, Op.

Tpart, Fist., XAV, 597,

Ty,
Prbid., 599.
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To forestzll some of the weight of Fox's
the had like the press,

to blame the opposition for the concessions of the
previous years, meking Pitt's arrangement necosaar,y.”
Fox vehemently denied this and, quite rightly, claimed
that his administration in 1783 had

declared to the Lord Lieutenant that we_could

vhich, if fnlﬁllad, vonld be destructive to

Great Britain, inion we were then
nnsnimugs, and to ehnt opinion we firmly
adhere.

Indeed, his government had been determined to "withhold
what it were ruin to relinguish.”

Fox applauded the retention of the East India
Company's monopoly; but he thought that the fourth
resolution relating to the Navigation Acts required
"very particular consideration indeed." By this
resolution,

we shall deliver up into the custody of

another, and that an independent nuﬂan, all
our fundanental lavs for the regulstion’of
our trade, and we must depend totnlly on her
Bounty and 1iberal spiri for 4

ship and protection of our dearest anerosts.

The Navigation Laws "can be deposited in no hands so

81

properly as our own," He did not believe that English

79, "
ey to Rutland, April 2nd., 1765, Rutland
¥ss, 111, 1%. ’ Y

8pgr1, Hist., XXV, 601,
Elmpia,, 611,
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and Irish commercial interests would work in mutual
agreement. So, the Irish might import foreign sugars,
instead of the stipulated colonial produce, and foreign
products would still find their way into England to the

of English and g
Therefore,

Ireland will become the medium of trade to the
end leed

gene: empire, almost exelnainli S0
with respect to the produce of our colonies.53

Under the revised propositions, each country
could levy internal duties on menufactured imports which
they might wish to curteil to promote a corresponding or
alternative local product, and Fox argued that this
could act as an indirect form of prohibition. It was
"in favour of Ireland and inimical to England," as the
Irish would never have imposed protective duties whilst
the English could retaliate on Ireland's staple
commodity, linsn.m England was now asked to relinquish
her power of retaliation, and

B A s ot
::Ez‘ throw ourselves on the mercy of Ireland,
Vi’ Tiaves xﬁﬁ‘ea'bafﬁc&ﬂ;ﬁ“ﬁ:ﬁ’ w

shonld be prepared against t! g;ructs of a
dupoaition in atheu

8114, 611-612.
Bia., 613.
B1via,, 615,
B1bid., 616.
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Fox had reminded Northington of English support of Irish
linen in 1783 and he was not prepared to forsske this
and the control it gave the English over the Irish
economy.

Fox then turned his attention to the Irish
imperial contribution. Its permanence made it "pregnant
with the most alarming consequence to the liberties and
to the of both 86

revenue collected without annuesl supervision was anathema
to Charles Fox's Whig beliefs; and it was on this ground
that he had opposed the Irish Mutiny Act in 1780. This
time his argument was equally sound. It was the basic
right of both Westminster and College Green to limit all
grants of supply to one year, which was the case with
the army, navy and ordnance supplies. To meke eny supply
permanent

establishes a precedent for diminishing the sole

security which the domestic branch of the

g;n:gét:g:‘l;v :isgssu against the encroachments
Even so, he was uncertain that the arrangement would work.
If the Irish were not satisfied with the imperial
contribution, what would prevent them from withdrawing
their supply to the army, which was reviewed annually?

rpia,

1bia., 617.



In fact, the consistent theme behind Fox's opposition
was his conviction that the proposals would not work
harmoniously. He refused to accept that the Irish would
comply with the arrangements, even if they were

to their i In the

century Whig tredition, he believed that England's
commercial supremacy rested on English monopoly and
English control of imperial trade. Commercial pursuits
were determined by national self-interest; so,

If there is any nation upon earth in whom, on a
point of honourable compensation, I would have
implicit eonﬁdenco, it is Ireland; but in the
1 i where
the laws stand ror ever in the way of interest
and adves nggre I would not trust to any people
existing.

Thus, if both English and Irish merchants participated in
the same markets for the seme products, then rivalry and
hostility would ensue, not mutual friendship. This made
the whole question one of "life and death ... for the
politicel existence of Grest Britain herself,"®?

Finally, Pox re-affirmed his conviction that
Pitt's propositions were intended to pacify the Irish.
There was strong opposition to the Irish government because
of its restrictions on the freedom of the press and its

®bia., 618,

1bid., 626,
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attempted prevention of county meetings through one
means or another. So ministers "are desirous of avoiding

the of insult by
=90

concession.
Charles Pox had never explicitly denied the
English government's right to control imperiel trade, and
Pitt's propositions seemed to him to relinquish English
powers over Irish commerce. He was not prepared to
accept this change in the structure of imperial commerce
embodied in the Navigation Acts. Thus his view of the
Anglo-Irish commercial relationship remained narrow and
However, he Irish
political and constitutional grievances; so, on May 19th.,
he declared that "the commercial complaint of Ireland he
slvays considered ill-founded, though be thought other—
wise of their political oncs.“91 Charles Fox was never

happy discussing commercial matters; and Irish commercial

were no His Irish

was always clearer and more influential where Irish
political issues were involved; and Pitt hed provided him
with a unique opportunity with the fourth resolution.
Pox's comments on this resolution in Westminster had a
tremendous effect on the Irish reception of the revised

N1bid,, 659,
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arrangement.

On May 19th., Fox boldly told the House that
the Irish would not accept the fourth resolution because
it encroached on the 1782 constitution. The price, then,
which the Irish had to pay for the amended propositions,
beneficial though they were to their country, was too
high.?? Simultaneously, hovever, "he was so much of an
Englishman that he could not part with those resources
and advantages on which our national existence dapnnded.“%
The paradox of Fox's position as an English leader of
Irish patriotism was publicly revealed. As a supporter
of Irish political demands, he said that the Irish could
not be expected to re-enact present and future English
trade laws; as a defender of English commercial hegemony,
he announced that the Irish should not be given any say
in these matters anyway.

Daniel Pulteney immediately informed the Irish
government of his anxieties that the fourth resolution

94

would not be accepted in Ireland. Pulteney vas

worried; but Fox continued his attack, and within a few

Prbia,
PBrpid., 660,

Ppylteney to Rutland, May 20th., 1785, Rubland
¥ss, III, 207.
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days had again asserted that the resolution was a direct
attack on Irish legislative independence:

geiting ¢ pereicTariog of cur ades soe venld

relinquish that power?95
This single clause, according to Fox, took awsy from the
Irish more than the rest of the propositions gave them.

Pulteney now saw Fox as the "new Irish Patriot,”

delivering one of the most "bare-faced and party
speeches” he had ever hoard;% and in Westminster, Fox
was accused of being both an English and an Irish Patriot.
Fox proudly al d this i but he
emphasised that it was not a front adopted for the moment
because on the first day of the session he had eriticized
the Trish 97 The Irish s attempts

to suppress parliamentary reform were oppressive. He
reiterated his belief that the whole idea of commercial
concessions was intended to lure the Irish away from
their constitutional grievances, and his "fears for the
constitution of Ireland were not ill-founded."%® So,

%par). Hist., IV, 692.

%pulteney to Rutland, Hay 24th., 1785, Rutlend
¥SS, 11T, 208,

9pard, Eist., TV, 777.

%1bia,
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If this conduct, Sir, constitutes an Irish
patriot, then am I one; and if to struggle &
save the trade of England from annihilation
ives any claims to the appellation of
gngliuh patriot, I possess that claim,

And Fox summarized his opposition to the proposals with
his famous declaration:
T will not barter English commerce for Irish
slavery; that is not the price I would YSS'
nor is this the thing I would purchase..

The Times agreed with Pox that the Irish would

0

never accept the fourth proposition, but found his
conjunction of Znglish and Irish patriotism a "curious
subject for political specnlaeion."ml It was presumed
‘e was now defending Irish independence because he had
been responsible for the 1782 constitution. Even so, it
was more understandable that Burke and Sheridan should

defend the Irish as they were
02

Irisn,!
as in 1782 he had wished to maintain Westminster's powers

It was easy to show Pox's apparent inconsistency,

of external legislation over Ireland. However, the danger
of Fox's d with
rical ability was

Prbia,
10744, 8.

1010ne niges, May 25, May 26, 1785.

102754, June 6, 1785.
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I £ this parti [the Whigs] had any credit in
x-alm, [it. wmxld be pernicious in the
evidently tends to axcite

Jenluuuy m ﬂn people of Ireland, and ti 105

promote disunions between the suter hngﬂom.
Yet as the discussions in Westminster drew to a close,
Fox concentrated more and more on Pitt's alleged destruc-
tion of Irish nnnmoq.lm

In fact, in his opposition to the fourth

resolution, Charles Fox found e common cause with the
Irish opposition which he had lost during 1782 and 1783;
and, as such, his criticisms had 2 profound effect in
Ireland. Irishmen again represented him as the "friend
of Ireland," responsible for sll Irish concessions since
17)9.105 The Irish press polarized round support for
Fox and Irish independence and opposition to Pox and
support for Pitt's government, The Irish government's
criticisms of Fox had essentially two standpoints.
Firstly, he was acting solely on the grounds of political
expediency and attempting to return to office through

1031549,

108144 4o o George II1, July 25th., 1765, hrthur
Aspinall, ed., The Later ma onde f _Ge:
(5 vols.; Cambridge: Cam oivereh 88, -1‘770),
I, 173,

10

SPreeman's Journsl, June 9-11, June 18-21, June
30-July 2,
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exciting Trish discontent and defeating Pitt and Lord
Lieutenant Rutland,’%° TIndeed, some members of the
Irish perliament thought that there vas a distinct
possibility that the Irish administration would be
replaced if the propositions were defeated in Ireland.)”
It would be nsive to suppose that Fox was not aware of
the to Pitt's , in both i
it this took place.

Secondly, hovever, it vas emphasised by Irish

government supporters that Charles Fox was an opponent of
Irish interests. He had rejected the propositions because
they were favourable to Ireland, and detrimental to
English manufactures and commerce; and he had told the
House of Commons that he would not allow any more Irish
concessions,’%® Simnltaneously, he had stressed the
importance of English contrel over the Irish linen trede, %
And Pox's previous Irish politics were remembered: he was
the advocate of simple repeal, and had refused to
renounce Westminster's power of external legislation

over Ireland. Hence his criticism of the fourth

1%1p43,, June 9-11, June 21-23, July 2-5, 3
59, July 1'51‘1‘!"17“”9_ 5 June 3, July 2-3, July

10%6restord to Rose, August 25th., 1785, Smith
1SS, p. 348. it

108 eeman's Journsl, Juze 21-25 . 2-25,
July 26-28, July %0-Tagust 2, iugust 9-11, 1

199434, July 21-23, 1785,
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resolution was hypocritical.’’® In office in 1783 he had
done nothing for the Irish economy. In other words, Fox
and his associates "strike the Irish on one cheek and
Kiss them on the other," Il Be that as it may, these
criticisns vere submerged beneath Irish hostility to the
fourth resolution.

There is little evidence of Fox directly
encouraging the Irish opposition to Pitt's srrangement,
and he did not visit Ireland as he had done in 1779 and
1782, However, it is probable that emissaries were sent
over fron England; and the Lord Lieutensnt thought that
a certein Mr. Minchin had been sent to Dublin by the
English ihig party bo encourage the Irish opposition.’’?
Similerly it was assuned that if Pox formed a government
in England, then numerous offices and pensions in the
Irish aduinistration would go to his Irish supporters.'!
Again, hovever, it is doubtful that definite srrangements
were made., But Fox's opposition no doubt encouraged that

of his Irish cousin, the Duke of Leinster, with whom he

WOrpig,, guly 7-9, July 16-19, 1785,
Mrpsa,, guly 28-30, 1785,

12yt1and o Sydney, July 4th., 1785, Rubland
1SS, TII, 221. B

1 5rcenan's Journsl, June 21-23, July 7-9, July
14-16, August 2-4, 1785.
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was uurr-eponding;n“

and after the revised propositions
had been only narrowly accepted by the Irish Commons in
ugust, John Beresford, the First Commissioner of Irish
Revenue, was certain thet the "Duke of Portland and Hr.
Fox exerted themselves to the utmost and that they called
upon their friends to assist them on this occasion. "t

Fox encouraged the Irish opposition primarily
through the strength of his speeches and his arguments.
Eis justification of his claim to be both an English and
an Irish patriot was a "singular snd almost unexampled
effort of ability" and was published in pamphlet form,l1€
By the end of June it was reported that he was gaining a
lot of support in Dublin, and his speeches had been
reprinted in Ireland on a "single sheet," and "hung up in
205t houses, inns and taverns." 17 So Charles Pox sgain
found his Irish popularity.

Edmund Pery, the Spesker of the Irish Commons,
found the revised arrangement pertaining to the East

118

Indies as "most alarming"; and Pitt's government was

Wipia., July 5-7, July 7-9, July 16-19, 1785.

1153. s
resford to Rose, August 25th., 1785, Smith
55, v, 38, A ey 21000

us'm Times, June 10, 1785.
Wrpia,, June 29, July 4, 1785.
18pery to Orde, May 27¢h., 1785, Ealy KSS, p. 185.



informed that the preservation of the East Indian
zonopoly ves ceusing much Irish resentment.’’® But Fox
hed firmly supported the maintenance of the monopoly.
Similarly, the Irish linen trasde would have benefited from
the prapoaitions;lzo yet Fox had shown anxiety over the
impossibility of England establishing protective duties
on Irish linen exports in the future. But common ground
between Pox and the Irish opposition, the important link
in the chain of Fox's Irish influence, was found in two
particular clauses of Pitt's revised arrangement.

As early as May 19th., Rutland told Pitt that the
perpetual contribution would never be accepted by

Irishmen ;121

and by the end of the month, the suggestion
bad aroused the "strongest opposition.”’22 Irish
opposition was the same as Fox's criticisms in Westminster;
all grants of supply had to be systematically reviewed by

the legislature.}2> More important, hovever, was the

%ornington to Grenville, May 20th.-31st., 1785,
Fortescue MSS, I, 251.

1205 0umlow to Charlemont, October 15th., 1785,
Charlemont ¥SS,II, 26.

121
Rutlend to Pitt, Mey 19th., 1785, Nahon, op.
cit., p. 101. gl LR iR

122, Horniagton to Grenville, ey 20th.-3lst., 1765,
Fortescue MSS, I, 251.

123mme mimes, July 27, 1785.
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fourth resolution. By the end of May, no great opposition
to this clause hed been noticed in Ireland; but this
situstion chenged during the mext few veeks.12* The
fundamental reason for this change was Fox's arguments
in favour of Irish independence, articulated in
Westminster towards the end of May. This was noticed by
Secretary Orde:

You [Pitt] will conclude that the suggestion has

come from your side of the water and that the

arguments are almost entirely the same with

those by which Mr. Fox and Mr. Sheridan hwa

attempted to inflame this country, It w: 125

impossible not to be aware of their nwnonums
As Beresford later declared, the fourth resolution was the
"right string to touch."'?® The Irish parlisment, of
course, had still to consider the revised propositions;
but by the middle of June, Rutland was desperately
informing Pitt that all Irish opposition was concenmtrating
on this i leaving the with very

little uumrt.lz/ By early July, observers were

124y,
rnington to Grenville, May 20th.-3lst., 1785,
Fortescue MSS, 1,5'551 2 PR

125040 to Pitt, June 8th., 1785, Smith MSS,
R, 345-346.

- 126gere5t0rd to Rose, August 25th., 1785, Ibid.,
. 347,

127Rut1and o Pitt, June 12th., 1785, Rublend
¥SS, III, 215,
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convinced that the English opposition had done their
utmost to encourage Irish dissatisfaction, and the Irish
Secretary was advised to take precautions to mesintain

government support in the parliamsnt.128

Henry Grattan
was concentrating all his opposition on the fourth
resolntian;leg and even the former Irish Lord Lieutenant,
Earl Temple, accepted the validity of Fox's argument that

the resolution on Irish 130 14

was Charles Fox's articulate and rhetorical comments on
the fourth resolution which inspired Irish criticism
of the revised arrangement; in particular, he helped
determine that the Irish reception of the scheme would
concentrate on whether or not the 1782 constitution was
being attacked. This became apparent when the Irish
parliament met on August 12th.

It had already been rumoured in the Irish press
that the Irish parliamentary opposition were to use
Pox's speeches; and certainly the arguments produced were

131

very similar. The Irish Attorney-General acknowledged

12855restord to Orde, July 4th., 1785, Beresford,
. git., I, 274

1290me 1imes, July 14, 1785.

1305yckinghan to Grenville, July 17%h., 1785,
Fortescue MSS, I, 252.

1) 5reenan's Journsl, August 9-11, 1785.
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that the primary criticism of the arrangement was that

it attected Trish independence.'’” Henry Grattan
summarized the arrangement as follows:

You are called upon to barter your freel”
Constitution for a restricted commerce.

The "bartering of constitutional rights," illusory or
not, was a peculiarly Foxite turn of phrase, which had
caught the imagination of the Irish iti As

The Times put it, "Mr. Fox gave the most faithful
i of the Irish i when he called them

'an attempt to barter British commerce for Irish
freedon’,"3* Henry Flood repeated Fox's criticisn that
the arrangement had been constructed by the English
Cabinet, not by the Irish parliament; and Thomas Conolly
2 i of Fox's patriotisa:

He [Conolly] would not object to it on the
narrow principle of his being an Irishman, as
an Englishman he must object to it; he could
not 2s an Englishman  oemgg to relinquish the
constitution of England,13>

1921034, August 15, 1785

o 133gent1enan's Magazine, Vol. 50, Part I (1765),
Pe A

13%1ne cimes, September 9, 1785.

15 reenan's Journal, August 15, 1785.



In the end, the opposition to the fourth
resolution was successful, When Secretary Orde moved to
bring in a Bill based on the twenty propositions, it was
accepted by only 127 to 108.1%° Defest looked probsble
if the government proceeded; so the scheme was abandoned,
possibly until a more opportune moment srns«.l57

The Irish opposition had been particularly
angered by the supposed attack on the 1782 constitution
embodied in the fourth resolution, an attack which Irish
property was prepered to repel.}>® Fox's hostility to
the fourth resolution enabled him to find and utilize a
common ground with the Irish opposition. This link had
been forged during the American war, with the mutual
opposition to Lord North, but had been lost in 1782-1783.
Now, however, in 1785, 2 joint opposition was engineered
again; and Fox's rejection of greater Irish participation
in imperial trade was forgotten. Irish government
spokesmen anxiously observed the re-emergence of this
Joint opposition. Beresford saw the campaign as an

135u0k1end Correspondence, I, 0.

“7pm o  Butland, ugust 176h., 175, Yabor,
op. cit., pp. 117-119; Orde to Rutland, October 19th.,
Sahtnd L Tr 3,20 Chulsmnnt to Faliday,

December T7Eh:, 1765, Charlemont MSS, II, 31.

138 emnan to Mrs, McTier, August 25th., 1785,
Drennan Letters, pp. 35-36.
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example of the "Portland or Fox party ... endeavouring to
nake battle here’;1>% vhilst the Preeman's Journal thought

that Charles Fox would stop at nothing to get back into
officc.uo Irish patriots, on the other hand, were
determined to strengthen their connexion with opposition
English Whigs. It was around this time that Isaac Corry
informed Dr. Dremnan that "the great loss of this country
[Ireland] was the want of a formed party ... that Fox and
Portland and all the Whig interest saw the necessity of it
more and more..."; and he added that his own party was
that of Charles Fox.!*!

On June 1lth., Fox wrote: "Was there ever a
history of folly like this Irish business?"*2 Eis
campaign demonstrated his position as a defender of both
Irish political rights and English commercial monopoly.

15%8erestord to Rose, August 25th., 1785, Smith
¥SS, pp. 349-350. .

1408 ooman's Journal, August 20-23, 1785.

1’Drennan Letters, o0, 3835, Tsoeo Cormy,
1755-1813, “Represented Newry in the Irish Common:
was very active o 3a the Volunmr movement in 1795, b\l'c
ha joined the government in 1788, and supported Pi
the Regency crisis. In 1‘798 he became Chancellor
;!ithﬂ I;’J.!s‘h Exchequer, and was in favour of the Act of
nion. B

12p0x o Ossory, July 11th., 1785, Fox
Correspondence, II, 270. T



This position was artificial as, given Ireland's
commercial relationship with England, constitutional and
economic grievances could not be separated in the way in
vhich Pox was attempting. Irish political autonomy
inherently involved control of Irish commerce. Even so,
Fox's opposition stands as a good example of his
participation and influence in Irish affairs during his
years in opposition. The campaign revealed the
importance of his speeches in Westminster, rhetorical
and perfectly suited to an emotional issue such as Irish
It his familiel i i

with the Duke of Leinster, an arch-opponent of Pitt's
scheme, and it revealed the tendency of the Irish press
to polarize for or against Fox when his influence in that
country was at its highest. Beneath all this was the
hope of the Irish opposition that a change in the English
government would lead to a corresponding change in the
Irish executive. Finally, but most important of all,
‘the 1785 campaign demonstrated that Charles Fox had
re-established a common ground of opposition with leading
Irish patriots, in the process of which the Irish had
his i 1 ed century

hig views on the maintenance of the Navigation Code.



CHAPTER VI

FOX AND ANGIO-IRISH WHIG UNITY: THE REGENCY CRISIS,
THE FRENCH REVOLUTION AND CATHOLIC RELIEF

The withdrawal of Pitt's Anglo-Irish commercial
arrengement in 1785 was one of the few successes of the
¥hig opposition from 1784 to 1790; and the victory had
been achieved by the strength of Irish resistance which
Charles Fox had done so much to encourage. The campaign
against the commerciel proposals showed Pitt the danger
of Fox's participation in Irish affairs once he could
establish a common ground with the Irish opposition.
Simultaneously the volatility of Irish issues in English
politics had been revealed. The government now became
increasingly anxious lest Irish issues might be pursued in
England, with Fox and the English Whigs participating in
Irish affairs in Westminster.

During the years 1786 to 1795 the alliance between
the English and Irish Whigs was clarified and consolidated
under the leadership of Charles Fox, In Dublin his
popularity increased after the 1785 campaign whilst in
London, during the parliamentary discussions of the Anglo-
French commercial treaty in 1787 he attempted to open a

debate on the Anglo-Irish commercial relationship and
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thereby maintain his Irish reputation and portrey himsel?
as the defender of Irish interests. His sttempt failed;
but the fortuitous possibility of a Regency owing to
George ITI's illness in 1788 provided Fox and his Irish
associates with a common ground of opposition to William
Pitt. The Regency issue brought into Irish politics the
polarization around Pitt and Fox which had characterized
English politics since 1783, engendered the institutional-
ization of the Irish Whig party, much to Fox's
satisfaction, and overall, contributed to the strengthening
of the Anglo-Irish Whig alliance, which had been Fox's
goal since the American war. In 1790 Fox directly
participated in the Irish general election; and slthough
the French Revolution created new and dangerous problems
for Anglo-Irish Whig unity his Irish ectivities continued.
These were particularly pronounced in the months
preceding the outbreak of the Anglo-Fremch war in 1793,
with his vocal support for the reinvigorated movement

for Catholic Relief.

Charles Fox's Irish reputation had recovered from
the setbacks of 1782-1783 "through his unwearied attention
to the general interests of Ireland, whenever attempts
wl

have been mede to invade her rights. One reason for

ohe Times, Septesber 26, 1785.
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this in the caapaign
sgainst the Irish Press Bill of 1784, was the fear that

some of the Irish government's proceedings might be
repeated in England. The Times fully appreciated this
concern as
the Irish and English constitutions being ao
by a corrupt an; ::n-ﬁmhd

men mi in time to come be quoti by theu as
an example for any imnovation on ths other.2

The Irish government press, meanwhile, attempted
to offset Fox's increased popularity. The means used
were sometimes unscrupulous: the public was reminded of
Pox's father, the "defaulter of unaccounted millions."?
The Pox-North coalition had never intended any Irish
commercial concessions, and the Foxite opposition were
motivated solely by an ambition to get into office.*
When Fox's Irish supporters represented him as the

champion of i reforn,
reminded them that he had forsaken the cause once in
office in 1783.% Most imporbant of all, it was slleged

2Ibia,

3roenan's Journal, October 811, 1785.

41bia., October 18-20, December 17-20, 1785.

51bid., November 18-21, 1786.
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that Charles Fox wished to maintain England's power of
external legislation over Ireland, and from this it wes
suspected that he would never mske any commercial treaty
beneficial to the Irish.6 Memories were long, the
censures familiar; but Fox's Irish popularity remained
intact.

Yot the Anglo-Irish commercial relationship
remained undefined; in particular, rumours were prevalent
in both countries throughout 1786 that Pitt was to re-
introduce his propositions.7 In London, The Times
repeated many of Fox's arguments against the schlme-,B and

doubts over Pitt's intenti i d when the g

signed a commercisl treaty with France in September, 1786,
based on a reduction of tariffs on Anglo-French trade.
The Times now suggested that the French would receive
advantages in the English market at Irish expense; so the
Irish would be hostile to the French v;rem:y.9 Perhaps
Edmund Burke should go to Ireland to oppose the Anglo-
French arrangement end defend Irish trade.l® The Times

Sbid., Jamuery 10-12, 1786.

/
The Times, January 3, January 9, May 5, May 11
May 17, August I‘)',’Segtember §, Septembei 20, 1')86: 4
Freeman's Journal, December 14-16, 1786.

- &L'hs Times, January 23, February 9, February 16,

5y 15,

91bia., 2,
December 21, December 30, 1786.
O1pia,, Januery 23, 1787.
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suspected that the commercial propositions of the previous
year had to be revived to remedy Irish disadventages in
the English market after the French treaty had been
signed.t
Fox and Pitt were both aware not only of the

growing public feeling that the propositions were to be
re-introduced, but also of the possibility of Irish
opposition to the French treaty. The government, therefore,
had to be careful; so Pitt told the Lord Lieutenent that

care will be taken in wording the articles to

leave Ireland a free option to participate in

all the benefits of the treaty, if the Irish

Parliament thinks proper to ratify it, or

otherwise {5 remain exactly in her present

situation.
More positive precautions followed, Pitt sent for
Beresford, the Irish Revenue Commissioner, and the Irish
Chancellor of the Exchequer, to discuss the elements of
the French treaty which were pertinent to Irish interests.
He was so afraid of offending Irish opinion that he
intended to establish members of the Irish government on
a permanent committee of the Council for the Affairs of
Trade. This committee would "establish a regular and
easy communication which might be of material use on all

questions of foreign treaties and other commercial poiats

M1p4q,, Decemver 25, 1786, January 11, 1787.

134t to Rutland, April 29th., 1786, Mahon,
op. git., p. 143.
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which extend to both 1es."? Pitt's

to avoid Irish opposition was the result of Fox's campeign
of the previous year.]'“

Cherles Fox, however, took the opportunity of the
parliamentary discussion of the French treaty to open a
debate on the Anglo-Irish commercial relationship.
Together with Flood, the Irish patriot who had now taken
a seat in Westminster, he supported Sheridan's claim that
new Anglo-Irish commercial arrangements were to follow
the French treaty.l” By this assertion, Sheridan and Fox
were trying to ascertain if the press rumours were valid.
If they were, then they wanted to know the government's
intentions. Also, equally important, the assertion
would create alarm and distrust of both English and Irish
governments, as Fox doubtless intended. If the 1785
proposals were to be renewed after the ratification of
the French treaty, then English manufacturing and

mercantile interests would be alarmed. If, on the other

Bpitt to Rutland, August 19th., 1786, Ibid.,
Pp. 158-161. =

Wsee, for example, Camarthen to Eden, April 18th.,
17865 ant Btk by Eden, April 20th., 1786, Auckland
Correspondence, I, 092, 1I, 109.

fall to Eden, February 3rd., 1787, Auckland

Liooa
Correﬁpondence, TI, 170; Pulteney to Rutiand, February
th., tland MSS III, 373-374.
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hand, Pitt's proposals had been permanently withdrawn,
then an opportunity would still be given to discuss the
Anglo-Irish commercial relationship, and possibly encourage
Irish distrust of the gonmunt.m So Pulteney informed
Rutland that Fox

exaggerated our want of generosity to Ireland in

not setting our intercourse with her under the

guard of the fourth resolution, though we had no

possibility of such a guard respecting France.

And why? Because France has so Inch to give us

in return, whilst Ireland, from that very pwerty

which this country had occasioned from tha

monopoly which we had so long sessed cho

Rad Bo Such reciproeity of a rich market to ofter.”
Charles Fox raised the spectre of the fourth resolution,
and English monopoly of Irish commerce, in a deliberate
attempt to maintain his reputation with the Irish
opposition. Pitt's government had to be opposed in both
countries, and Fox was determined to do his utmost to see
this materialize.

Simultaneously Fox referred to the Irish dispute
with Portugal. Although the Irish had been permitted to
export wool in 1780, Portugal had refused asdmission of
Irish wool because of a treaty made with England in 1703
which bound ber to import only English wool. Fox now

declared that Pitt's government ought to compel Portugal

Lopy1teney to Butlond, Tebruszy 20t%., 1787,
Rutland HSS, III, 373-374.

1pia,
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to receive Irish products.’®

Again be was deliberately
portraying himself as the defender of Irish interests;
and this caused Daniel Pulteney to remark of both him and
Sheridan that

vhen Irish affairs were but even hinted at, [they]

were sure to be on their legs, and instead

British members of Parliament, seemed to be a

pair of Ir!.iB delegates running a race for Ix-iah

popularity.:

And, of course, it was possible that Fox's activities

would have in Ireland, y "amongst
the rabble."?0

for Fox, the calm in
Dublin over the Anglo-French treaty meant that the
situstion of 1785 vas not going to be repested.’l Perhaps
Irish quiescence was one of Pitt's greatest assets during

these months.22 Even so, the Trish government press felt

1851 teney to Rutland, Pebruary 10th., 1787 and
Pebruary 22nd., 1787, Ibid., 371, 7.

19%he Times, February 23, 17€7.

2py1teney to Rutland, Februsry 20th., 1787,
Rutland MSS, III, 373-374.

- 2lpulteney to Rutland, Pebruary 9th., 1761, Ibid.,

2%py1teney to Rutland, Pebruary 24th,, 1787 and
Harch 19th., 1787, Ibid., 375, 378; The Times, March 21,
March 24, 1787 e
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it necessary to refute Fox's arguments against the French
treaty.?> Hovever, the Irish parliament approved the
Anglo-French and the al i of

Irish duties were accepted without demur, So Fox's
opposition to the French treaty had few Irish
repercussions. In fact, the debates on the French treaty
was the last time during the period of Irish legislative
autonomy that Charles Fox participated in a public
discussion of Anglo-Irish commerce. From now on, his
Irish involvement was concerned solely with political,
constitutional and religious issues, In general, this

was to his i to maintain

his Irish reputation, as he had always favoured English
commerce at the expense of Irish economic development.
Similarly, although he had made political capital out of
Pitt's commercial propositions in 1785, it is doubtful
whether his success could have been repeated.

In his resolve to oppose Pitt's government, Fox
wanted the Irish opposition to Pitt's Lord Lieutenent
maintained. This, however, received a setback in the
summer of 1788 when the Duke of Leinster surprisingly
Joined the Irish administration as Master of the Rolls.zl‘

23Freeman's Journal, March 1-3, 1787,

241hia,, June 11, June 13, June 14, 1788,



200

Leinster deserted the opposition because of Fox's position
in English politics: "Weiting ten or twenty years for the
coming in of one man was a serious ehing."25 Neither Fox
nor Leinster's brother, Lord Edward Fitzgerald, approved
of this move;® but to their satisfaction, Leinster's
tenure in office proved to be short.

In the meantime, Fox's English activities continued
to be eagerly watched by the Irish opposition. The Dublin
press followed the Westminster election campaign of Fox's
associate, Lord John Townshend, in 1788, as keenly as it
had followed Fox's own cempaigns; end again the Freeman's
Journal reminded Irish "Foxites" that their leeder had
relinquished the cause of parlismentary reform when in
oftice in 1783.%7

So Irish interest in Charles Fox continued; but
what had been lacking since 1785 was an issue which would
provide a common ground of opposition for Fox and his
Irish associates. If such an issue emerged, then the
strength and the importance of the comnmexion between Fox
and the Whigs in London and the Irish opposition in

zshke of Leinster, quoted in Brian Fitzgerald,
Duchess of Leinster, 1731-1814 (New York: Staples
ress, y Pe 185,
26114, , pos 186-187; Lord Edvard Fitzgerald to
Duchess of‘ﬁ{ném-, l!vmbex‘- 21st., 1788, mggm
Corre: ce, II,
H_MMLM' July 31-August 2, August
2-5, 1788.
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Dublin could be emply demonstrated. By accident, the
opportunity arose towards the end of 1788.

In November, 1788, George III fell seriously ill,
and it seemed that the Prince of Wales would be appointed
Regent. Moreover, because of the Prince's support for the
Poxites, in opposition to his father and William Pitt, it
was generally assumed that under a Regency, Pitt's
ministry would be dismissed and replaced by a Whig
government led by Fox and the Duke of Portland.
Simulteneously leading Irish Whigs assumed that a new
Irish executive would be appointed.’® Pitt, anxious to
gain time for the King's health to improve, contemplated
a restriction on the Regent's powers so as to avoid

sholesale changes in his ini.

Charles Fox, on the other hand, saw the Regency
question in its party context: here was the opportunity
to break Pitt's ministry and force a total change in the

administration. To achieve this complete change of
government he favoured a bold declaration of the Prince's

zeha lone to Charlemont, December 2nd,, 1788 ; and
Charlenont to Forbes, n.d., Charlemont MSS, If, 82, 574~
3753 Jom V. Dersy, dne Rokeroy Orfats ant'vhe "higs

-178¢ et [ge Univers: Tess, é} )y
?. 0. lgoninatm ruremd to as Regency Crisis.)
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hereditary right to the Regency.’? Thus, when Pitt moved
for a Commons committee to search for precedents of a
Regency on December 10th., Fox defiantly put forwerd the
claim of the Prince's hereditary right, thereby making
any precedents

ssary. If this claim was accepted,
it would rule out any compromise with members of Pitt's
gtrven-mm:l:.Bo Yet Pitt successfully denied the Prince's
inherent right to the Regency and represented Fox's
declaration as an attempt to attain power at the expense
of the legisl 51 8o by the of 1769, &
Bill had been introduced into Westminster restricting

the Regent's powers. The limitations were extensive: the
Regent's power to create peers and to grant offices and
pensions was curtailed, and the Queen was given sole
responsibility for the King's Household.’? Faced with
Pitt's successful demand for a restricted Regency, Fox
now abandoned his uncompromising position and became
primarily concerned with furthering the Prince's
installation as Regent; and by the second week of
Pebruary, the Regency Bill had passed the Commons.

2Mitehell, op. git., pp. 123-131,
Prpia., p. 134,

nnorry, Regency Crisis, pp. 70-71.
PIbia., pp. 138-139.
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The Irish Whigs were divided over Fox's claim
that the Prince had the inherent right to the Regency
with unrestricted powers.” Gradually, however, they
came round to Fox's view, and by December 18th.,
Charlemont was asking Forbes, Grattan and others to go to
London to help the Prince's cauu.“ The Irish
opposition eagerly sought Fox's adv:}.ue;35 and Bishop
Dixon, assuming Fox would be responsible for Irish
patronage in the new ministry, went to London to seek his
own pro-otion.}s The Earl of Charlemont was very
optimistic:

I confess myself .., firmly of Mr. Fox's opinion
+s. My thorough confidence in the party whose
yr:mciples confirmed our rights, and who are

ov, thank heaven, likely to snceeed, and in

thosu Irishmen who are fortunately, not to say
providentially, at hand to advise them, renders
eny doubt on this head eriminal.>?

So Charlemont was at last prepared to place his confidence

in Charles Fox; and he looked forward to the Irish policy

3Bxemsmly, op. cit., pp. 45-52.

Hcharlesont to Forbes, December 18th., 1788,
Charlemont MSS, II, 84.

351me 'The Times, January 8, 1789.

pyckinghanshive to Grenville, Deceuber lst.,
1788, Fortescue MSS, I, 377.

37narlencnt to Forbes, Decesber 18th., 1788,
Charlemont MSS, II, 84,



of the new government.

Yet Fox initially intended the Duke of North-
umberland to become Irish Iord Lieutenant under the
Bngvncy.}s This was a political move to satisfy the
"Arned Neutrality" parliamentary group, so-called because
of its position between the government and the opposition
in the Regency dispute. Northumberland was one of the
principal members of this group, who wanted Pitt to
continue as First Minister but opposed the idea of a
restricted Regency and who were therefore criticel of
any discussions over the Prince's hereditary right to the
Regency.?? By offering Northumberland's group positions
in the proposed administration, the Foxites eventually
won them over to their side, EHowever, Northumberland
refused the headship of the Irish government. In the
end, Lord Spencer became the Whig choice for the Irish
Lord Lieutenancy. He was a Foxite, and one can assume
that if the Regency had materislized, then he would have
acted in Irelend acoording to Fox's wiskes.*

5akox Cormasmonence, IV, 283; Disey of Georgian
Duch Te, Sichol Sheridan (2 valu.,
Bostant Hunghtun and Hifflin co.. 1%9), T, 2.

39erry, Regency Crisis, p. 95.

400harenont MSS, 11, 88; Auckland Correspondence,
11, 269; Grattan, ops eit., 11T, S SIS
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While these negotiations were proceeding, the

Irish ition took the to the
autonony of their parliament by establishing their own
Regency settlement instead of simply following

s A was passed in
the Irish parliament, giving the Prince of Wales full
powers as Regent of Ireland without any restrictions
whatsoever. When the Irish Whigs drew up an address on
Pebruary 17th., asking the Prince to become Regent of
their country, the Lord Lieutenant refused to transmit it
to London. So the Irish parliement appointed six
delegates to deliver the address personally; and the
Irish executive's refusal to cooperate with its
legislature was 1:e1mu'ed.l‘1 Irish politics were now in
"great confusion,"* whilst in London, the Prince was
delighted, the government was anxious snd the Whig
leaders were summoned to discuss the mcudiny.”

Masray, , I, 186; Burke Correspondence,
v, 450, 453, The

elegates included T, Oono 5.
Panean{u, Zhe Tuks of Totacten 1ot the Bers of DhasTast.

*25torer to Eden, Pebrusry 24th., 1789, Auckland
orrespondence, II, 297.

%3Lucan to Pery Fobruary 1764, 1729, Baly S5
p. 196; Burke Correspondence, V, 446-447, ?
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Charles Fox did not think that the Irish parliement
was legally competent to appoint en Irish Regent. This is
of crucial importance as it provides an insight into Fox's
views on Irish legislative autonomy in the years between
the excitement of 1782 and 1783 and his more radical views
of the 1790's. In Charles Fox's opinion, in 1789, Irish
legislative autonomy was restricted, Therefore he did
not want the Prince to answer the Irish address before
he had been officially appointed Regent in England. 'Dhis;
he thought, was so materisl that "our friends ought more
than ever to avoid anything that tends to delay here.“u
If the Prince had to reply to the Irish delegation before
the Regency Bill had become law, then his answer

must be couched in some general terms to which
the acts he will do in a few days T must
give the construction of acceptance.'
Fox thought that the Irish parliament had exceeded its
by acting of i and
that "our friends have gone too fast in Dublin,"*8

At the same time, it is unlikely that he wanted
promises made to the Irish delegation until he was safely

%o o Titzpatrick, February 17th., 1789, Fox
Correspondence, II, 301.

b1,

#orbia,



207

installed in office. As in 1782 and 1783, be probably
intended to take a major part in the Irish administration
of the Regency government., With a Foxite Lord Lieutenant,
be plenned to use the Irish government as a source of
political patronage to reward his Irish associates. He
had already written to Lord Henry Fitzgerald and informed
him that one of the first acts of the Regency would be
promotion for himself and his brother, Lord Edward
Pitzgerald; and, assuming that he would become Secretary
for Foreign Af!li!‘!; he had enquired of the Pitzgeralds
if they vould be interested in foreign employment.'
Similarly, Fox was delighted with the Duke of Leinster's
support for the Whig opposition and looked forward to the
"prospect of our acting together in palities."*S It also
looks as though Fox and the Whigs promised the Irish
delegates government support for the restriction of the
Irish pension list, which would limit the Irish
executive's patrvmgl.‘9 Perhaps other Rockinghamite

reforns would follow, However, concrete proposals for a

7? to Lord Henry Fitzgerald, Pebruary lst.,
1789, Thomas Honro, The Life and Death of Lord Edward
hcz rald (2 els. ngnans, creen
0. 134-155. * (renetnatter seforsed 0 a8

832)
Tord Eiverd mézsgm
*psa,

%970y to Charlemont, March 3lst., 1789, Cherlemont
155, 11, 9.




Foxite Irish administration remain obscure because the
convalescence of the King was underway before the Irish
delegates had reached London; and the opportunity for a
Regency disappeared. On March 10th., George III announced
that he had re-assumed full royal authority, the Prince
thanked the Irish delegates, and they returned home.5°
In England, the Foxites were accused of inciting
the Irish rebellion against Pitt's Regency proposals.
The Whigs had already caused the loss of the American
colonies and were now attempting to separate England
fron Ireland.”! This, of course, was not Fox's
intention, and it was left to the Dublin press to attempt
a more realistic evaluation. The Freeman's Journal
argued that if the Prince became Regent, then Fox would
saturate the Irish peerage with English adherents to whom
he had made prodsu.52 But the strongest ergument
against Fox was his former advocacy of simple repeal.
"A wise nation will ever be guided by the recollections
and experience of past events"; and Fox had opposed
renunciation and the confirmation of Irish sutonomy. No
Trish advantages would ensue, then, from a Foxite

SOsurke Correspondence, 7, 450-451.
5lohe Tines, Harch 2, Harch 4, March 6, 1789,

52preenan's Journal, February 3-5, 1789.
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govemant.‘t’} Charles Fox was the enemy of Irish
independence.

In the Irish government, the repercussions of the

Regency dispute were wid d. The Eerl of d
Lord Li i ire and many

government members, including the Ponsonbys, the Duke of
Leinster and Charles Sheridan were dismissed for
supporting the English Whigs. Fitzgibbon, on the other
hand, for his support of the government, was made Irish
Lord Chancellor.

During the conflict Buckinghamshire wrote of the
Irish Whigs: "I now know that every proceeding is suggested
by their friends in Bnglsnd."s‘ Certainly the dispute had
increased the cooperation between the Whigs on both sides
of the Irish Sea. One remarkable feature of the whole
episode was the Irish Whigs' assumption that a Whig
government in London would be to their own advantage.
This testified to the consolidation of the Anglo-Irish
Whig opposition allisnce since its inception during the
American war. The Whig alliance had survived the problems
of 1782 and 1783, when English Whigs opposed each other
and when Irish patriots doubted English Whig intentions

Pbia,

5“'Buck:l.ngham to Grenville, January 27th., 1789,
Fortescue MSS, I, 405.
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over renunciation and externsl legislation, and was
present beneath the surface during Rutland's conciliatory
policy from 1784 to 1787. Now the alliance was revealed
egein as a powerful force in Anglo-Irish politics.
Charles Fox was largely responsible for this Whig
consolidation. Anglo-Irish Whig unity had been apparent
in Pox's opposition to Lord North, and he had struggled to
meintain it since 1782. With the accession to power of
William Pitt, Whig cooperation became essential to Fox's
principled hostility to an executive which had attained
power through the influence of the Crown and without the
support of the legislature. So to Fox, the Anglo-Irish
Whig sllisnce was based largely on principle.
Simulteneously, of course, there was an element
of political expediency in the alliance between Dublin
and London ¥higs. Fox was the active leader of the
English opposition to Pitt and it ves only through his
advent to power that the Irish Whigs could hope to
capture the Irish government. Hence, with some justice,
the Lord Lieutenant presumed that if the opposition in
early 1789 had been successful, then all government in
TIreland would have been overthrown, "save that of Mr.
Fox."5

553uckinghanshire to Grenville, Farch 22nd.,
1789, Ibid., 435.
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In fact, the possibility of a Regency brought
into Irish politics the polarization round Willism Pitt
and Charles Fox which had been the primary characteristic
of English politics since Fox's dismissal from office in
1783. As Buckinghamshire wrote from Dublin:

the question is only understood in this kingdom

;:;5?"“&1 struggle between Mr. Pitt and Mr.
Pox's hostility to Pitt and his belief in the necessity
of party had been given the opportunity to enter Irish
politics through the fortuitous possibility of a Regency:

Party runs higher than ever here [Dublin]
and party is stronger 00,57

and after the Regency

crisis increased the determination of the Irish Whig
opposition, who nov pledged not to take office unless all
together.%® Pitt's coneilistory policy hed feiled. In
England in the 1780's, Fox's determined opposition to the
government had led to increasing efforts to orgsnize the
Whig party; now, in Ireland, Whig consolidation was
institutionally reflected in the formation of Whig Clubs.

Buckinghanshire to Grenville, December 13th.
1788, Ibid., 385. ’ !

5’Lady Sarah Napier to Tady Susan 0'Brien
Tebruary 15th., 1790, Lennox Correspondence, I, 76.

SBerattan, op. eit., III, 425,
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The Dublin Whig Club was established in the
sumnmer of 1789 by Charlemont, Grattan, George Ponsonby
and Forbes, and a similar club appeared in the north of
Irelend during the following year.>? The Dublin Club
consisted of the leading members of the Irish
parliementary opposition, increased the cohesion of the
Irish Whigs and enable them to pursue long-term ains.so
At the same time, it rested

with peculiar security on lMr. Fox and the

5:55:?« TEEE braedon uas soterticned b
Charles Fox vas proclaimed as the "British semator who
would not bribe Irelend to sell her constitution," a

i based on his i to the

comnercial propositions in 17852 Fe vas the "idol"
of the Dublin Whig Club, and was seen by the Irish Whigs
a5 the head of their party.®? In 1791 it vas suggested

5Ighariemont 1SS, II, 100, 105, 114, 125, 133.

60,
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Wi on:
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that "all English Whigs be Irish Whigs in future,"
re-affirming their mutual sympathies and aspirstions which
Fox had continuslly emphasised since the American var,™*
In fact, the Dublin Whig Club provided more that a
symbolic connexion between the Irish Whigs and the English
Foxites; rather did it represent a formal alliance between
the Dublin and London Whigs which Irishmen had hitherto
avoided during Rutland's conciliatory policies. In this
sense, the institutionalization of the Irish Whig party
can be seen as a victory for Charles Fox's attempts to
consolidate the Anglo-Irish Whig alliance. To Fox, an
opposition party in Dublin was essential, in order to
provide some sort of check on Pitt's Irish executive.
Hence, the Irish government saw the Dublin Club as a
deliberate attempt "o introduce English party here";®
and in August, 1789, Secretary Hobart informed the London
government that

re inked virh Eoglish povty ses Ovposicion

are clearly acting upon a party principle, and

if they are not met on the same ground they
will be successful.66

S1he Times, January 15, March 3, 1791.

SStiobart to Grenville, December 22nd., 1789,
Forbescue IS, T, 556.

e Hobart to Grenville, August 19th., 1789, Ibid.,
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In England, meanwhile, Fox and his associates
to Irish devel ts into their own

opposition. Rumours emerged in the summer of 1789 that
Pox intended another visit to Ireland; but this does not
seem to have taken place,®’ However, the Foxites
severely criticized Westmoreland's appointment as Irish
Tord Lieutenant, and cherged that the majority in the
Irish perlienent consisted of placemen and pemsioners.®®
This campaign in Westminster by the Foxites ran parallel
to 2 similar campaign by the Irish Whigs in Dublin, who
incessantly accused the Irish executive of parliamentary
corruption.’? And the Trish government suspected that
the Foxite Whigs in London were directing their Irish
associates' oppcsition.w

Charles Fox's Irish reputation was therefore
strengthened; and, as usual, this led to another round
of criticisa from the Irish government press, Many of
the old arguments were repeated. Pitt was given the
credit for securing Irish independence because he had

671 mines, April 6, 1789.

5%1bid,, December 3, Decesber 19, 1789, April 2,
Mazeh 21, 1950, ) y y April 2,

ngennsﬂy, op. cit., pp. 91-98.

enen's Journsl, October 27-29, 1791; The

70'1'0
Tines, December 31, 1789, February 15, 1790.



215

supported remunciation, which Fox had opposed. Fox was
unscrupulous in his attempts to get into office, as was
revealed by his coalition with Lord North in 1783,
whilst by his India Bill, he had tried to "possess power
and patronage independent of King and people.” He had
rejected Pitt's propositions in 1785 because they were
to0o generous to Irishmen; and he was still opposed to
Irish commercial concessions. More critically, and with
some justice, it was questioned how the claim of the
Irish Whigs to choose their own Regent, independently of
Westminster, could be reconciled to Fox's doctrine of
British external legislation.”* It bas been seen that
Fox did not think that the Irish parliament was legally
competent to appoint its own Regent.

In 1790 general elections were held in both
countries. In England the extensive preparations for
the campaign included the suggestion by ome of Portland's
associates that public meetings should be called to
announce the refusal to support any candidate who would
not oppose Pitt's Excise Laws. These arrangements, the
proposal went on, could be administered in Ireland by
Ogilvie, Curran and Porbes, sll leading Irish Whigs.
The "Irish Test" for candidates could also include a

Tereenan's Journsl, May 9-12, 1789, J: 212
October 12-1%, Tovesbér £-5, H%o Apx"i.l'?g R A
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commitment to "vote for a Law to put Ireland on the
footing of England in respect to members vacating their
seats on accepting any place or pemsions.” Such a
measure would strengthen the powers of the Irish
parliament at the expense of its executivs.72 So English
Whig supporters presumed that their Irish counterparts
were fighting the same battle against Willism Pitt.

In Ireland, Grattan's Bill to prevent revenue
officers from voting at elections, which Fox had
recommended eight years previously, was rejected in March,
a0 parlismernt vas dissolved in the following momth.””
Because of the events of the past few months, snd the
polarization of Irish politics, the election was heavily
contested; and Henry Grattan was elected for the City of
Dublin "in scenes like our Westminster election."
However, one of the most interesting contests was that
for County Down, the traditional stronghold of the
Marquis of Downshire and his son, Lord Hillsborough. The
Irish Whigs brought in Robert Stewart and another

Penorandun by Charles Stuart (1789 or 1790), in
Ginter, op. cit., pp. 246-250.

Perattan, op. eit., III, 458

P4nhe Times, April 26, Mey 31, 1790.
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independent o contest the traditional influence of the
Downshire family.”” Residing in County Down was the
Rev. Cherles Hare, a friend of Fox.’® Gharlemont wrote
to Edmund Burke to ask Fox to solicit Rev. Hare's support
for the o 1 | o by this

tine, had mo doubt of Fox's "goodwill bowards us and our
ceuse;"” and it would have been surprising if Charles
Fox had refused an opportunity to help the Irish
opposition, So, by early July, he was doing "what he
cen" in support of the Irish independent cendidates.’®
This joint endeavour by the English snd Irish Whigs in
the Down election was pactislly successful: sfter two
nonths of industrious campaigning, the campsign was won

by Robert Stewart and Tord Eillsborough.””

73Robert Stewart, Second Marquis of Tondonderry,
better known as Viscount Castlereagh, 1769-1822, Stewart
was one of the original members of the Northern Whig Club
which worked for him during the election. In the campaign
he pledged himself to support parliamentary reform; and
he voted with the Whig opposﬂ:mn 1n tus early years as a
member of the Irish House of Comme
Rise of Castlereagh (London: Hﬂcmillan, 1953), pp “E 72,

7érhe Rev. Charles Hare was precentor of Down and
Rector of Seaforde, Co, Dowvn. His brother was the loyal
Toxite, James Eare, 1747-180k, who Tepresented Knares-
borough in WestminSter. Burke Correspondence, VI, 123-124.

77charlenont to Burke, June 26th., 1790, Ibid.

7Burke to Charlemont, July 2nd., 1790, Ibid.
Fron the content of Burke's letter, it Seems that
correspondence vas enclosed from Fox to Rev. Hare; but
this has never been found.

793ohnston, op. cit., p. 42.
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This is the only example of Fox's direct
perticipation in an Irish election which has emerged so
far; perhaps, however, further research would reveal a
much greater cooperation between the English and Irish
oppositions than has heretofore been thought. The
consolidation of the Anglo-Irish Whig alliance was a
product of Fox's determination to oppose Pitt's English
and Irish executives. FPox's polarization of English
politics had been carried over the Irish Sea through the
Regency question through which a common ground of
opposition had been found.

Yet this Anglo-Irish Whig consolidation was
maintained only with difficulty. It was around this
time thet the impact of events in France began to be felt
in both English and Irish politics, The French
Revolution of 1789 eventually split the English Whig
party and isolated Fox from many of his erstwhile
associates: in 179%, Portland and his followers formally
joined Pitt's government. Simultaneously the Revolution
had very serious effects on Pox's Irish participation,
and in the end, led to a decisive change in his views on
Irish affairs and on the Anglo-Irish constitutional
relationship, After the early years of the Anglo-French
war, he in fact urged a separation of the two countries.

The Revolution obstructed, but did not destroy Anglo-Irish
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Whig unity, although Irish property-holding Whigs could
not support Fox's position on French events, At the same

time, the Re i the of extra-
parliamentary revoiutionary organizations, the corres-
ponding society movement in England and the United Irish
agitation in Irelend. In general, the French Revolution
made English administration of Irelend much more
difficult; in particular, it encouraged Irish demands
for Catholic relief.

Charles Fox's commitment to religious toleration
was firm and consistent, and his support for concessions
to Irish Catholics, demonstrated in 1778, was renewed
after 1791, The Catholic committee in Dublin had been
established a number of years previously to promote
Catholic i and had been by

members of Irish society. In 1791, however, the
committee was taken over by a more democratic element
which wanted the establishment of full Catholic rights,
including the franchise. Thus the question of Irish
Catholic relief was brought to the foreground at a time
when the French Revolution was imposing new streins on
the Anglo-Irish relationship. By 1792 Wolfe Tone,
founder of the United Irishmen, was the committee's
Secretary and Edmund Burke's son, Richard, was appointed
English agent to the Irish Catholics to further their
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cause,20 Meanvhile in Westminster, an English Catholic
relief Bill was successfully introduced, during the
course of which Fox put forvard his belief in universal
religious toleration, which included giving Catholics
voting rights. He also intended to try and extend the
provisions of the English Bill to all Catholics; but this
never materislized.fl

Fox's adherence to universal toleration was
completely unacceptable to the Irish government. The
Ulster Presbyterians, who had dominated the popular
agitation against the government in the previous decades,

had begun to icul ren and

sentizents.2 Simultaneously the United Irish Society
vas forned in Belfast in October, 1791, with a Dublin
Society folloving a month lster. With its twin demands of
Catholic Eaancipation and parliamentary refors, the
United Irish movement initiated a democratic alliance
between Catholics and As eigh century
British rule of Treland had been largely maintained
through Protestant support in face of Catholic hostility,

zeckett, of Hodern Ireland, p. 247.

Elorenville to Westmoreland, March 24th., 1791,
Fortescue MSS, II, 41.

5ee 4,1.Q, Stevart, "The Transformation of
Presbyterian Radicalism in Northern Ireland, 1792-1825"
(unpublished M.A. dissertation, Queen's University,
Belfast, 1956).
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Pitt's government in both countries looked warily at a
democratic, non-sectarian alliance.

So the Irish government acted wisely. The
English example, together with the powerful assistance of
the Burkes, led to the Irish Catholic Relief Act of 1792.
Although the Irish government did not introduce the Bill,
it supported it and thereby ensured its success.’> The
legislation removed a number of the remaining Catholic
disabilities including those on marriage between Catholics
and Protestants, and Catholics were finally allowed to
practise law. Yet Catholic voting rights were still
refused; and Irish Catholic agitation continued. A
Catholic convention met in Dublin in December, 1792,
which finally decided to petition the King for a Catholic
franchise.®* It was at this stage that Charles Fox pub
his powerful support behind the Irish demands,

By this time, war with revolutionary France was
looking i likely and di ion among English
Whigs was becoming acute. On the one side, Fox refused

to accept the necessity of war; on the other, Portland

and the conservative Whigs were coming round to the idea

rattan, op. cit., IV, 9.

Bhoore, Tord Edwerd Fitsgerald, IT, 206, 209;
Burke Comsgonaenoe, VII, 326.
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that war was essential and inevitable. Even so, on
November 29th., Fox had written:
About Ireland we are all agreed, but nothing
respecting it can be done in our Parliament; 85
though something may, and I hope will, be said.
Despite their disagreements over the necessity of a
French war, Foxite and Portland Whigs were in substantial
agreement on the necessity of Irish reform.

Thus in Westminster on December 13th., Fox
snnounced his full support for the continuing Catholic
agitation for voting rights. The Dublin assembly vas a

mosc respectable and formidable cunventinn--l

2ll it formidable because I know nothing

totmidabls as reason, truth and austica-—-[whlch]
will oblige you [the government] by the most
cogent reasons to give way.
The government, he claimed, should have given the Irish
Catholics their voting rights "iong ago."

Pitt's ministers, however, were not prepared to
sit idly by whilst Fox ceme forward as the protagonist
of Irish Catholic relief. Dundas, the Home Secretary,
who was by virtue of his office responsible for Irish
affairs, reminded Fox that

Ireland had a legislature of her own, and that
House had no right to interfere in discussions

which had not yeb received a decision in the
proper quarter.&?

8%¥ox to_Adair, November 29th., 1792, Fox
Correspondence, III, 281.

80part, Rist,, XXX, 26.
871pia. , 49.



223

Westainster, then, had no right to interfere in Irish
affairs. Charles Fox was to hear this claim continually
during the ensuing months. The Irish executive was not
responsible to its legislature in College Green. So

Fox to its ility

to Westminster, Dundas also remarked that the

of such could only
be to provoke those disturbances which it was desirable
to svox-t."aa The government was by now fully aware of
Pox's Irish influence,

Pox denied any encroachment on Irish tegislative
sutonomy, "which he had ever been most resdy to assert";
and he argued that "the more frankness was maintained on
the subject, the better would it be for both countries."®?
The next day he continued his support for the Irish
Catholics, and attempted to use their agitation to
strengthen his own anti-war effort:

Was not the condition of Ireland to be cmidnred
in a question that implicated a war? .., in ¢l

ry there were millions of persons in a nate
or cmlste disfranchisement, and very little
elevated above slaves. Would eny o 33 bis

senses suppose that hearty support couid be
expected from that kingdom in the mne of a wnr"m
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Malone estimated that Pox's declarstion "will tend strongly
to disturb the peace and shake the whole property" of
Ireland. Fox vas using the Catholic issue as a last
desperate means of opposing Pitt's government, with his
party "driven to try what can be done by influencing the
Catholics of Ireland."”} Dr, Dremnan, on the other hand,
thought that Fox's demand for Irish Catholic voting
rights would make the government reject any further
cnnceulions.92 Ultimately, however, it was Richad Burke
who fully grasped the importance of Fox's support for the
Catholic agitation. Fox had argued that England could
not go to war with France whilst the Irish Catholics
were dissatisfied, and had "taken his ground upon that
point, snd taken it well," Burke comprehended the
validity of Fox's argument and also the dangerous
implications of his Irish support. He werned Dundas:

Be [Fox] has also 1sid himself out for partisans

1 fonvan ot Tecorer B, he e 1o3

Tt turned out that Pitt had already decided to

grant the Irish Catholics further relief before the
Dublin convention had met. The Irish executive was

gatone_to Charlemont, December 14th., 1792,
Charlemont MSS, II, 207.

9Drennan to Molier, December l4th., 1792,
Dreman Tetters, p. 109

Pz, Burke December 27th., 1792,
Burke Corres ondence, I, 55
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compelled to accept Pitt's concessions and many
conservative Irish Protestants, formerly opposed, were
prepared to accept Catholic relief once war had broken
out with Prance. So the Irish Catholic relief Bill,
sponsored by the government, beceme law, By this Act,
Catholics were given the franchise on the same terms as
the i trd on Catholic
land-holding were removed and a number of civilian and

military positions were opened to them, although not the
highest such as the Lord Lieutenancy, the Lord
Chancellorship and the Chanceliorship of the Exchequer.
Yet Irish Catholics were still excluded from their
parliament, and the attempts to Tectify this became the
essence of the Catholic Emancipation movement which
lasted until 1829 and which Fox did his utmost to support
until his death in 1806,

Thus Charles Fox had supported the Irish
Catholic cause at 2 critical juncture in English and
Irish politics. His encouragement helped to guarantee
the success of the relief measure as in December, 1792,
Pitt wished to avoid a confrontation with Fox and the
Irish Catholics. Fox had taken advantage of the emergency
situation, rather like he had done in 1778, vhen he
pursued the Irish Catholic cause in Westminster after
France had joined the American war against England. He
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also realized the value of the Irish agitation in his own
anti-var effort, and although the granting of Catholic
voting rights removed one of his arguments against
declaring war, Catholic dissatisfaction continued and
Fox was to use this in his later anti-var campaign. TYet
Fox's support for the Irish demands was sincere as he
was committed to religious toleration. Simultaneously
he made it plain to all that Irish agitation could still
look to him for support. He was trying to keep his Irish
reputation, and the Anglo-Irish Whig alliance, intact
despite the fresh problems posed by the French Revolution.
Fox greeted the fall of the Bastille in the summer
of 1789 with ecstatic ﬂeligh'c.94 In the following
Pebruary he opposed an increase in the army estimates,
and thereby refused to acknowledge any danger to England
from the French situation. In November, 1790, Burke's
Reflections on the Revolution in France was published,
whilst in April, 1791, Fox publicly expressed great
adniration for the new French constitubion. In the “
following May, Bdmnd Burke broke dramatically from Fox !
over French events and in August published his Appeal !
from the New to the 01d Whigs to stimulate Whig anxiety |

and establish support for his own position sgainst the

Ppox to Titggateick, uly 30th., 1789, Tox
Correspondence, II, 361.



French Revolution,%”

Few Irish Whigs shared Fox's jubilation. On the
contrary, the Earl of Charlemont, Henry Grattan, George
Ponsonby and numerous other erstwhile patriots all sought
to restrain Irish enthusiasm for French prinoip].as.%
Charlemont was particularly hostile to French
revolutionary ideas, snd by March, 1791, George Ponsonby
"had expressed himself much dissatisfied with Mr, Fox's
language.”” Two months lster, Thomas Enox, an Irish
member of Parlisment, informed the Irish government how
the Irish Whigs would divide if the English Whig party
broke up: Leinster's follovers, with Henry Grattan, would
go with Fox, Ponsonby's with the Duke of Portland.%

But at the end of 1791, The Times commented that
It is somewhat remarkable that Irish Whigs
m13:;:.§gtm“ to celebrate the French
Although it had been predicted that the Duke of Leinster
and Thomas Connolly would go with Fox in the event of a
Whig schism, both had publicly announced their hostility

Mitchell, op. eit., p. 169,
%Gmctu, op. cit., IV, 35-36.

W Westmoreland to Grenvilile, March 12th., 1791,
Fortescue MSS, II, 40.

PCgaitn th M. Jomsten, e State of the Trish mme
f Commons,” of the R
7o, 370385y, Fppeeedions of the fomal Luish deadeuy, 11X

%rhe Times, November 2, 1791,
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to events in Frence before the end of 1791;'%0 and early
in the following year the former radical patriot, Sir
Edward Newenham, who had mistrusted Pox's radicalism a
few years previously, declared in the Irish Commons
that "parlisment must support the strong arm of
Governzent at this critical juncture.”'? The probless
posed by the French Revolution, then, were obstructing
Fox's influence amongst Irish property-owners.

Charles Fox's opinions on the French Revolution
were based on a firm conviction that the greatest threat
to0 English liberty ceme, not from France but from the
Crown and the English executive. For a long time, in
fact, he interpreted French events as analogous to the
Whig Revolution of 1688: French despotism, royal and
religious, was being attacked in the same manner and for
the same reasons as James IT had been opposed in England

one hundred years before, 02

The French Revolution,
therefore, vas a Whig Revolution; but few Irish Whigs

could understand or accept Fox's reasoning because,

faced with an immense Catholic majority, few Irish property-

holders were prepared to go as far as Fox eventually did

1001pia,, December 14, 1791.
104yh44., Janvary 31, 1792.
1025 tche11, op. cit., p. 164,
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in his support for popular agitation. Thus Fox's
attempts to identify his own principles with those of
the leading Irish Whigs was obstructed.

During 1792, however, Fox's main efforts were
dedicated to keeping the English hig party intact.'0?
On one side stood Edmund Burke, the first Whig to oppose
French activities; on the other stood Richard Sheridan,
as verbose as ever in his support for the Revolution.

In 1792, Burke's outpourings at last received serious
attention from English Whigs. By the end of the year
the Whig party was dismembered, For Charles Fox's later
Irish participation the break was crucial.

In April, 1792, the Association of the Friends of
the People was established by a group of the more radical
Whigs led by Sheridan and Charles Grey, to promote
parliamentary reform; but Fox had no part in this.lo4

1935ee Bytterfield, "Charles James Fox and the
Whig Opposition in 1792," pp. 293-330.

Fox Correspondence, III, 22; Moore, Sheridan,
145, aTl of Ilchester, ed., The Journal of ETuaG eth,
L y Eollsnd, 1791-1811 (2 vols., 2nd. ed.; London
ngmans, Green and Co., 1 )y Iy 1&—15 Lord Honsnd, ed.,

Memoirs of the th Ps luring ime (2 vols., London:

ngmans, Green a Gh rles Grey,
1764-1845, Represented Northumbarland in the House of
Commons from 1786 to 1807. He aligned himself with Fox
and was a lendmg opponent of William Pitt throughout the
1790's. In the Fox-Grenville ministry, he became
First Lord or the Admirale,y and then Secretary of State
for Foreign Affairs, History of Parliament, II, 552.



Yet in his attempt to keep the Whig party intact, he
refused to consider the Associators as separate from the
perty. 105 Besides the fact thet nany members of the
Association were his personal friends, he was not

opposed to their demands for parliamentary reform. So
he supported Grey's motion to that effect in the House

of Commons in the spring of 1792, although he was careful
to stress that he did not think the time appropriate for
such a proposal. During the summer attempts were made to
form a coslition between Pitt and Pox; but Pox's
insistence that Pitt should vacate the Treasury meant
that the attempt never stood much chance of success, %8
Yet it was presumed in Dublin that if a coslition
occurred, then changes in the Irish administretion would
20110v.7 In Prence in fugust, the Tuileries were
stormed and Fox supported the Jacobin succausex.ma dar
with France looked probable. No longer could the Whig
aristocrats in the centre of the perty, represented by

10590x to Carlisle, July 25th., 1792, Cerlisle
M58, p. 696.

1%6pox Gorrespondence, III, 12-18; Loughborough
to Carlisle, TUgRet T80r 1752, Gablisle s o €be.

107preman's Journal, July 31-August 2, November
B, v

19850x t0 Holland, October 12th., 1792, Fox
Correspondence, II, 372-3 '}



231

the Duke of Portland and Esrl Fitzwilliam, dismiss
Edmund Burke as sn slarmist; and Fox's position was
rapidly becoming untensble.

Fox's refusal o commit himself during the summer
of 1792 to either side of the Whig party was emphasised
by the Freeman's Journsl, which brought the attemtion of

the Trish public to Pox's dissvoual of Peine's Rights
of Man, repested bis Westminster decleration that the
time was not suitable for parliamentary reform and hoped
that the Irish Whigs would sgree with their Magnus
Appollo. 19 4 tew weeks lster, in June, great
satisfaction was taken in reporting Pox's discoursgement
of "meetings and inflamatory writings which have tended

10 nnese vere a1l

to excite tumult and confusion.
acourate representations as Fox struggled to maintain
English Whig unity; yet the reports testify to Fox's
influence with the Irish opposition which became
increasingly dangerous once the Whigs had divided and
Anglo-French hostilities had begun.

In December, Fox finally abandoned his equivocal
position as he believed that unless he acted quickly,

Pitt's government would use popular enthusiasm and

109
‘Preeman's Journal, My 12-15, May 19-22, June
1619, 1992 ! !

1107434, , June 28-30, 1792.
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hysteria against the French revolutionaries to undermine
fundamental English liberties and to persuade English
armies to invade France in pursuit of a Bourbon restoration.
Thus, when the English militia was called out in the first
week of December, Fox found it a "detestable measure"-lu
and on December 13th., he moved an amendment to the
Address in Westminster which accused Pitt of increasing
the power of the executive, This was defeated by 290
votes to 50, which was a good indication of Fox's future
support in the lower house. Two days later he
unsuccessfully tried to have an ambassador sent to
negotiate with the French. In January, Louis XVI was
executed; and France declared war on England on February
1st., 1793. A week later twenty-one Whigs, led by the
Duke of Portland, agreed to support the government; and
Whig unity, in spite of Fox's energetic efforts, was
broken. 112
Fox's change of front in December was anxiously
reported to Charlamont.lu However, when Fox asked for

French negotiations on December 15th., he had outraged

Wlpoy o Pitzpatrick, December 5th., 1792, Fox
Correspondence, II, 38l.

N2itene1l, op. cit., p. 212.

Wia1one to Charlemont, December 3rd., 1792,
Charlemont Mss II 203,
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many of the conservative Whigs in England. Thus, in an
attempt to maintain Whig unity, he modersted his position
in the next few days, called the trial of Louis XVI
unjust and even joined a Westminster loyalist association.
So Charlemont was again informed of Fox's activities:

You probably have been much surprised at some

of the movements here during these last ten days.

C. Fox, as I told you he would, set off at a very

smart pace towards republicanism; but finding the

whole people of England aﬁsins\: him, has become

somewhat more moderate,ll

Charles Fox's behaviour during these few exciting

days was not consistent as he tried to hold the party
together on his own terms. In Dublin, his redical
speeches were represented as attempts to get into office:

Prom the elaborate harangue of Fox in Westminster

he seems to think the present time a favourable

opportunity to get into power. But remember, he

tried to become the uncontrollable Director of

India in 1783, to secure millions to himself.

S0 his profession of principles and patriotisn

nust be looked upon with a smile of derision,l15
Then, Fox would change front slightly in England; end the
Irish press used his declaration that Louis XVI's trial
was "highly unjust" to strengthen its argument that the

Irish opposition should fight against the Prench.ll®

W4a10me o Charlemont, December 22nd., 1792,
Ibid., 209.

% reeman's Journal, December 20-22, 1792.

U61p14., December 27-29, 1792,
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In this way, Fox's politics were carefully scrutinized
in the weeks preceding the outbresk of war. Immediately
before hostilities commenced, Ponsonby "reprobated most
violently the Belfast Star for making use of the term
‘our French brethren'." 7 His rejection of French
principles was solid. Similarly, Henry Grattan, Fox's
longtime ally, supported the \mr.us However, there was
one significant exception to Irish Whig hostility to
French principles: Fox's cousin, Lord Edvard Fitzgerald.
For the last few years, Fitzgerald's friends had
seen him as a "thorough roxite“;119 and by early 1792 he
was committed to Irish parliamentary reform and Catholic
relier.}20 By October of that year he had expressed his
disgust at Irish property's fear of the French Revolution,
and was in Paris paying regular visits to the National

Assenbly.’?l The following month, British sympsthizers

N7rennen to McTier, Jamuary 3lst., 1793,
Dremnan Letters, p. 125.

U8y pines, February 27, 1793

1194y Sareh Napier to Tady Susan 0'Brien, May
29th., 1789, Lennox Correspondence, II, 71.

ord Edward Fitzgerald to Duchess o!‘ Lemstel‘
(early 1792"), Leinster Correspondence, II, 63-64,

1lyoore, Lord Bdverd Fitggerald, I, 169-170.
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in the French capital celebrated the recent French
victories over the invading European armies and proposed
various radical toasts and subscriptions to the French
regime. Fitzgerald was one of them; and for his
conduct, he vas dismissed from the British army.l22

Prior to the Christmas recess in 1792, Fox brought
the case of Fitzgerald's dismissal before the House of
Commons. He had heard that the dismissal was for the
donation of a subscription to the French regime for
support 2gainst invasion. This gift, he claimed, was
"legal" and might, indeed, be "infinitely meritorions."'2
Thus Fox demonstrated his support for the French system;
but there was also a principle at stake, In 1789 Fox
had criticized the Marquis of Lothian's removal from his
army command for having supported the opposition during
the Regency crisis. On that occasion, Fox had admitted
the "prerogative of the Crown to dismiss officers, but
urged that the exercise of such a power should be

jealously watched."'®* The principle, then, was that

216 nines, Denember 31 1792 Moore, Tond

Edward Fitzggrsﬁ T,

123par1, Wist., XXX, 171,

1245 3. de Fonblanque, Political and Milita
Episodes in Latter Half of The Eighteenth Centu:
Thondon: TeouiiTan 1876), bo. TSI,



the King could not arbitrarily dismiss his military
commanders; and Fox thought that Fitzgerald had been
removed "out of caprice founded upon political topics."'2
Fox's defence did not lead to Fitzgerald's
reinstatement; but his speech was more than a public
acknowledgement of his admiration for the young Irish
nobleman, The incident gave Fox an opportunity to

emphasise both the on the 's

power to dismiss its military commanders and to publicly
announce his hostility to the European armies' invasion of
France. It also provided an indication of his future
Irish participation. Fitzgerald was one of the few Irish
Whigs who remained sympathetic towards the Fremch
Revolution, even in its darkest hours; and he was to
play an important pert in the pursuit of Irish reform
from 1793, In this sttempt, both within parlisment and
outside, he was to find a2 loyal associate in Charles Fox.
Fox's experiences of 1782-1783 determined his
future opposition to William Pitt. English politics were
polarized round Pitt and Fox; but it was not until the
disputes over the Regency that this cleavage became
apparent in Irish politics. The Regency question and
its aftermath brought party into Irish politics, and

25per1, Hist., XXX, 173.
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Charles Fox was ultimately responsible for this develop-
ment., The possibility of a Regency became a crisis
because of Fox's opposition to Pitt's ministry and the
expected change of government; and Fox saw the whole
dispute in a party context. The possibility of a change
in Irish government, followed by the dismissal of a
number of Irish Whigs from the Irish executive led Fox's
Irish associates to see the dispute in its party context
as well, The consolidation of an Anglo-Irish Whig
sllisnce, towards which Fox had been working since 1775,
was now realized. In 1789-1790, the party struggle
between Pitt and Fox was transposed fully fledged across
the Irish Sea; and Anglo-Irish Whig unity was
correspondingly strengthened. It remained to be seen
whether it would survive the problems posed by the
French Revolution.



CHAPTER VII

THE STRUGGLE FOR IRISH CIVIL LIBERTIES: CHARLES FOX,
CATHOLIC EMANCIPATION AND PARLIAMENTARY REFORM,
1793-1798

With the outbresk of war between England and
France in 1793, and the disintegration of the English
Whig party, Charles Fox became the undisputed leader of a
small party which opposed the war abroad and rejected
Pitt's repressive policies at home. Fox's commitment to
the restraint of the executive power and the necessity of
party continued, but by 1796 he had finally accepted that
the legislature had to be reformed first and restored to
its proper role in the constitution afterwards.
Simultaneously Fox committed his party to an intense
involvement in Irish affeirs and a continual pursuit of
Irish parliamentery reform and Catholic Emancipation. In
fact, Pitt's measures at home end in Irelend mutually
convinced Fox of the danger of the government; and both
became inextricably intertwined to push Fox into the most
radical position of his political career. In both
countries Pox saw individual liberties, and liberty in
general, repressed by William Pitt; and the actions of
both London and Dublin governments fully confirmed 21l of
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his worst fears. Charles Fox became the shelter not only
for English liberties but also for Irish liberties as he
stood at the head of both English and Irish reform
movements.

The Irish situation during the French war was
‘tense, with the growth of the revolutionary United Irish
movement and the fears of a Fremch invasion. Charles

Fox's Irish participati i assumed

overtones; in particular, two of his Irish associates,
Arthur O'Connor and Lord Edward Fitzgerald, had become
United Irishmen by 1796, Fox was aware of and sympathized
with some of the United Irish intentions, he appreciated
the gravity of the Irish situation more fully than most
other English statesmen, and at Haidstone, in 1798, he
defended 0'Comnor against a charge of high treason. Like
Pitt, Pox realized that British rule of Ireland had to
change; but his solution was not legislative union but
Anglo-Irish separation, with the Irish government made
responsible to the needs and aspirations of the Irish
people.

The recall of Portland's associate Fitzwilliam
from the Irish Lord Lieutenancy in 1795 had a decisive
effect on Fox's views on the Anglo-Irish constitutional
relationship, Fitzwilliam's dismissal revealed without
any doubt that the Irish executive was responsible to
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nobody but William Pitt. Pitt's action stood as a defiant
confirmation of the necessity to conmtrol the Irish
executive and convinced Fox that the constitution of 1782
had failed. In 1797, therefore, Charles Fox urged that
the Irish be given more sutonomy. Indeed, to satisfy
Irish demands for reform and to establish a responsible
Irish government, he was prepared to contemplate an
independent Ireland.

Charles Fox's changing role in English politics
influenced his commitment to changes in Irish government,
From 1793 he was the undisputed leader of a small but
brilliant and vocal opposition party. His leadership
supporters were Grey, Sheridan, Whitbread, Erskine, the
Dukes of Bedford and Norfolk and Lord Holland. By the
end of 1793, all hope of reconciliation with the Portland
Whigs vas gone, and Fox was able to relate, in an
unrestricted manmer, his political ideals to his devoted
adherents without attempting to maintain the support of
the conservative Whigs and with little opportunity of
Jjoining the government.

The Poxite Whigs were unrelentingly hostile to the
French war. Fox himself had opposed the possibility of
armed conflict with France before the war had commenced,
and he did not accept its necessity until the months
prior to his death in 1806. As a corollary to his pacifist
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platfora, he interpreted Pitt's domestic policies as
attempts to destroy individual liberties, utilizing the
French war and the supposed conspiracies of the English
"Jacobins" as his excuse. So the Foxites now concentrated
their ition on the Whig of the

necessity to restrain the executive power, which Fox had
articulated in the previous decade, Fox became
especially concerned with the fate of reformist individuals
and in September, 1793, he was shocked by the sentences
given to the two Scottish reformers, Muir and Pallet.l In
1794, on the contrary, he was delighted with the release
of Hardy, Tooke and Thelvall and he was determined to save
United Tristmen Avthur 0'Comor in 1798.% 411 of these
individuals had been arrested on charges of high treason.

The dire necessity to check the executive
reaffirmed Fox's belief in the importance of party.
Although he thought of seceding from Westminster in 1793,
he decided against it out of a sense of obligation to the
public, Also he feared that the public would misinterpret
it, and see it simply as the result of having little

Lnitonel1, &, it Francis 0'Gorman, The
and_the Frenc ksvolntlun (New York: St.
S, sy D. 166,

Aftu‘ the acquittal of Eardy, Tooke and Thelwall,
ox wrote: "It is . good m.ng that the crininal justice
ot the country n the hands C;
IF;:Iz tgsl!ulland, n-eaub-r xseh., 179%, Fox Correspondence,
sy 95.
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opportunity of gaining office.’ So Fox refused to despsir,
in spite of the small size of his party compared to Pitt's
ever-broadening lajoxity.q' An opposition party was the
only way in which the power and influence of the Crown
could be checked:

party is by far the best system, if not the

only onme, for snmnmg the cause of liberty

in this country ... my duty, and that of

those who think like mo, to use the utmost

endeavours to preserve together what little

remains of this system, or to_revive it if it is

supposed to be quite extinct.

Although the Foxite Whigs disagreed over the
extent of parliamentary reform which they wished to see
established, they were all committed to it in one way or
another, Fox himself hed done little to promote it
since his connexions with the Association movement in
1780; but he had supported Grey's efforts in 1792 and

ontinued to do so throughout the early years of the war.
Pox's commitment to perliamentary refora had a profound
effect on his support for Irish agitation.

The Foxites' pursuit of Irish reform was
consistent, although Irish demands tended to play them-
selves out in unconstitutional channels after 1795. In

Tox to Hollsnd, April 25th., 179% and April 12th.,
1795, Ibid., ITT, 71, 185-106.

'*Fox to Holland, March 9th. and August 18th., 1794,
Ibid., 64-68, 80-81.

S¥ox to Holland, October Sth., 1704, Ibid., 85-89.
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two of Fox's most vocal supporters, Charles Grey and
Richard Sheridan, there were additional incentives for
Irish participation. Grey married into the Ponsomby
family in 1794 and was on intimate terms with his wife's
family. So he took a great interest in Irish politics.®
Sheridan had been energetic in his native country's
affairs since his entrance into Westminster in 1780.
Above all, however, it was Fox's ovn concern which
influenced and committed his party to support the Irish
reform agitation. The result was an English political
party with a distinet Irish platform.

Pox was adamant in his rejection of repressive
measures Pitt introduced in 1793 and 17%. Usually his

itd Irish and

as was the case in the debates over the Treitorous
Correspondence Bill in March, 1793. This Bill made it
treasonable for any of the "King's subjects" to supply
the French with certain enumerated articles; and it was
forcibly opposed by the Foxites though loyally supported
by the Duke of Portland.” Fox presumed that the phrase

Trevelyan, Lord Grey of the Reform Bill,
xgsu-lm (2nd. ed.. Tondon: 'Tongnans, Green and Ua‘u—pm‘_y

89, 113; (Hereinafter Teferred c0 as Lord )
See also 11cnesm; ob. git., I, 171, Lot Grer-

71he Tines, March 28, April 17, May 10, 1793.
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"King's subjects" necessarily included the Irish; hence
the Bill "went to legislate for Ireland by msking that
treason in an Irishman by an English Act of Perlisment
vhich vas not tresson by en Irish Act."S This was an
interesting constitutional problem; and to emphasise Irish
legislative autonomy at this time could have serious
repercussions in that country. Pitt, however, argued
that 2s the Irish had a common interest with the English,
then it could be presumed that they would edopt such
regulations as were necessary for their mutual safety.
In this situation, "one of the two legislatures must take
the 1ead,"? Tox, on the other hand, found this an
"extravagant doctrine.” Indeed, "he had never heard of
two independent countries legislating by turns for each
other.” Westainster, he claized, had no right whatsoever
to legislate on Irish internal affairs; and he demanded
that the operation of the Bill be confined to persons
residing in Britain,}0

The last thing which the government wanted during
the early months of Anglo-French hostilities was 2 renewal

CPar1. Fist., XXX, 623.
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of the over Irish legislative autonomy; so
Pitt retrested. The Bill was amended to restrict its

operation to Britain, although 2 similar Bill was
successfully introduced into College Green a few months
1ater.’! Pitt was avare of Fox's Irish influence and
therefore forestalled the possibly dangerous repercussions
of Fox's opposition. Yet it was during the early years
of the war that Pitt's measures at home, and Pitt's Irish

were mutually Fox of the danger of
the government. Fox rejected Pitt's wartime policies in
both countries, and in May, 1793, declared that

the scandalous incresse in offices in Irelnnu

was one of the most importent heads of b

charge of the great increase lately in the

influence of the Crown.12
Indeed, his greatest i against the

arose from Pitt's Irish policies.

Ugne 1imes, June 24, 1793,

2144, Me :
.y May 14, 1793, The Crown's parlismentary
influence In England declined in the closing decades of
the eighteenth century. In 1765, it hld included 163
mezbers in the Commons, 116 by 1780

owever, the reverse was the case in m Dublin Camons,
where tha Crown included 78 members in 1769, 96 in 1782
and 110 by 1790 after the Regency crisis. kennedy,
op. cit., p. 11.



In May, 1794, s report from a secret committee
of the House of Commons alleged conspiratorial agitation
in Britain, and Habeas Corpus was suspended. Fox opposed
the suspension, and in the debates on the report he took
the opportunity to refer to the recent Irish Catholic
convention. Arguing in favour of public meetings, he
emphasised that the Irish Catholics would not have been
given the franchise if they had not supported their
demands with a convention. In 1792, he pointed out,
Catholic requests for voting rights had been rejected.
Conventions vere therefore beneficial.’? So Fox

to Irish 1 into his

opposition, although he found few opportunities to discuss
Irish affairs until the recall of Pitzwilliam in 1795.
And his activities in England were constantly observed
by Irish politicians.

Although numerous Irish Whigs disagreed with
Pox's sympathy with the French Revolution, their
allegiance to the English leader remained largely intact
as they accepted that some degree of reform was necessary
‘to conciliate the Irish population. They supported
repressive measures against revolutionary activities but

simultaneously wanted reform before peaceful change

per), Fist., KKII, 507-508.
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became impossible, Irish Whig demands for reform to
protect Irish society against a democratic revolution
and the United Irishmen meant that Fox's influence with
them managed to survive many of the problems posed by
French events. In 1793, minor concessions were made to
Irish reformers, such as the restriction of the pension
list, However, an Arms Act prohibited the importation
and distribution of arms and ammunition without a

licence, and meetings of representative assemblies were

prohibited. Whig ition to these

was minimal.“ Then, in 1794, William Ponsonby's moderate
representative reform Bill was easily defeated, shattering
hopes for reform through constitutional ||ezms.15 Irish
parliamentary opposition was veak.ls In part, this was
because of Irish Whig hostility to the French Revolution,
and Henry Grattan was criticized by radicals in both

lkxennedy, op. cit., pp. 127-133.

Sgrattan, op. cit., IV, 145-151, Ponsonby's
plan was to increase the re represantanon by 14 members and
enlarge parliamentary boroughs to an area 24 miles in
circumference.

1rne mimes, March 18, 179%.
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London and Dublin for his opposition to French qvants.17
Yet because of Irish Whig demands for reform to avoid
social revolution, Charles Fox remained an influential
force in Irish politics.

Thus, the scheme to pay Fox's debts, which was
launched in the summer of 1793 by his English supporters,
was carried over into Ireland, and one of the principal

subscribers was Lord Edward Fingerald.ls Irish

tributi were by Irish

and were to

' 19

curtail Fox's reputation with the Irish opposition.
The Freeman's Journal glibly announced that "the people of
England have had too much experience of blue and buff
polities"; and with more cynicism than amusement, Irish
Foxites were accused of reciting the "Pseudo-Patriots'
Creed," with its important article, "I believe in the
infallibility of Mr. Fox."”® Care vas taken to refute

171p44, , February 1, 179,
8oore, Lord Baward Fitzgerald, I, 232.
preensn’s Journal, July 13, 1793.

201 4 Hay 14-16, December 5, 1793. Blue and
buff were the colaurs of the Foxite thgs in England.



2 249
Fox's parliamentary arguments.”. The Foxites were so

to ‘the policies that
"they pursue it, regardless of any absurdity into which
it may heve led them." If Pitt made peace with France,
‘then Fox would oppose it to maintain his hostility to
the ministry. So Fox acted solely out of political
expediem:y.22
At the beginning of 179%, Lord Edward Fitzgerald
sincerely lamented Irish support for the war:
1f we do anything . to support Charles Fox
and his friends against the war, I shall be in
better humour.23
Fitzgerald, then, still saw the alliance with Fox as one
of practical importance. Malone, however, the secretary
of the Northern Whig Club, thought differently. Fox's
language was a deliberate attempt to appeal to the "mob,"
an appeal which could not be fulfilled by "rational
avgunents."®* Charlenont's view, on the other hand, was
more complimentary. Although he disagreed with Fox, he
credited him with acting on principle:

2l1bid,, March 1, Hay 24, 1794,
221bid., April 15, July 24, 179%,
Zpoore, Tord Bdvard Fitsgerald, I, 234-235.

alone_to Cherlemont, February 20th., 1794,
Charlemont MSS, II, 220.
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Fo man [was] ever possessed of a better heart,
and though I am thoroughly persusded that he
has carried his principles much too far,

1 am equally sure that he has ever actea upon
principle. In the heat of debate, 5 ]
scarcely possible not to transgress.25

Charlemont's estimate was fair, given his bostility to the

French Fox's was and
sincere.

In July, 1794, the conservative Portland Whigs
finally joined the government which they had been support-
ing since the outbreak of the war. Portland became EHome
Secretary and Lord Fitzwilliam was to become Irish Lord
Lieutenant as soon as a position could be found for
Westmoreland. Fox was gravely disappointed with this
formal coslition, particularly with the accession of
Fitzwillion, his "most affectionate friend,"2® Indeed,
bis long-time admiration of Fitzwilliem was to influence
his attitude towards the latter's recall from Dublin in
the following year.

Yet with the Duke of Portland as Home Secretary
and Lord Fitzwilliam as future Irish Lord Lieutenant, it

25cmmont to Malone, June 4th,, 1708, Ibid., 282,

ox to_Holland Augult 18th., 179,
Corres ondenoe. 111, 79-80. See also Laﬂy Saral E Napier to
ady Susan O'Brien, Septambex- 9th., 1794, Lennox
Correspondence, II, 116; Trotter, op. c&t., . 516,
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was presumed on both sides of the Irish Sea that changes
were to take place in Irish government. Portland presumed
that he had sole responsibility for Irish affsirs;” and
when the appointments became known in Ireland, the rumours
of Fitzwillism's intentions were endless: Leinster,
Grattan and the Ponsonbys would join the government,
Catholics would be eligible for parliament, the Convention
Act would be repealed, and there would be an absentee tax
on Irish landowners, a commutation of tithes, an Anglo-
Irish commercial Bill and parliamentary retorn.2® 8o the
Catholic i in Dublin its agitati 29

Yet although Pitt was not against Irish Whig participation
in Fitzwilliam's administration, he told the future Lord
Lieutenant to try and prevent the Catholic agitation and
do nothing about further Catholic relief until instructions
had been veceived from London.>

2Burke to Windhsm, October 16th., 1794, Baring
op. Cit., p. 231; Aucklund to Beresford, July 27th., 1794,
Beresford, op. cit., I , 37. Memorandum of Lord Gremlle,
Forbescue | s TIT, 35-3

®1he Tines, July 24, July 28, September 2
Septenber 7, Uctober 1’79‘: 35 %

291bid., January 7, 1795.

BoPitt to Buckinghamshire, December 24/25, 1794,
cue MSS, IT, 653; Memorandum of Lord Grenville,
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The Irish Whigs were somewhbat disappointed because
Fox was not a member of the coalition; but this was
forgotten in January, 1795, when Fitzwilliam arrived in
Dublin.”! One imsediate consolstion to tue Irish Forites
was the promotion of Fox's friemd, the Rev. Newcome, to
the Archbishopric of Armagh and hence Primacy of Ix-sland.32
In fact, all shades of Irish reformers were enthusiastic
with Fitzwillism's arrival, and The Times predicted that
the anti-war Foxite opposition in London could not "hope
for any friends to the Pacific systes” in Dublin.>> The
paper was mistaken as problems soon arose over the new
Lord Lieutenant's activities. Fitzwilliam, presuming that
he could act as the situation warranted, made no attempt
to discourage the remewed Catholic agitation. On the
contrary, he declared his support for a relief Bill which
Gratten planned to introduce, as he believed that it was
necessary to concede to the Catholic demand for membership
of parliament, and he had not heard anything to the
contrary from London.>* Houever, Pitt's cabinet then

lardy, op. eit., II, 339-340; Drennan to HeTier,
Februsry 28th., 1795, Drennan Letters, pp. 223-224; Tome,
PR T T R

24404y, op. eit., II, 342; Fox Correspondence, T
14; Russell, ot 356, T, '6; Charlonont N8, T, 29
1he Dines, January 31, February 2, 1735,

H3ee Robert B, MacDowell, "The Fitzwilliam Episode,”
Irish Historical Studies, XVI, No. 58 (1966), 115-130.
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ordered the Lord Lieutenent to oppose the Bill, In the
mesntime, the situstion had been aggravated by Fitzwilliaa's

dismissal of and two und ies of state,

who had immediately appealed to Pitt against Fitzwilliam's
actions.® By the end of February, Fitzwilliam had been
recalled and replaced by Lord Camden, and Beresford was
reinstated as First Commissioner of Revenue.

Charles Fox's immediate reaction to the report of
Pitzwilliam's recall was one of disbelief and disappointment.
Although he thought that if the report was correct, then
the coalition between Portland and Pitt would dissolve,
more important to him was the forestalling of any Irish
reforms with Fitzwilliam's clhal:laul}6 Changes in Irish
government were more important than party political
advantages. \When the recall was confirmed, confusion
ensued over whether Fitzwillism bad exceeded his
instructions. Fitzwilliam claimed that Pitt's cabinet had
deceived him, and Fox was immediately convinced that this
assertion was correct, Pox fully supported Grattan's Bill,
and the right of Catholics to enter parliament:

35itsuillian to Portland, Jamary 15th., 1795,
Portescue MSS, III, 9.

580 to_Holland, February 24th., 1795, Fox
orrosgondenu, 111, 9.
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28 to the Cccholic Bil1, it is not only right
princ: y but after’all that was given to
the Cathohes two years ago, it seems little
short of madness to dispute (and at such a time
as this) sbout the very little which remains to
be given them. To suppose it possible that now
that they are eleetora they will long submit to
bo Lneu;ible 0 P: ligrnt. appears to me to be
surd beyond measure..
So prineiple, practicality and plain common sense all
pointed to Catholic membership of parliament.
Simultaneously Fox saw Fitzwilliam's dismissal in
8 party context and hoped that it would make 2 "great
impression” in England, with "the business soon made
public in all its 'pal’t!."ae Tondon opposition newspapers
made the most of Fitzwillism's recall. Over in Dublin,
there was tremendous excitement and Henry Grattan, advising
the Catholics to persevere in their quest for full

ion, decided to his Catholic Bill

immedistely after the Easter recess; snd the Dublin Whig
Club were solidly behind hizm.’ Fitsvilliam vrote 2

public letter of explanation to Carlisle and other Whig
aristocrats in which he vas very critical of Pitt.*® so

37%0x to olland, March 6th., 1795, Ibid., 100-101.
rpia,

e Tines, March 4, Mareh 5, March 21, March 26,

1795.

*Orne Tines published both Fitavilliss's letter to
Carlisle and Carlisle's reply.
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Fox postponed his motion for a committee on the state of

the nation, which he had intended for early March, in

order to incorporate the latest Irish developments.'l

The Irish situation was dangerous, and had

awakened the attention of the public, and
especially of those who consider that island
to be a very valuable and essential part of
+the British Empire,42

The danger of Irish opposition to British rule, with Fox's
encouragenent, during wartime had been amply demonstrated

during the American conflict; so a vehement debate was

43

expected over Fox's motion.

Charles Fox was determined to discuss Irish affairs
in Westminster. His answer to the government's claim of
non-interference with Irish legislative autonomy was
simple and direct:

When a British House of Commons is advising the
king upon a matter of so much importance as
peace or war, they ought to extend their
consideration to all the material parts of the
empire; and surely it is unnecessary to state
that Ireland is & most important part of His
Majesty's dominions, as furnishing great
resources of men for the army and the mavy in
tine of war 44

#lereoman's Journal, March 24, 1795; The Times,
March 16, Farch 20, 1795, —

%2mhe Tines, March 19, 1795.
#1b44., March 23, 1795.

iy

Hist., XXXI, 1384,
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In vartime, then, the House of Commons had to discuss the
Irish situetion. Yet there was snother equally important
reason, which Pox had been aware of since 1784. This
Justification for discussing Irish affairs in Westminster
was based on the nature of the 1782 constitution:
The identity of her constitution, and her
being under the same executive ernment.
make Ireland a constant object of uttencian,
from which we may derive information
regard to the disposition of the King s
Ministers, to which we may look for les
to be imitated or errors to be avoided.¥
The Irish executive, appointed by the English government,
provided lessons and experiences from which English
statesmen could profit. Sstisfied with this dual
Justification for debating Irish affairs in Westminster,
Fox turned his attention to Fitzwilliam's dismissal.

He clsimed that Fitzwilliam had intended to reform
radically the Irish adaministration, and he fully supported
this endeavour. Pitt's government had betrayed Fitzwilliam,
as the latter would not have given "hopes and promises
which he was not authorized to give" to the Irish, This
betrayal had left Ireland in a dangerous situation, with
an increase in Irish opposition to British rule; and

Tho blame n.tuehu either on the Hinistex-s

Ireland or on the Ministers here; and if

this House doea not i.nshtute an unquir,y and
explain clearly and satisfactorily to the

uia,
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public who hes been the cause of ﬂus alarming
danger, ve may be responsible for tI
dismemberment of the British Empire.

To Charles Fox, the Fitzwilliam episode was an example of

the £ 1 and ility of the

executive power to the legislature.

Fox went on to emphasise the importance of
extensive Irish reform., Both Irish Catholics and
Protestants had justified grievances; hence, the cleavage
in Irish politics was not so much between Catholics and
Protestants but one between the mass of the people on one
side and the corrupt, minority Irish government on the
other.w The Catholic concessions of 1793, he charged,
were being violated, and Catholics were still suffering
from discrimination. This was essentially correct.
Although Catholics were legally allowed to vote in the
municipalities, in practice many were still excluded and
corporation privileges remained intaz:b.“8 He also
stressed that the Irish government was much more corrupt
then the English, However, he concluded with e return to
his major i the 1ity of the

pover. The guilty ministers, probably those in England,

4orbid,, 1386-1387.
¥71bia., 1387,

#2566 The Times, April 15, 1793.
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had to be discovered and subsequently punished.*? Charles
Pox was therefore convinced that Pitt's government was
responsible for the debacle over Fitzwilliam's Lord
Lieutenancy.

Fox's comments were hostilely received. He
denied that he had made his motion purely on account of
Irish affairs, as he had intended it before Fitzwilliem
bad been dismissed. This was true; but he had postponed
it to incorporate the latest Irish developments, He was
also accused of Irish

and making the Irish situation eritical for the British
government. By now, Fox was very familiar with this
charge, and, as usual, he denied its validity:

+ee Who has put Ireland in danger m

have moved for an enquiry into the stacu or it,

or those vho. by their mischiavougownlnct.

have made juiry necess:
His greatest censure, however, was directed to the claim

that could not in Irish devel

Fox repeated that this position was invalid, as "what any
Minister does in his official situation is fair matter of
inquiry in this House, whether it regards this country or
Ireland."”! Irish matters were discussed in the English

49par, mist., KOOI, 1367.

%Orpia., 1810,
S1bia.
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cabinet, so could not deny s right
to ascertzin their proceedings.

Fox's motion was unsuccessful; and so was that in
the upper House, where Lord Guildford repeated Fox's
argunents.’ The Tines agreed with Pitt's refusel to
enguire into Pitzwillism's recall, and strongly objected
to Pox's attempt to establish the public accountability

of the executive:
+vo were it once admitted that the Executive
Government ought to give its reasons for advising
His Hajoaty to chuga any of his servants, the
would be dangerous, and dispute
unmihble.53
Fitzwilliam's instructions were a private, not a public
concern. And the King had the right to dismiss any of
his servants without ruwn.sq'
The Dublin opposition press assiduously studied
Fox's speech. The Freemsn's Journal claimed that Fox hed
been represented in Dublin as the "hero of Parlismentary
harangue, without opposition and all the argument to
himself." And it repeated Pitt's claims that Pitzvilliam

had not been given complete freedom to do as he vish.ﬂ.ss

52mhe Times, April 1, 1795.

1bid., ey 1, 1795.
H1bia., Hey 2, Hey 12, 1795.

S5Preemsn's Journal, ipril 2, April &, 1795.



Two months later the English Whig opposition
demanded a Westminster enquiry specifically into Fitz-
willism's recall. Again Pox was very active in the debates,
and his arguments were similar to those of the previous
March, Fitzwilliam's dismissal revealed, in an
"extraordinary manner," the exercise of the King's

to remove his y and

warranted a parliamentary enquiry. Similarly, the exact

nature of Fitzwilliem's i ns had to be

as there was over the Lord 's claim

that he had been deceived by the government.>® Fox again
indignantly denied that he vas exciting Irish animositys
instesd, the greatest denger to Irish stability came from

led by i The only herm in
Fitzwilliam's conduct was "to the few individuals whose
plen it was to govern Ireland by eornption.'” Perhaps,
he suggested, in a sweeping reference to eighteenth
century English administration of Ireland, Fitzwilliam

bad been recalled because he had been the only person since
1688 who had manager to unite Irish Catholics and
Protestants. He declared his support for Catholic member-

ship of parliament, as this was the unanimous wish of the

par, Mist., XOKT, 15381530,

FT1bia,, 1502,
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TIrish people, snd rejected Pitt's repressive Irish
policies, which had caused Irishmen to regard the law as
oppressive. And since Fitzwilliam's departure, ministers
had resorted to their old policy of ruling by corruption.
Fox concluded:

He had heard much of the influence of the

Crown in this country. He heheved J.t tu

be as great as it was ever stated t

But in Ireland, corruption had been vublicly

avowed and acted upon. Such a government must

certainly be in a very decrepid state, and

therefore any plan for the relief of tha people

was highly necessary.58

Royal influence, Fox's overriding fear, was more
pronounced in Dublin than in London; and this led him to
adopt a more radical and popular political stance after
1795. Fitzwilliam's recall proved that the Irish executive
was responsible to no person or institution except the
wishes of William Pitt, It stood as a defient confirmation
of the necessity to control the executive power by the
legislature. Both English and Irish ministers were
responsible to Westminster, and both English and Irish
developments vere now finally and completely incorporated
by Fox into one political whole.
Pitt's parlismentary majority ensured that the

enquiry was not granted; the Freeman's Journal thought it

was unconstitutional anyway.’® But the repercussions of

Brpid,, 1568,

5reenan's Journal, May 26, 1795.
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the episode were felt in both countries. Charles Fox had
emphasised the necessity of Irish reform, including Catholic
Emancipation, the removal of Dissenter's disabilities and
the repeal of repressive legislation. His future
articulation of Irish policies always included reference
to Fitzvilliam's attempt at reform; and Fitzwilliam
hinsele ves pleased that Fox bad taken up his cense.

1y, the Lord s dismissal was

determined by the necessity to meintain unity between
English and Irish executives. Otherwise, Pitt feared,
Ireland would be impossible to govern under the 1782
constitution, Fox's fear, that the government had acted
arbitrarily and thereby lost an opportunity for pursuing
Irish reform, was soon proved substantially correct.
After Fitzwillian's departure, the universal
demand of Irish reformers was for Catholic Emancipetion;
‘but in early May, Grattan's Bill was rejected, 155 votes
to 88, One of the Bill's principal supporters was Arthur
0'Connor, who became a leading United Irishmen in the
following year. Indeed, the defeat of reform through
constitutional chammels, with a corresponding loss of

in the Irish led to an increase in
the United Irish movement; and the Irish 'higs, who had

go11and, op. eit., I, 75.
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supported Fitzwilliam, returned to wpouitlm.sl
In fact, Pitt's English and Irish governments were
faced with outside in

1795 and 1796. In both countries Pitt's solution was the
same: repression.

In Englend, the two Acts of November, 1795, to
secure the King's person and government, and to prevent
seditious meetings were vigorously opposed by the Foxites.
A wave of popular protest accompanied the passage of the
legislation, and Charles Fox led numerous Westminster
meetings to address the King and petition parlisment
ageinst the meumu.ez Fox's politics had taken a
decisively radical shift; and his small party temporarily
Joined in opposition with the London Corresponding Society
2nd other populer organizations.®? Perhaps an affilistion
between the Corresponding Society and the Whig Club was
the only means of saving liberty.®® Fox's emphasis was on
"resistance” to Pitt's measure, and this doetrine

61,
Hardy, op, cit., II, 358; Moore, Lord Edvud
14, 1, T332 o11and, op y

Fite, -26%; Holland, op. git.,

62rhe Times, November 17, 1795.
53gavazd P, Thompson, The Making of the English
Horking Clags (London: Penguin Books, 'IEEE), P, Be.

S%nhe Times, December 14, 1795.



hsa, wa raur taken deeper roots in the breasts

his friends out of doors, who by the
phrau mght understand a resistance by force of
arms against any acts of the legislature they
may not approve of.65

At the Whig Club, Fox 1y the

of popular associations throughout the country in opposition
to the Two Aets.56
Pox knew the dangers inherent in his latest

political moves. But

T"”ﬁ.:&"”es:’in”3»:215&"3J&:ﬁﬁi“:ﬁih""”“

liberties of the people and a vigorous

exertion attended, I admit, with considerable

hazard at & time like the present,67
And he admitted his doubts to Fitzpatrick: "We talk of
measures without doors which I own I think right, but yet
go to with a sort of nluctmu.'ea In 1796 Fox reasoned
that his party could do little as "the contest must be
between the Court and the Democrats." Yet without Foxite
assistance, the popular movements would be either too weak
to influence the government or too strong, so that without
Whig influence they could well go to "greater excesses,”
which had to be avoided.’> This confrontation persuaded

51bid., December 9, 1795.
8611id, , December 21, 1795.

780x to Holland, November 15th., 1795, Fox
Correspondence, 111, 124,

S85ox o Pitspatrick, November Oth., 1795, Ibid.,
267-268. See also Fox to Hollend, Noveber 17th., T735,
and Decénber 24th., 1795, Ibid., 126, 127-129,

8%0x to Folland, 1796, Ibid., 135-136.
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Fox to reverse his emphasis which he had held since 1784,
that the influence and power of the House of Commons ought
to be restored first, and reformed afterwards. Instead,
now "Parliament should first be reformed, and then
restored to its just influence.”’® Thus

¥r. Fox, from being the leader of that

respectable Opposition which is ammd to

guard the onscimm sgainst t

mcmnchnm;s f Ministers and the Servants

of i is now become the frontispiece

oF £ Sct silie noakite ce i Constitution

and the Royal Prerogative.?

Meanwhile in Ireland, the situation was complicated
when religious hostilities were sharpened in the north
during the autumn of 1795. The Protestant Peep O Day boys
clashed with the Catholic Defenders at the Battle of the
Dianond in County Armagh, and after the Protestant victory
the Orange Onder vas established.’? During the mext few
months, Catholics in Amgh and adjacent counties were

to and many sought
refuge in 'y were

absorbed into the United Irish movement, This was important
as the Catholic Defenders had initially organized them-
selves to protect their land sgainst Protestant incursions

Prbia,

7Lthe Times, December 22, 1795.
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end were not, therefore, originally, a revolutionary
organization, By early 1796, erstwhile Whig and founder
of the United Irishmen, Wolfe Tone, was in Paris, regular
negotiations were opened with the French government, and
the possibility of a French invasion of Ireland increased.
It was around this time that Lord Edward
Fitsgereld and Arthur 0'Connor becane United Irishmen.””
Of fundamental importance, both were Fox's associates.
Fox's friendship with Fitzgerald went back a number of
years, whilst at 0'Connor's trial at Maidstone in 1798,
Fox announced that he hed known him for four years.’®
Pitzgerald and 0'Comnor soon became leading members of the
United Irish movement; and in April, 1796, they went to
Prance to negotiate with the French Directory for a French
invasion of Ireland., On their way to the continent they
stayed for a few days in London and met with the Foxites.
Thomas Moore later wrote that Fitzgerald probably told the
Toxites of his intentions.”> Hore gemerally, a recent

73Moore, Lord Edward Fitsgerald, I, 269; Fitzgerald,
op. cit., p. 223.

7‘Tﬂ.llhm Cobbett and Thomas B, Howell,
Cobbett's Complete Collection of State Trials und Eroceed-
%DE Tor Ex% Treason e% other E%s _ﬁﬁ ¥isdeneanours
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Poore, Lord Edvard Pitsgerald, I, 278,
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Irish historien has emphasised Fitzgerald's reckless
indiscretion.’® Tt appears, then, that Charles Fox vas
well avare of United Irish intentions; and although he
certainly had no desire for a French invasion, he now
became more insistent in his pursuit of Irish reform. He
sympathized with some of the United Irish intentions and
appreciated the gravity of the Irish situation more than
most other English statesmen.

Repression was Lord Lieutenant Camden's answer to
the deteriorating state of Irish affairs. The Insurrection
ket of Pebruary, 1796, made it a capital offence to
administer an unlawful oath, a move which was aimed at the
United Irishmen; and the executive was given the power to
proclaim any district as disturbed. In any such area,
local magistrates were given arbitrary povers to search
for arms, and were empowered to send suspected traitors
without trial to serve in the fleet. This was followed
later in the year by the total suspension of Habeas Corpus;
and in September, a yeomanry force was organized to give
secarity to Trish property.”’

Charles Fox's support for more radical and popular
politics was determined by both English and Irish

7itagerald, op. cit., p. 224

778eckett, Making of Modern Treland, p. 258.



d In both he saw individial

liberties, and liberty in generel, repressed by William
Pitt. The of both fully

all of Fox's worst fears. Thus, in the general election
in the summer of 1796, he proclaimed that

A more detestable [Government] never existed
1n British hlnory... this Gvn t hn

royed more human beings in fn
wnu than Louis XIV, and uteemptod the lives of 78
4 bone than Henry the Eighth,

more innocent men af
His election campaign was based on peace with France and
a change of government. These demands were synonymous as
be thought that peace could not be attained whilst Pitt
wes in pover. Simulteneously he urged the people to meet
and protest the ™o Acts, notwithstanding the law.”d Fox
was 1y elected for and the campaign

was again covered by the Irish press although the Freeman's

Journal found his election speeches the "most inflammatory
ve ever heard,"®”

In fact it now seemed that Charles Fox was the
only shelter mot just for English liberties but for Irish
liberties as well., The Irish Whigs persisted in their

G » fesgis of Thosss faxdy (Tondon:
James Rldgauy, 1832). e

"ne 'l‘imea J\me 10, June 11, June 13, June 22,
July 8, August 30,

greenan's Journsl, June 4, 1795.



atteapts at reform, and newspapers frequently compared
Grattan with Fox.”! At a tine vhen Fox's Irish friends
were negotiating for a French invasion, when his own

views had taken a decisive shift in favour of popular,
xtra Irish were

rapidly becoming critical., It is in this context that
one must judge Fox's reaction to the French expedition to
Bantry Bay in December, 1796, followed by his crucial
motion in the House of Commons on the state of Ireland in
Mareh, 1797.

In November, 1796, Fox told the House that there
was a distinet possibility of a French invasion of Ireland,
To forestall its success, the Irish executive should be
instructed to carry through measures which Fitzwillism hed
intended. The Irish government's policies had to be
radically reformed, the Catholics had to be given their
"just rights," thet is, eligibility to sit in parlisment,
and the Irish should be given a "constitution,” not 2
"contemptible monopoly under the name of a mrliamnt."ez
His meaning here included an extensive parliamentary reform
as by comparison with the Irish parliament, Westminster
was "almost perfect.” Thus, after much deliberation,
Charles Fox finally accepted the primary importance of

Elproeman's Journel, October 15, 1796; The Times,
November 7 .

82pgr1, Rist., XXXIT, 1247-1248,
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parliamentary reform. If these changes were implemented,
he continued, and if
Irishmen were treated as they ought to be, an
invasion in Treland would be attended with
the same destruction to the invaders as it
would in England.83
Irish reform, then, was the means to defeat the French,
Equelly important, Fox reaffirmed his claim to
discuss Irish affeirs in Westminster. He now admitted
that he had never accepted the doctrine, prevalent since
1782, that English debates on Irish affairs infringed
Irish autonomy. Moreover, at a time when Ireland might be
invaded, the doctrine was one of "folly and wickadness.“su
The following month a French fleet, with Wolfe
Tone and six thousand troops on board, commanded by Lazare
Hoche, one of the few French military leaders who seriously
contemplated assisting United Irish agitation, sailed into
Bantry Bay. PFortunately for the government, bad weather
and disagreement among the French commanders prevented the
fleet from landing, and it dispersed and returned to
France.
The possibility of an Irish rebellion was now

obvious, with or without French assistance, and the Irish

Sbia,

Bpia., 1250,
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government was convinced that the grestest threat would
come from the north of Ireland. So, early in 1797, the
military ion of Ulster was In March,

General Lake was sent to Belfast with extraordinary powers
and, assisted by the yeomanry and the militia, began a
systematic search for arns.® One of the victiss wes
Arthur O'Connor, who was imprisoned in Janusry for an
address which he had written to the electors of County
kntrin,®
himself "body end soul into the revolution of his country,"
it must not be forgotten that Charles Fox in London had
already publicly ackmowledged his admiration for the Irish

If Wolfe Tone in Paris saw O'Comnor throwing

rebel, probably after O'Connor's support for Grattan's
Catholic Bill in May, 1795.57

A motion concerning the French invasion was brought
before Westminster on March 3rd., 1797. Fox insisted that
the Irish were more dissatisfied now than they had been
before the French had entered Bantry Bay. The solution to
Irish opposition was not military repression but
administrative reform. The government should accept
Catholic and Protestant grievances as they were "resl,

Beckett, leking of Modern Ireland, p. 260.

B preenan's Journal, February &, 1797.

8700ne, op. git., II, 345; Crieg, op. Git., I, 187.
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deep, vell-founded."®® Hovever, be had little more to
say st this time as he vas slresdy errenging, in
consultation with Henry Grattan, a more comprehensive
motion on Irish developments, which he introduced on March
23rd. This motion, an Address to the King to adopt lenient
and healing measures in Ireland, was his most important
initiative in the cause of Irish reform in these years.

On this occasion, Charles Fox boldly told the
House that he was responsible for Irish autonomy which he
bad achieved by repesling the Declaratory Act in 1782.%
This conception of his personal respensibility for the
1782 constitution helps pertially to explain his
continuous Irish participation. However, he now accepted
that the constitution had not worked as the arrengement
bad only increased Irish opposition. Hence it was
Westminster's duty, "and my own duty in particular,” to
ascertain the reasons for the failure. The biggest

of the 1782 was the influence end

power of the Irish executive and the English cabinet, As

examples of this, Pox cited the repercussions of the
Regency crisis, the Irish government's excessive use of
patronage to ensure legislative support and the Catholic

88par1, Hist,, WAKIII, 22.

rpia., 140,



273

relief proposals which had been rejected by the Irish
executive in 1792 but accepted in 1793 because the English
cabinet had insisted on it.go Executive power, then, was
being used arbitrarily and excessively; and this was
directly and fundementally contrary to Fox's Whig
principles.

Pitzwilliam's dismissal, Fox went on, was a clear
demonstration of the weakness of the Irish parliament.

Not only was the Lord Lieut t dismissed, i i

his support in the legislature, but further Catholic relief
would have been accepted by the legislature if he had
remained in Dublin, Under Lord Camden however, who was
opposed to the Catholic claims, the Catholic Bill was
rejected by a large ma;jority.gl In other words, the Irish
parliament, whose autonomy was supposedly established in
1782, was completely dependent on the whims of the Irish
executive. This proved that

the measure of 1782 had been rendered completely

inefficacious ... Ireland had gained nothing but

was placed in s state of degradation beyond any

former period.

The Irish executive was irresponsible.

DOrvig,, 143-184,
Mipia,

Prbid,, 145,



Turning then to the Catholic question, Fox
declared that Irish Catholics should be eligible for both
parliament and the higher offices of state. Other

were until the

were given security for their maintenance by participating
in 21l of the Irish i This lack

of security had been revealed by the workings of the
Catholic franchise, which had been conceded in 1793:

The animosities vhieh tomu-ly subsisted are
anxiously kept up he executive government,
who favour the mmi.nanun to exclude the
Catholics from the corporations so tgut their
privilege is almost entirely evade

Complete Catholic
80 was parliamentary reform. At the moment, Fox claimed,

then, was 3 and

the Irish did not even have a partial representation in
their parlisment. However, he did not elucidate the
details because, as he later pointed out, these should be
formulated in Treland.?*

Now, he declared, the critical stage in the Irish
situation, and the Anglo-Irish relationship, had been
reached. The crisis was comparsble with the American
sgitation in 1774, and the question was plain:

PBrbia., 188,

H1bia., 169-170.
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whether we are to attempt to retuu Inlmd by

force, instead of endeavouring to T by

canceslivns, and to cwneiliata her by tanfen-ins

n her the substantial blessings of a

conutuutian 95
Retention by force he ruled out, particularly because of
the poor state of England's finances and the probability
that in the event of a violent confrontation between
England and Ireland, the Irish would receive French
support. Besides, even if General Lake's measures were
successful and the whole of the north disarmed, it would
still be impossible to keep Ulster down by force for any
length of tine.”® lNoreover, the people of Ulster bad his
full support in their demends for Irish reform. They were
the men who

rescued the country from the tyranny of Charles I

and James y are of that leaven whigh

fermented, hoaded the British constitution.
This comparison was a deliberste glorification of Whig
mythology and reveals Fox's determination during these
critical years of the Anglo-French war to see himself as
the true inheritor of 1688 Whiggism in his fight against

executive power.

P1vid., 149.
%1via,

91mia., 151,
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Charles Fox's solution was to concede to the Irish

opposition's demands:

I would therefore concede; and if I found I had

not conceded enough, I would concede more...

And what shall we lose by it? If Ireland is

governed by conceding to all her ways and

nshu. will she be less useful to Great Britain?

t is she now? Little more than a diversion

for the enemy.
Repression of Irish agitation had already been attempted
but had failed, Now, Fox would have the

whole Irish govemment regulated by Irish

notions and Irish prejudices; and I firmly

believe ..., the more she is under the Irish

g:varnmant, the more she will be bound to

glish interests.99

Thus the change in Fox's political opinions because of
Pitt's English and Irish policies meant that now, in 1797,
his solution to the Irish crisis, and the failure of the
constitution of 1782, was to give the Irish more freedom.
The government's answer to the failure, soon to be revealed,
was the opposite: a legislative union., Although Fox's
exact meaning is unclear, he was certainly prepared to
accept the establishment of an independent Irish

government.

%nia., 153,
Pbid., 154,
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Not surprisingly there was immediate and vigorous
reaction to his speech. All the government's supporters,
led by William Pitt himself, denied Westminster's power
%o interfere in Irish internal affairs.’® Dhis wes
exactly as Fox had anticipated.’®l Yot although the
Address was rejected, B4 votes were given in its favour
which suggests a concerted effort by Fox to get support

for his ideas,10?

He had certainly put a lot of
preparation into his motion and hed used a mumber of
facts and arguments with which Henry Grattan had supplied
1in.1% Indeed, around this time, the Foxites made a
special effort to achieve changes in the Irish
administration. In the House of Lords two days prior to
Pox's motion, the Earl of Moira had moved for a similar

address; ® and the Foxites attempbed to persuade the

10050y 4o Grattan, Aprid 76h., 1797, Gratton,
op. eit., IV, 314-316,

10216 pddress wes rejected, 220-84, Parl. Hist.,
UL, 171

10%56x to Grattan, April 7th., 1797, Grattan,
op. cit., IV, 314-316.

10%0ire's motion was also rejected. The main
argument against it was the same as that which Fox hed
confronted in the Commons: it was an encroachment on Irish
autonony. Parl. Hist., KECIIT, 130-139,
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Prince of Wales to go to Dublin as Tord Lieutenant.'0”

The attempt failed. Leinster, Charlemont and other leading
Irish politicians told the Prince thet he would be able to
do little as Lord Lieutenant while Pitt continued as
First Minister.%® Yet Fox vas involved in the
negotiations, and committed his party to an increased
Irish involvenent. 07
In Ireland, Fox's Address met with the familiar

It the Irish
while the Dublin Whig Club expressed its gratitude,
Canden informed the English govermment of the "michievous

effects" of Fox's speech,'%° The Irish governnent, on the
other hand, was extremely concerned that its conduct might
become the subject of onqniry.mg

Dr, Duigenan, staunch supporter of the government
and the Protestant Ascendancy, took up Fox's speech, as

1050nar1enont M58, TT, 295; Fitzgerald, op. cit.,
PP, 235-246,

1060ns 11 emont; MSS, 302-303.

mnmner, op. git., I, 164,

. cit., IV, 276-277; Canden to
vaiue, ety T 18ehY; 995! Totvesons s, I, 315,

10%zattan, op. cit., IV, 276-277.
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reported in an English newspaper, in the Irish House of
Commons. His accusations were twofold: the report of Fox's
speech was a libel on Irish autonomy in direct contra-
diction to the Renunciation Act, and was an attempt to
encourage Irish opposition and promote an Irish union with
France. 10
Irish autonomy as he had opposed renunciation in 1782-1783
2nd was now trying to destroy Irish independence by

8 y Fox had

tried to excite both Catholics and Presbyterians agsinst
111

He argued that Fox was not responsible for

the government. Ogle, supporting Duigenan, claimed

that Fox's motion was of crucial importance to the Irish
parlisment:

Would not its privileges be lnghed et if ie
qnmly suﬂemd its ity e thus
consequence hnmnr it suited the
tnpor of the Engliuh Puuuent or the purposes
of any particular mberr of it, would not further
ut-rhnnce be pursued or measures. howm
ile to Irish independence, be ado opted.
preuumi.ns on its inglorious spirit of rarhlaranca

J112
Fox's intention was malignant, an attempt to increase Anglo-
Irish conflict merely to satisfy his own ambitions. Ogle
would never allow Irish autonomy to be attacked from any

Opreenan's Journsl, May 4, 1797.
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querter whatsoever,'*3 Henry Grattan, hovever, claimed
that Fox was originally responsible for Irish autonomy and
understood simple repeal as a recognition of this., Then
he contended, as Fox had done, that Westminster had the
right to interfere with the conduct of British ministers,
The Irish Solicitor-General, however, saw Fox in a
"united effort with United Irishmen," and claimed that
extracts from his speech were circulating throughout
Ulster.!™ The "i11-consequences” of Fox's speech in the
north of Ireland were "manifold," and its incitement to
rebellion "but too successful,” The Chief Secretary also
appreciated Fox's dangerous influence: he had provided
"the people with arguments without doors, not tolerable
within," Even so the government would not support the
proposal to have the reported speech committed as libelous
and seditious as it would only exacerbate Ireland's
relationship with England; and so Duigenan's attempt
failea, !t

Never before had Charles Fox aroused such attention,
excitement and animosity in the Dublin parliement; and in

keeping with the deliberate maintenance of his Irish

Wapia,
Whrpia,

Werattan, op. cit., IV, 277
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reputation, he was very perturbed at Duigenan's direct
attempt to make him unpopular. Therefore he asked
Grattan to ascertain if the Irish Whig minority had
supported his actions. This, Fox was careful to stress,
was not for his own personal satisfaction but because
Anglo-Irish Whig cooperation would be the best way of
their getting something done for Irishmen. According to
Fox, the best way of achieving something comstructive was
for the Irish to make public their demands for a change of
government in London nd Dublin, or, feiling that, Pitt's
dismissal, through meetings and petitions. Without a
change of ministry, he told Grattan, "We cannot have peace;
you cannot have reform nor real indcpoul:m.'ns And he
emphasised that if the Poxites were supported by public
expressions of Irish wishes, then perhaps there would be
a chance of achieving Irish reforms. At this critical
stage, Pox told the Irishman, "inactivity is nearly
criainel, 117

Peace with France and a change of government was
Fox's platforn in England. His suggestion was taken up

Ws0x to Grattan, April 7th., 1797, Grattan,
op. ¢it., IV, 314-316.

Worpia,
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across the Irish Sea; and in April there was considerable
agitation for peace and for z change of government.
Active in this movement was the Rev. James Coigly, whom
Fox was to confront at 0'Comnor's trial in the following
ar. 118 Similerly the Duke of leinster told the Lord
Lieutenant on April 26th., that he intended to call a
meeting in County Kildare to petition the King to dismiss
his ministers; and the following week he publicly opposed
the decision to proclaim part of County Kildare as
disturbed.'!? Meenvhile Tord Bivard Pitagerald, now
organizing the United Irish rebellion, was in London with
Charles Pox, with all his movements constantly followed by
the governzent. 120
The Freeman's Journal watched the growing Irish
agitation anxiously:
Is it not incurious to observe how admirably the
Opposition of both countries play in concert in
order to wriggle themselves into power at this
moment? ... The Man of the People harangues the
mob at Westminster, here his agents kick up &
y and nothing will do but parliamentary reform
and regicide peace-the plain Enslish or vhich is,

nothing will do but a certain number of gsg;lemen
and their adherents into power and place..:

1820y, James Goi ; Lite of the Bev. Jeses Golgly.
As Written by Himself (Ma:

“%mgmm, ob. citi., Dp. 236-237.

port1and to George I1T, Hay 3lst., 1797,
Asm.nall, op. eit., II, 584; Fitsgerald, op. cit., D. 241.
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The paper argued that involvement in English party
politics would always be detrimental to Irish interests.
Meanwhile Fox himself addressed Westminster constituemcy
meetings, urged the people to petition the throne and
hoped that the whole country would follow Westminster's
exsmple.’?? ind meetings were held in Dublin, with
petitions for the removal of ministers rapidly followed by
petitions in support of Pitt.lza
The poliey of military repression, applied in

Ulster in March, was now gradually extended to the rest
of the country, much to Fox's despair.’®* By the beginning
of May, he saw the similarity between the government's
Irish policies and the policies adopted towards the
American colonies twenty yeers previously:

L] o oaoverios Resteion sver oo fot 1o

subjects by force of arams.125
Two veeks later he moved for the repeal of the Two Acts.
As one of these prohibited meetings over fifty persons
without the notification of 2 magistrate, he attempted to

1221144, April 8, 1797.
1231044, Apeil 11, 1797.

12%90x to Pitapatrick, May, 1797, Rox Correspond-
ence, III, 270,

125g0use of Commons, Nay 1st., 1797, Parl, Hist.,
XXXIII, 470,
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strengthen his argument by reference to the Irish
Convention Act of 1793, which had prohibited public
meetings. If the Irish had been allowed to meet to
discuss their grievances, Irish dissatisfaction with
British rule would have declined.}® Governsent repression
had caused the critical Irish situation; and he wanted
the government to learn from the mistakes of the past.
When Grey's motion for parliamentary reform was
introduced at the end of May, Fox again asked the
government to learn from the results of its Irish
policies. The refusal of Irish demands for parliamentary
reforn and Catholic ion had led to the

growth of the United Irish movement. The English
situation now was the same as the Irish situation had been
in 1791; and the results would be similar if reform was
denied.1??

Reform, however, was denied; and the Foxites
announced their intention to secede from Westminster
where their opposition vas fruitless.’?® The secession
was not originally Fox's idea, but he agreed to it without

261hiq,, 621,
1271044, , 705-713.

1251‘00:-&, op. gity, . 419,
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much diffioulty.}? Yt Foxite absence from Westminster
was never complete, and Fox himself attended to oppose the
Assessed Texes Bill at the end of the year,)?0 Neither
did the parliamentary secession mark the end of Fox's
direct participation in Irish affairs either in
Westminster or outside. In fact, his greatest victory
was yet to come.

The Irish opposition, meanwhile, were pursuing a
similar path to their English counterparts. In the same
month as Grey's motion for parliamentary reform, Williem
Ponsonby introduced a motion in College Green for Irish
representative refora, This parliamentary move by the
Irish Whigs wes supported by lesding United Irishmen, who
were anxious over the size of the French forces which had
sailed into Bantry Bay in the previous December.
Apprehension had spread that the French had intended to
conquer Ireland, rather than simply assist the United Irish

cause.1?! But the motion vas easily defeated and Gratten

12961 1and, op. git., T Tichaster, o oit.
I, 148-149; Russell, Bp. otb., hx, 112 90 Sl

13%011and, op. cit., I, 91, 97, 101
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and his followers, by Lord Edward Fi »
seceded fron Oollege Green.l32 Foxite influence here was
obvious. By September, the Dublin press was comparing Fox
to Barras, member of the French Directorate, and was eager
to point out that Fox's proposals for peace were directly
contrary to his doctrine of 1787, in the discussions over
the Anglo-French treaty, when he had proclaimed France as
England's natural n-nemy.]'}3
Towards the end of the year a dinner was held in
London in honour of Fox's birthday. During the celebrations,
& toast was given to a United Irishmen named Orr, who had
been captured and put to death by the govez-nmem:.l}4 An
article concerning Foxite sympathy for Orr then appesred
in "The Press," a radical Irish paper set up by Arthur
0'Connor after his release from prison in August,>
Peter Finnerty, the paper's nominal publisheer, vas
convicted of libel, although he was eloquently defended

132y00re, Lord Baward Fitagerald, 1, 295; Fitmpatrick,
o . oib. Do 1}4, Lo oncurry, Personal ﬁeeollectiml

Fe 11te and Tises of Velentine, Tord Clonurry (Dwblin:
Je-es HcGTasEln, TE49), p. 5.

_— 133sreeman's Journal, September 19, November 15,

146 ratban, op. eit., IV, 319.

135, tacDernot, "Arthur 0'Coznor,” Irish
Historical Studies, IV, No. 57 (1966), 48-69,
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by 3.P. Curren to Fox's great admirstion.'’® So Fox's
public sympathy for the United Irish cause continued.

A more serious problem was posed to the authorities
in November, 1797, when the Earl of Moira again brought the
Irish si ion before icularl
the army's misconduct. The government was worried and
feared that specific examples of misconduct were to be made
public, If this happened, ministers were convinced that

their usual defence through refusal to contravene Irish
autonomy by discussing Irish affsirs in Westminster would
be insurficient.’>’ Silence to specific charges could
imply guilt; so the Irish executive sent details of the
army's conduct to the London administration which could be
used in their defence if necessary. However the English
government wes cautious not to say too much about Irish
events as thiz sould set a precedent for Irish debates in
Vestminster.'?® Testifying to his own interest in Irish
affairs, however, Fox advised his followers in the House
of Lords to attend the debate on Moira's motion so that

%rsttan, gp. gite, TV, 319

7pe1nam to , Hovesber 2nd., 1797, and
Gremville to Canden, November 17¢h., 1797, Fortescue HSS,
III, 385, 394-395. —

1380anden to Grenville, November 21st., 1797,
Ibid., 399.
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they could hear an authentic account of Irish developsents, >

Moire's motion was rejected. In Dublin it was
represented as another attack on Irish legislative mxt‘.onom,v.m0
Not surprisingly a similar motion of his in the Irish House
of Tords set with the seme fate in February, 1798.1% m
the interim, hovever, Fox himself had returned to the
House to oppose Pitt's Assessed Taxes Bill; and as with his
remarks of the previous May, he could not let the
opportunity pass without msking references to the
aduninistration of Ireland. This demonstrated how
completely Fox had incorporated Pitt's Irish policy into his
own opposition to the government, Thus in December, he
accused the government of "trampling” on Ireland like "the
most remote colony of conquered nrang‘u,'me whilst in
January, his comments were less polemical. Pitt's Irish
policy had increased United Irish popularity, and this had
been clearly demonstreted in the case of Fitzwilliam's
recall in 1795. Fox's answer to Irish dissstisfaction was

13%0x to Holland, Octobe!‘/ﬂmmber, 1797, and Fox
t;s Holland, November 19th., 1797, Pox Correspondence, III,

1808 e0nan's Journal, November 30, 1797.
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sti11 the same: conciliation.'® Meamuhile, Tox's
birthday was celebrated at the Crown and Anchor tavern in
London with toasts to the "People of Ireland; and may they
be speedily restcred to the blessings of law and
ubam.‘l“ The following month Fox wrote to the
imprisoned reformer Gilbert Wakefield:

S s pt e o

i governors
that we shall be indebted for mtﬂu' position
of ease or liberty may be left us.145

If Charles Fox had any doubts at all about opposing
Pitt during the early years of the French war, they had
been quickly dispelled by Pitt's Irish policy. Pitt's
governments in both countries had pushed Fox to a radical
political position, and he had persistently pursued the
cause of Irish reform not merely to oppose William Pitt but
also because of his concern for the aspirations of the
Irish people. Fox saw Irish liberties repressed through
military means in a manner which Pitt had not dared to use
to the same extent in England. Simultaneously he saw
himself responsible for the Irish constitution and had
comnitted his party to an intense Irish participation in

Wrpia,, 1255-1256.
1¥%ynnua) Register, 1798, Chronicle, p. 6.

580x to Wakefield, February 16th., 1798, Fox
Correspondence, IV, 317-318. ey



1796 and 1797.

Meanwhile at the end of December, 1797, Arthur
0'Connor hed left Ireland and gone to London on his way to
France to arrange another invasion of his native c:t:mﬂ:z.'y.m6
In Iondon, through Sir. Frencis Burdett, he met John Bimns
in Pebruary, 1798, and also, for the first time, the Rev.
Coigly, who had been active in the Irish agitation
engendered by Fox in the previous yoar.lw 0'Connor seems
to have sold his Irish property to Burdett as he needed the
money for the United Irish cause. Equally important, he
also saw Oharles Pox.!*® Tovards the end of Pebrusry,
Binns, Coigly and 0'Connor left London for France but were
arrested at Margate on February 28th. From Margate the
three were 1y to the Tover

in London and then for trisl et Maidstone, for high treasen,
on May 21st, and May 22nd., 1798, The charge was the result
of 2 paper found on Coigly addressed to the French

1%570mn Binns, Recollections of the Life of John
Binng (Pm.mpm L P

Bgé’, . ut., Binns, op. cit., p. B‘t. John
2-1 " in Dublin, "ne w.Tte on in 1794
and ;]oinod the Lnnﬂen Corresponding Society. He also had
United Irish connexions and although he was acquitted at
Maidstone in 1798, he was later arrested again and imprison-
ed until 1801, On his release he went to America and lived
there until his death. D.N.B.

48 0'Connor to R, 0'Connor, February ch., 1798.
State mm, XAVI, 1349-1350; Fox to Fitspatrick, Marci
Sth., 1798, Fox Correspondence, ITI, 277.



291

Directory, which invited a French invasion of England,*?

When Charles Fox heard of 0'Connor's arrest, he
was concerned that the trial would take place at Maidstone
rather then London as the juries in the capital, by
reputation and practice, were more likely to be lenient
and impartial.’®® During March, he kept in touch with
the proceedings of 0'Connor's detention, and when it was
apparent that 0'Connor was to stand trial for high treason,
he immediately turned his attention to the United
Irishmen's defence. He persuaded Henry Grattan to go to
Maidstone to testify on 0'Connor's behalf, and Dr. Dremnan
acceded to a similar mmst.lsl Fox and 0'Connor seem to
bave been the principal movers behind these defence
proceedings.

While these arrangements were underway, however,
Pox's hostility to the government was sharpened by his
dismissal from the Privy Council, At a dinner in honour
of Fox's birthday in January, the Duke of Norfolk had
toasted the sovereignty of the people, and was consequently
dismissed from the Lord of the West Riding of

149tate Trials, XAVI, 1250-1252.

1%0g0x to Fitzpatrick, March 9th., 1798, Fox
Correspondence, III, 277.

Dlorattan, op. cit., IV, 376-379; Dremnan Letters
. s 90 git., IV, s
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Yorkshire. In sympathy with Norfolk, Fox later repeated
the toast at the Whig Club. 52 Pitt hed no imtention of
allowing Fox's declaration to pass unnoticed end at one
stage contemplated sending him to the Tower for the
remainder of the parliamentary session. However, this
action could make Fox into a popular martyr, which the
government wished to avoid; and in the end, on May 9th.,
less than two weeks before the Maidstome trial, Fox was
dismissed from the Privy (!m::aei.l.ls5 As a protest against
this, Gratten and the Irish Whig Club drew up 2 petition
for Fox to present to the King.!>* Then, on May 20th., in
the Freemason's Tavern, Fox "condemned ministers in the
most pointed manmer for the measures adopted in Ireland,
and which measures they certainly intended should soon be
employed in England."’>> The following day, in this bitter
atmosphere with Charles Fox continually publicizing bis

152y
lchester, op. eit., I, 177; Fortescue MSS, IV,
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rejection of Pitt's Irish policy, the trial of 0'Connor,
Binns end Coigly opened at Maidstone.

Many of the prominent Foxite Whigs, led by Fox
himself, were at Maidstone to testify on behalf of
0'Connor's character and political principles: Sheridan,
Grey, Erskine, Taylor, Whitbread, Grattan, Lord Noira, the
Earl of Suffolk, the Duke of Norfolk, Lord John Russell,
the Earl of Thanet, the Earl of Oxford and Lord Lauderdale.
The attendance was impressive, and was no doubt instrumental
in the jury's verdict of not guilty.

Most of those who testified for 0'Connor dated
their acquaintance with him from 1795-1796. They all
adnitted thet they had associated with him in England and
claimed that his beliefs and principles were the same as
their own. Fox's own testimony was one of admiration. He
declared that 0'Connor had "lived very much in terms of
confidence and esteem" with himself and his followers, and
was a "very enlightened man, attached to the principles of
the constitution of this country, upon which the present
family sit upon the throne and to which we owe all our
libertiss."156 This represents another deliberate
glorification of Whig mythology. Simultaneously, Fox
avoved his respect for Tord Edward Fitzgerald, who had

‘been wanted by the Irish government since March as a United

L65tate Trials, XAVII, 41.



Irishman but who, presumably unknown to Fox, had been
captured on May 19th. He then turned his sttention to the
Irish situation. The ground was familiar: the answer to
Irish dissatisfaction was conciliation. He fully approved
of Fitzwilliam's conduct in the early months of 1795.
Catholic i without reforn was
inadequate, as Protestant and Presbyterian grievances over
perlianentary representation vere valid,'”’ Both religious
sects, in fact, Catholics and Protestants, should be united
not separated. So Fox expressed his belief in Irish reform
and his sympathy with a leading United Irishman in a

Meidstone courthouse.

Pox's effort was successful: 0'Connor was found
innocent, although the Rev. Coigly, who received no support
from the Foxites, was found guilty and later executed as a
treitor. After the verdict, however, the Home Secretary
produced a warrant of another charge of treason against
0'Connor, this time from the Irish government; so he was
taken back into custody.'>® This "horrible persecution’
infuriated the Foxites;1>? but their renewed efforts in

1571p44.,, 0142,
181pia., 127,

15%heridan to his Wife, May 23nd., 1798, Price,
op. cit., II, 94-95.
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0'Comnor's defence seea o have been in vein.'%0 Fox
himself wondered "whether Robespierre was worse than the
present state of things with Tegard to O'Comnor,"’®! sti11,
the United Irishman was full of gratitude to the Foxites
who immediately decided to pursue his cause in
Westminster, 62

In the end it was decided to try and establish a
parliamentary enquiry into O'Connor's arrest although
St. John, the sponsor of the motion, was willing to forgo
his attempt if either O'Comnor was given an immediate trial
or if he was permitted to leave the country in which case
the Poxites would secure hin a passage t6 America, 6> The
government, however, ignored these approaches and
successfully defeated the motion for an enguiry in the
House of Commons. Over in Ireland, though, towards the end
of the sumser, 0'Connor and other leading United Irishmen
eventually made 2 bargain with the authorities whereby
their lives and the lives of their fellow prisoners were to

cit., IV, 378-379; Tone, . cit.
II, 497; Dx-ennan z] gs “K&‘ur '1‘798. Drennan ers, p: 275.

16111 chester, op. cit., T, 184
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Secretary of State for Foreign Affeirs in the 1783 coalition
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be spared on condition that they would leave the country
and tell the government the details of the United Irish
conspiracy and its relationship with the Pnnch.]'“

Charles Fox's defence of Arthur 0'Connor was
sincere; but 0'Connor's public edmission of the United
Irish conspiracy caused serious misgivings among some of
Fox's followers, particularly George Tierney and Fox's
nephew, Tord Holland. % Alresdy the opposition hed
suffered heavy criticism for supporting O'Connor at his
trial, and the government eagerly used the United Irishman's
connexions with the Foxites to discredit them,'%® So some
of Fox's associates publicly announced that O'Connor had
deceived them. But Fox himself remained loyasl: questioned
at the Whig Club in December about his feelings for 0'Connor,
he announced that they shared the same principles against
the Trish government. 67

Charles Fox must have known of 0'Connor's

in the Irish and at the 's

Tavern in May, he had rejected all ideas of his support for

16%acDeraott, op. cit., v, 56.
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& French invasion, %

However, he agreed with the twin
Irish demands for parliamentary reform and Catholic
Emancipation snd, by this time, was prepered to accept the
necessity of popular agitation to achieve these ends.
Similarly his concern for O'Connor camnot be dismissed as
iti as the episode could not

bring sbout the downfall of Pitt's government., Fox's

support for O'Connor was genuine enough, and the proceedings
at Maidstone must be seen as a further demonstration of his
commitment to Irish reform and his sympathy with United
Irish aims.

During 0'Connor's trial much more serious events
were taking place in Ireland. In March, most of the
principal United Irish leaders hed been arrested in Dublin,
and at the end of the month, martial law had been
proclaimed over the whole country. However, it was still
determined to go ahead with rebellion; and this was fixed
for May 23rd.

Unfortunately for the United Irishmen, Fitzgerasld,
who was to lead the rebellion, was captured on May 19th.;
80 when the rebellion, which Fox had long predicted, broke
out, it was deprived of many of its outstanding leaders.
Isolated risings were easily suppressed by the authorities
although in Wexford the rebels, led by Father John Murphy,

158y rmus) Register, 1798, Chromicle, p. Al.
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made great headway until their defeat towards the end of
June, In August a French force of about a thousand landed
at Killala; but this was defeated in the following month.
Meanvhile the English government was informed that
"eitizen" John Moore, one of the rebel leaders in Connaught,
was & "very active and personsl friend of Mr, Pox," a fact
which would help the government discredit the Whig leader,9
In September a fleet consisting of Wolfe Tone and three
thousand French troops was intercepted by the British Navy
off the Irish coast. Tone was captured and committed
suicide whilst aweiting triel. The 1798 rebellion hed
failed.,

On June 4th., Lord Edward Fitzgerald died in a
Dublin jail. Fox's acute sorrow over the fact that Pitt's
administration of Ireland had terminated in bloody rebellion
was intensified by the capture and death of his cousin,
Repression had resulted in rebellion and Fox totally
rejected Pitt's Irish policies. Indeed, he was so

with Irish that his opinions were

"neither fit to be spoken in public nor even written in
privete,"'7 Equally importent vas his affectionate

18%yokinghen to Grenville, September 10th., 1798,
Portescue MSS, IV, 305.

2;7%11“«, op. cit., I, 128; Trotter, op. Sit.,
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relationship with Fitzgerald, He had known him for many
years and had worked with him in one of the Westminster
election ca-paigns.l'n Holland House was particulerly
aggrieved:
The general want of common humanity boﬂ: for
disgnstin;?i‘?’?‘ord Edward Fitzgerald i:
Yet before Fitzgerald's death, the Foxites were determined
to defend the United Irish leader at his trial. In
repetition of their defence of O'Connor, they intended to
g0 to Dublin to testify on Fitzgerald's behalf.l7> Perhaps
they might have DD TS were

already sceptical that Irish juries would convict either
0'Connor or Fitzgerald after the Maidstone example; and
Holland, Sheridan, Grey and Richmond were all aware of this
possibility.]” Fox, on the other hend, thought that the
situation was more complex. He was afraid that his

presence in Ireland might be detrimental to Fitzgerald,

y because of hostility to his views on

7go11ana, op. eit., I, 101, 107; Tichester,
op. git., I, 185. -

1%11chester, op. cit., I, 186.
171pia,
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the Irish crisis and Irish independence and his public
respect for Arthur O'Connor. Yet he was prepared to go to
Dublin if the Leinster family thought it could be
beneticial,'?>
The visit was not necessary. Lady Holland found
the circumstances of Fitzgerald's death "disgustingly
cruel";]'76 and Fox wrote
When I hear of the fortitude with which he has
borne his sufferings, I hear no more than what
I expected from him, though from him only could
I have looked for so much.l77
But the government was still not satisfied, and In August a
Bill of Attainder convicted Fitzgerald of high treason and
confiscated his estates. Protests by the Duke of Leinster
and Charles Fox were to no avail, in spite of Fox's
encouragement of Henry Grattan and the Earl of Charlemont
in opposing the Bill in the Irish parliament,l”®
Besides their attempts on behalf of O'Connor and

Fitzgerald, the Foxites resumed their parliamentary

17%itagerald, op. cit., p. 249.
17611chester, op. cit., I, 187.

lI77I<‘ox to Lord Henry Fltzgerald, June 7th., 1798,
Moore, Lord Edward Fitzgerald, II, 1:

178400re, Tord Bavard Fitzgerald, IT, 220, 245;
Fitzgerald, op. cﬁ., TD. 255-255,



opposition during these dramatic weeks. Sheridan
1y moved for a on the state of

Ireland in the Commons on June l4th., and the following day,
Teinster's motion in the Loxds vas sizilerly defested.'’”
From the division list, it seems that Fox was not present
for Sheridan's motion; but it is likely that Leinster's
motion was drawn up with Pox's consultation as the Irishman
was spending many hours at Holland House during this
tine.}®0 Simultaneously the Prince of Wales was eager to
do everything he could to help Ireland and, after
discussions with Fox, thought of introducing a motion in
the House of Lords. Charles Grey, however, feared the
consequences of such a move, one possible result being the
Erince's exclusion from the succession.'®l

However, on June 22nd., Lord Cavendish moved in the
Commons for a change in Irish administration; and on this
occasion Pox was present, Sheridan seems to have been
responsible for Pox's attendance as he had written on June

18th.:

1%%2ar1, Hist., XXXIIT, 1487-1891,
1084 tagerald, op. git., pe 257.
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I was with Fox ... yesterday, and he agreed to

make & last sifort 2 attend the House of

St e :$§§§°§u§‘;:3'.;§"i’€€enm. 162
After Cavendish's plea for Irish reform had been rejected
Charles Pox made his "last effort" and moved for a
prohibition of coercion and torture to extort confessions
in Ireland. This vas Tejected, 204 to 62.1%% Unfortunstely
the debates were not reported as the galleries had been
cleared so that the public would not hear of the various
zethods of coercion which hed been employed.!® Finally
on June 27th., Bessborough's motion in the House of Lords
for a change in Irish administration, and Bedford's
attempt to replace the Irish executive were both easily
ﬂ.o!ntod.mE The details of the new system were not
spelled out, although the broad limits were those of
reform not repression.

The reinvigorated Irish participation by the

Foxite Whigs was viciously and severely criticized in
Dublin. Again the ery of reckless political expediency was
raised:

1825herigen to Edwards, June 18th., 1798, Price,
op. cit., II, %.
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Irelend seems to be the stalking horse from

behind which a British oppesxtivn cunutantly

councils the administration of the day .

perfectly umrmnt to the ill conuquanccs

resulting to us.186
Fox's Irish participation had been going on for a long time
and had "been productive of much evil to the empire in
general, but particularly to this portion of it." The
government of Ireland hed become a matter of contention
in English party politics; so Ireland was a

Kind of politmul ﬂandu'l. on which the

Opposition perty in land take post and

light their Parliamentary campaign.l87
Fox's role in Irish affairs was crucial, His "cabalistical"
demands for parlismentary reform and Catholic Emancipation
had Irish against the H
yet be knew nothing of the state of Irish affairs and the

rebels' atrocities.'®® The situation in 1798 was extremely

dangerous; so however the manoeuvres of the Foxites "might
heretofore have been safe, it is now high time for
gentlemen, if they are not in actual and deliberate
allience with the enemies of the empire, to give over the
desperate game of party 1)<>li':i|:s.'w9 Above all, let

126grenan's Journel, June 30, 1798,
1871p3a.
1881p3q,

189144, July 5, 1798.
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Charles Pox "not concern himself about Ireland"; then, no
Irishman would give him any consideration and he would sink
into political oblivien.}%

The Irish rebellion and the Foxite opposition were
defeated by Pitt's government. Yet Charles Fox's
persistent efforts during these months to have radical
changes implemented in the administration of Ireland,
including parlismentary reform, Catholic Emancipation and
the sbolition of military repression must be emphasised

ide his pertial from and
politicel life. Even if he was tiring of pursuing a
fruitless opposition to William Pitt during the crucible of

the Anglo-French war, he was not prepered to remein inactive
whilst Irish developments rolled to their inexorable crisis.
The result of his commitment to Irish reform was the
emergence of a clear and distinet English political party
with an Irish platform. Since his entrance into the ranks
of the parliamentary opposition in 1774, Charles Fox had
never been confronted with such vicious Irish criticism as
be met with in the summer of 1798, It was not the first
tize that he had polarized Irish opimion; but it was the
most dangerous.

The summit of Charles Fox's Irish participation
had now been reached. He did not attend the debates on

1903,
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Pitt's proposals for legislstive union in 1799 and 1800.
Under the Union, Ireland and England were merged in the
United Kingdom with Irish representation at Westminster.
The constitution of 1782 had failed, and before long the
nineteenth century "Irish Question" had emerged in its
forbidding shape. TYet Charles Fox had managed to
incorporste Irish issues into English party politics snd
one of the last of the traditional 1688 English Whigs had
given the "Irish Question" its modern form.



CHAPTER VIII

CONCLUSION

The cause of the Irish natives in seeking
their just freedoms ... was the very same
with our cause here.

William Walwyn, Leveller, 1649,%

During the closing decades of the eighteenth century
the administration of Ireland was a matter of contention in
English polities. The agreement smong eighteenth century
English ministries over Irish government was broken; and if
any one person was responsible for this, it was Charles Pox.
Fox's politics were characterized by a continual rejection
of the Irish policies of Lord North, Lord Shelburne and,
most important of all, of William Pitt. Through Fox the
administration of Ireland not only became o subject for

altercation during the American war but remained a political

311, op. eit., . 132.



issue until the Act of Union in 1800.

Fox's hostility to the government's Irish policies
whilst in opposition had its corollary whilst he was in
office in 1782 and 1783. In both ministries, notwith-
standing their brevity and his distaste for the routine
work involved in administration, Charles Fox took a crucial
interest in Irish government. He established regular
channels of communication with the Irish executive,
contacted leading Irish patriots and established the
constitution of 1782,

During his many years out of office, Fox
deliberately established connexions with Irish opposition
groups, He made conscious attempts to become the English
spokesman for Irish patriotism and encourage Irish
hostility to the government, His alliance had a profound
effect on political developments in both countries., The
link was forged during the American war and was furthered
by Fox's visits to Ireland in 1777 and 1779. He worked
hard to establish and maintain a good reputation among
leading Irish patriots; and when he was criticized for his
lack of support for Irish free trade demands, he took pains
to explain his position to the Irish opposition leaders.
However, much of the ground he gained in Irelend during the
Americen conflict was lost in 1782 and 1783, & third visit
to the country notwithstanding. The connexion foundered
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on the rock of repeal: Fox emerged as the advocate of simple
repeal which severely tarnished his Irish reputation, as
the renunciation movement swept Ireland. TYet within a
couple of years he had regained much of his credibility by
his ition to the i iti and the
fortuitous possibility of a Regency consolidated his

allisnce with Irish opposition groups. The connexion
menaged to survive the French Revolution and England's
counter-revolutionary war with France, and reached a new
peak in the years immediately prior to the Union. Indeed,
‘the crucial year of 1797 saw him writing to Henry Grattan
to if bis ivities were approved
by the Irish opposition.

So Fox was persistently involved in Irish politics

throughout his parliamentary career. For en eighteenth
century English statesman, this was unique. He continually
made to Irish usually in

but occasionally outside on the hustings and in the Crown
and Anchor tavern. The continuity of his Irish
participation must be emphasised: it is easy to lose
perspective by concentrating on the exciting "crisis"
points in the Anglo-Irish relationship, such as the free

trede agi and the of the

of 1782, the commercial propositions, the Regency dispute
and the Fitzwilliam episode. All these were obviously
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significant; but Pox's Irish activities must not be seen
as a series of reactions to them. Rather should his

be seen as a i process, as Fox
himself saw it, developing all the time not simply in
response to what was happening in Ireland but also in
accordance with his own politics and ideas.

The pages of the Freeman's Journal would seem to

indicate that Charles Fox's influence in Ireland was
highest in 1782-1783, 1785 and 1797-1798. At such times,
the Irish press tended to polarize round him. Yet
although his Irish influence was undoubtedly greater at
some times than at others, there can be no doubt that,
teken overall, he was more influential in Ireland than any
other English politician. Much of this influence was the
product of his speeches in the House of Commons. His

oratorical ability became apperent early in his parliamentary

career, and he persistently excelled in Westminster's
debates, simplifying end articulating complex problems.
His expositions were clear, lucid, rhetorical; and they
were reported in the Irish press. Thus, his criticisms of
the Irish Mutiny Act in 1781 immediately led to a pamphlet
warfare in Dublin; and there can be no doubt that his
Westminster rhetoric against Pitt's commercial arrangement
gave to Irish to the
scheme. In 1797 it was reported that extracts from his
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parliamentary speeches were circulating throughout
rebellious Ulster. Indeed, the influence of his speeches
was demonstrated in the last year of his life, when his
reference to the Union as a "most disgraceful” measure
inmediately led to sgitation in Dublin for its Tepeal.?

Cherles Fox's interest in Irish affairs brought
Irish issues before the English political public in a
poverful way. His high social position and his warm and
open personality, with his parlismentary expositions,
assured him of a great amount of attention both in
parliament and outside; and he was popular in his own
constituency and in the country at large among various
shades of reformers and Dissenters. People listened to
him, whether they agreed with him or not. That it was
Charles Fox who took up Irish issues in England meant that
these issues received public attention. Here a comparison
may be made with Edmund Burke, ILike Fox, Burke's political
career vas i by Irish i and

his willingness to work on the details involved in
achieving a better deal for his native country stands in

2Pebruary 3rd., 1806, Willisn Cobbett, ed.,
Cobbett's Puxmm Debates (London: Eaylis:

A o part T md by Irish issues and Irlsh
nembers'in e Josz followin
the Union see G.D. Sullivan ish Parliamentary

Representation, 1800-1830" (unpublished B, Litt.
dissertation, University of Dublin, 1949).
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marked contrast to the more genersl nature of Fox's
involvement. Yet meither within the Whig party nor among
the public at large was Burke able to command the attention
which Fox could. In fact, in spite of Burke's concern over
Irish developments, it was not through him that the
government of Ireland could become a political issue in
England, This was left to his more popular leader.
In 1784 the Earl of Mornington wrote from Ireland:

I am more convinced every day that not only the

peace of this country but also the peace and

eventually the existence of the empire depend

upon the government of Ireland.
This opinion was echoed by many others. Certainly there was
a possibility of Irish separation from England during the
later stages of the American war and again during the French
war, So Pox's encouragement of Irish opposition to British
rule had dangerous overtones. He was censured in 1779 for
inciting Irish unrest whilst the Protestant Volunteer
movement was increasing; but his most severe criticisms
came from the Irish Protestant Ascendancy in 1797-1798.
Then he was accused of encouraging Irish rebellion. By
this time, Fox was refusing to support the Irish
ascendancy; but it was through the Protestant minority
interest that Britain ruled Ireland. As early as 1789
The Times had declared:

JMornington to Grenville, October 3rd., 1784,
Fortescue MSS, I, 238.
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We should be glad to be informed what must the

fate be of the Protestant interest in Ireland,

if Great Britain withdraws her support from it.

The consequences are inevitable. It must become

é:gg{ige:t;::ago&ery and the dependence of
Fox's rejection of English support for the Irish Protestant
Ascendancy as it was constituted in 1797-1798 implied a
great relaxation of English control over the subject
country.

In fact, his views on the Anglo-Irish relstionship
had been radically transformed. Originally he hed no
intention of acquiescing in a separation of the two
countries and wished to maintain Westminster's right of
external legislation over Ireland. Until the recall of
Tord Lieutenant Fitzwilliam in 1795, there is no indication
that he wanted a change in the 1782 constitutional
relationship. After that, hovever, he urged & greater
degree of Irish autonomy as the 1782 settlement had failed
to work, The Anglo-Irish relationship had to be thought
out afresh; and Pox's solution, though never specified,
included the possibility of complete Irish independence.
He was certainly willing to accept such a situation if he
thought it was necessary; and he totally rejected the

government's solution of legislative union.

“he Tines, February 23, 1789.
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The willingness of an Englishman to accept an
independent Ireland was totally foreign to the world of
the eighteenth century. Equally important, in the
critical situation in 1797, Fox ignored his former advocacy
of the of England's ial rights over
Ireland, which he had been eager to preserve in the 1770's

and 1780's. His views on English commercial hegemony
demonstrated his eighteenth century Whig treditions. He
believed that commercial pursuits were determined by national
self-interest and wished to maintain England's commercial
supremacy through her control of imperial trade and the
Navigation Code. He was not prepared to give the Irish
many concessions within this framework. So he had largely
ignored genuine Irish commercial grievances during the free
trade sgitation of 1778-1779, whilst in 1782 he had tacitly
understood that England was still to maintain legislative
authority over Irish trade. In the following year he
rejected suggestions of protective Irish tariffs, and then
opposed Pitt's generous commercial concessions, declaring
that he had never accepted Irish commercisl demands,
although he their i i But

this distinction was unrealistic: the more autonomous the
Irish became, presumably the more they would wish to have
a commercial policy reflecting their own interests. Thus
it was fortunate for Charles Fox's Irish reputation that the
Anglo-Irish commercial relationship was largely forgotten
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during the 1790's.

Any explanation of Fox's Irish interests has to
include a number of factors. For instance, it is now
fully appreciated that familisl relationships were an
inherent part of century ti vi
and Charles Fox was cousin to the powerful Duke of Leinster

in Ireland, But rather than providing an explanation,
Fox's relationship with the Leinster family gave him a
channel of communication in which he could pursue his Irish
activities. It was through the Duke of Leinster that he
explained his position to the Irish opposition in 17805 and
his correspondence with the Irish peer was a feature of the
campaign against the commercisl propositions. Although
the revolutionary activities of Leinster's brother, Lord
Edward Fitzgerald, must have enhanced Fox's sympathy with
United Irish ideals, to put forward the familial
relationship as an explanation of Fox's Irish interests
remains jejune, Besides, numerous English statesmen had
Irish family networks vhilst they did not all show concern
for Irish developments.

Another way of avoiding analysis and a search for
explanations behind Fox's Irish interests is to dismiss
them as exercises in political expediency. This tendency
is often apparent when exclusive concentration is made on
the "crisis” points of Anglo-Irish relations. Certainly
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Fox was determined to oppose Pitt. Thus Lord Harrowby
wrote after Fox's death that "it was [now] no longer
considered as an unpardonable crime to have been attached
%o Pitt."” Sometimes it is difficult to separate Pox's
Irish participation from 1784 from his determination to
criticize William Pitt; but some attempt must be mede. To
see Fox's alliance with Irish opposition movements simply
in terms of political expediency, merely as a means of
increasing the scope of his attacks on the government, is
not very helpful. It explains neither the continmuity of
Pox's Irish involvement nor the changes in his views on
the Irish situation and the Anglo-Irish relationship.
Irish agitation for Catholic membership of

parlisment continued after the Union, and in 1805, Fox
presented the first Irish Catholic petition to the imperial
parliament, This gave him the greatest pleasure:

I could not be dissuaded from doing the mzbuc

Act which of all others it will give

greatest satisfaction and pride to perton. No

Fitire!ans ever oo Eive B0 30 e Pisssure.t
Undoubtedly his commitment to religious toleration was one
reason for his intense Irish interest. He had indirectly

torical Manuseripts Commission Report

Sis
Menuseripts of Eerl Bathurst (London: H.M.5.00y 1923), p. 54,

7ox to Sheridan, May 1805, Charles Fox KSS, Yele
University Library.
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helped the progress of the Irish Catholic Relief Act of
1778, and when in office, he hsd urged en increase in the
Regium Donum for Dissenters. In 1792 he had supported
Irish Catholic agitation for the franchise, and in the

years, he had 1y demanded Irish
Catholic membership of parliament and the removal of the
Dissenter's disabilities. FHis firm commitment to religious
freedon was peculiarly relevant to Anglo-Irish relations,
as England ruled Ireland largely through the maintenance of
religious inequalities and divisions.

Charles Fox also believed that English politicians
could lesrn from the experiences of British rule of
Ireland. Indeed,

The people of this country should look with a

jealous eye upon the political proceedings of

the Ministers in Ireland; that kingdom may be

considered a political labratory, where the

State Chymists try their experiments which,

when of, will be imported into Great

Britsin.
For this reason Fox often cast a wary eye over the Irish
Sea, In his Westminster campaign in 1784, fears were
expressed that the English press was going to be restricted
in the same memner as the Irish press had been. Hore
important, during the French war, Pitt's measures were more

repressive in Ireland than at home; and Fox was very anxious

7rhe Tines, March 30, 1786.
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that the government's Irish policies were to be repeated
in England, with the same results. So in 1797 and 1798 he
continually asked Pitt to learn from the effects of his
Irish policies: the rejection of Irish demands for
parliamentary refora and Catholic Emancipation had resulted
in the dangerous growth of the United Irish movement.
Hence, to avoid 2 similar situation in Englend, reform was
necessary, not repression,

However, crucial to sny understanding of Charles
Pox's Irish participation was his experiences in English
politics. Fox becsme involved in Irish events because of
his Whig principles, his fear of executive power and his
insistence on the strength of perty and the role of the
legislative body in the constitution.

Throughout his life Fox showed 2 marked hostility
towards George III and the influence of the Crown; and his

political was round his
fear of unrestrained executive government., This involved a
commitment to party, whose aim was to achieve power, and a
determination to strengthen the power of the legislative
body. The attempt to restrain and check the power of the
executive was the basis of his Irish involvement. By
the constitution of 1782, the Irish executive was not

to the Irish legislature: it was i by the
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English government and accountable to London. Although
Westminster was able to provide some sort of scrutiny over
the activities of the English cabinet, it was forbidden to
discuss the Irish government's activities. In practice,
then, the Irish executive was not responsible to any
legislative body, 2 situation which was very definitely
demonstrated with the recall of Lord Lieutenant Fitzwilliam.
It is no coincidence that within a couple of years of
Fitzwilliam's deposition, Charles Fox was thinking on the
lines of an independent Ireland. His worst possible fear,
that of 5 pover

bad been brought to fruition in Ireland as a consequence of
the shortcomings of the constitution of 1782.

Fox's awareness of the inadequacy of the
constitutional arrengement of 1782 slowly developed in the
years preceding the break-up of the Whig party. Certainly
the defeat of his India Bill in December, 1783, and the
accession to power of William Pitt without the majority
support of the Commons intensified his fear of royal
influence and mm;tmund executive government; and it was
from this standpoint that he begen to assess the workings
of the Irish machinery of government after 1784. His
hostility to the English government's Irish policies gave
way to direct attacks on the Irish executive. With the
French war, the Irish government's repressive policies and
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the recall of Fitzwilliam by the English cabinet, Fox was
convinced that the 1782 constitution had not worked. His
answer was to make the Irish executive more responsible to
the Irish legislature and the Irish nation in gemeral, which
would obviously weaken England's control over the country.
Many of his Irish activities were based on his Whig
principles. Hence his anxiety over the Volunteers as a
military body putting pressure on the legislature, and his
objections to the Irish Mutiny Act which gave the Crown
power to maintain permanently a standing army. In 1785 he
opposed Pitt's proposition which allowed for a contribution
from the Irish revenue to the British government without
annual supervision by the Irish legislature; and
immediately before the outbreak of war with France, he
criticized Lord Edward Fitzgerald's dismissal from the
army, insisting that the executive power could not arbitrar-

ily dismiss its military Fox often i

Irish demands for reform in a Whig context. During the
American war, he saw the Irish patriots as Whigs; and
rightly or vrongly, he viewed the radical reformers in
rebellious Ulster as Whigs, and United Irishman Arthur
0'Connor, he claimed, was a Whig in the 1688 mould.

Finally, during his short spells in office, the constructive
side of his Irish policy was reflected in his demand for
Whig reforms such as the prevention of government revenue

officers from voting in electionms.
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Pitt's denial of Westminster's power to interfere
in Irish affairs was the means of maintaining the
irresponsibility of the Irish executive. One remedy,
perhaps the only remedy, was to increase the importance of
party in the English and Irish constitutions; and in
England, Charles Fox was the most important originator of
the Whig party of the century. His

to party, together with his Irish interests, had two
essential results. First of sll, he was largely respomsible
for bringing party into Irish polities. During the American
conflict he identified his beliefs with those of the Irish
patriots in bonds of common sympathy and mutual

aspirations; and at least ideologically he attempted to
create an Irish Whig party. Eis efforts materialized after
the Regency dispute in 1789, when the numerous dismissals
from the Irish government polsrized Irish polities.
Secondly, and for nineteenth century politics this was of

Fox the of

Irish developments into English party politics. By 1793

be stood as the undisputed leader of en opposition party
which wes persistently involved in Irish developments. The
Foxites hed an Irish platform and an alternative Irish
policy to the government's. In sum, Charles Fox engendered
an Irish Foxite party in College Green and an English party
with an Irish platform in Westminster. ¥ith the Union, of
course, the two converged; but before this time, Ireland
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hed already become an issue in English party politics.

In fact, Pox's struggle against unchecked executive
power meant that his politics were incressingly conceived
in terms of principle and party. This was a novel
phenomenon, and his beliefs and principles were incompre-
hensible to many English politicians. Not surprisingly,
it often proved difficult for Fox to get his prinmcipled
politics understood across the Irish Sea. The Earl of

proud of his was confused by
Fox's activities in 1782 whilst few Irishmen were able to

the Fox-Forth i . As Richard Sheridan
wrote to his brother after the coalition's defeat:

you are all so void of prineiple in Ireland
that you cennot enter into our situation.8

In a similar vein, Fox's hostility to the French war could
not be fully appreciated by numerous Irish Whigs. The
difficulties involved in getting his exsct political
position understood in Dublin was one of the problems which
Fox had to face in trying to meintain his Irish reputation.
But if the establishment of en organized opposition party
during and after the American war was "ome of the most
intriguing end yet elusive phenomens in English political
history,”? it must not be forgotten that through Charles

BRichud Sheridan to Charles Sheridan, February,
1784, Price, op. cit., I, 158.

inter, op. cit., p. xliv.
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Pox, the administration of Ireland beceame an inherent part
of English party politics.

A1l the time Fox's experience in English politics
affected his Irish activities and his views on the Anglo-
Irish relationship. By the time of the patriot agitation
of 1782, and the creation of a new Irish constitution, the
participation of the people in determining the sort of
government they wished to live rnder had already entered
his political creed through his support for the rebellious
American colonies, His dismissal from the government in
1783 through royal influence sharpened his determination to
establish the accountability of executive pover. Then,
from 1793, bis changing role in English politics influenced
his commitment to Irish reform as the disintegration of the
English Whig party enabled him to emphasise matters of
principle and idesls without paying court to Whig unity.
Within a few years he was demanding parlismentary reform in
England and Ireland, prior to a restoration of the influence
of the legislature., This was a reversal of his beliefs
since 1784, Both Pitt's measures at home and in Ireland
had convinced Fox of the danger of the government and
propelled him to a more extreme political stance. In both

Fox saw Pitt's

liberties and liberty in general; and his total rejection
of this sort of solution meant that he became the shelter
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not only of English liberties but of Irish liberties as well.
Fox's support for Irish reform movements and his

connexion with leading United Irishmen was part of a new

feature of Anglo-Irish politics during the struggles with

France. English and Irish reformers and revolutionaries

were cooperating in these years, to a degree that has

sti11 o be revealed.’’ Irish end English reformers had

begun their chain of cooperation which was to have a long

history; and Fox's defence of Arthur O'Comnor in 2

Maidstone courthouse stands as a symbol of this. From a

connexion between the respective parlismentary oppositions

during the i on of 1782, the ni century was
to witness an equally powerful alliance played out in
unconstitutional channels confined within the dark walls
of less respectable politics. Irishmen were to have a
profound influence on the nineteenth century English labour
movement.

By the 's Irish policies, and

by bringing the Irish issue into the mainstream of English
party politics, Charles Fox stands as the important link
in the changing nature of England's "Irish Question" in the
closing decades of the eighteenth century., Indeed, his

Irish involvement was one of his few legacies to future

OA.H. Smith, "Irish Rebels and English Radicals,

!
1798-1820," Past and Present, No. 7 (1955), 78-85.
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Whig ond Liberal parties. Many of his other ideas and
activities quickly became outdated in an England transformed
by industrialization., His defence of the Navigation Code
soon became anachronistic in the world of laissez-faire
economics. Similarly, many English reformers were to lose
all faith in him in the years after his death as he had
little to offer radical combatants of the government., It
proved very difficult to establish how democratic a govern-
ment Fox had wanted; and his 1688 politics were of little
value in the face of English working class consciousness.
However, Charles Fox's Irish activities pointed to
the future rather than his glorified Whig past. Daniel
0'Connell tried to induce England to relax her grip on the
government of Ireland by constitutional agitation, fighting
Irish grievances in the English parliament, He failed; but
Charles Stewart Parnell almost succeeded. The method

remained a istic feature of ni century
English and Irish politics until the emergence of the Irish
Free State; and it was begun by Charles Fox. Besides this,
Fox engendered an English party with a2 policy of Irish
reform. Here lies the beginning of the Irish policies of
successive Whig and Liberal parties, and the origin of the
nineteenth century idea that it was the Whigs and Liberals
who were friendly to Ireland.
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